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Introductory Notes

This is Volume I of a two-volume set containing writings by J. (Joseph) Warren
Harkness. His daughter Georgia Harkness contributed by adding insights. J. Warren
Harkness was bom and lived throughout his life at the Harkness Homestead, situated on
the south side of the Hallock Hill Road, in the Township of Ausable, New York. Not
more than a mile to the west of his homes is the hamlet of Harkness, named after one of
his ancestors. It was more than a half-century ago that J. Warren Harkness had left us,
but his writings provide a remarkable window into the past life of folds residing in
southern Clinton County and northern Essex County a century ago.

" Mr, Harkness not only told of events of the past, but noted hundreds of specific
names and detailed descriptions of buildings, places, etc., thus providing original sources
for future researchers to grasp. A practice common & century ago, but nearly nonexistent
now is that of moving buildings from one location to another. Several structures
specifically identified still exist, and one wonders how they could possibly be
transported. : .

Throughout this book there are typing errors and omissions. On occasion errors
have purposely been disregarded, as the editor attempted to maintain original wording,
spelling and phraseology. A fact of which most historians are aware is that the language
usage continuously changes, and what was once common may now seem rather quaint, or
peculiar. 1ask you to “enjoy” these differences and imagine yourself living in by-gone
times. Certain names of people or places vary in their spelling. Please accept all the
above with good humor. Should anyone note errors in data please contact the editor,
providing corrections and proof where possible,

Specific thanks are due for those who aided in preparing this book for its second
printing. In 1975, 350 copies were sold. The present or second printing contains 500
copies. My wife of over 38 years, Ann (Talbot) Sunderland, scanned the book into our
computer, retyped many of the pages, did proof reading and editing, traveled to
McMasterville, Quebec, where we worked with the printer and, generally, gave aid and
support. Also, Peru Town Historian, Ronald Allen, and his wife, Carol, assisted. Mary
Clackler provided computer support. All expenses involved in the second printing were
assumed by Ann and me.

THE COVER

Once located on the site between Pleasant Street and Elm Street in the hamlet of
Peru, the “Old” Peru High School was bounded on the east by Lewis Street, Various
folks have told me they attended this school; some as early as 5™ grade. When the
“New” Central School opened, a couple years before the United States engaged in World
War I, the wooden building was closed. Many senior citizens of Peru recall having
classes within this school now lost except to memory.






In heeping with the spinit of the Bicentennial Celebtation
of the founding of our countrny, the citizens of Peru are
becoming very interested in our beginings and developement,
We are makin available this Ind edition of the writings of
J, Wannen Hankness so that anyone intenested may nead aboul

our fonegathens, :

Grace Annold, Eleanon Spaulding and Cona Stagfond are
awesponsible fon printing the {inst edition some yeard ago.
1 thank thase people for their diligent effonts in this re- -
snd,  They have given me pewmissdion fo, and supported my
fonts in getting the second edition printed.

. The Peru Bicentennial Committee consists of Joseph
Aexanden (Chainman), Paul Allen, Manjoiie Angevine, Rudy
BLixt, William Finney, Hanold Liehenthal, ALbert Hason,

 dne Meteald, Lincoln Sunderland, and Lynn Wilke, The town

0f Peru padd for the materials used to print the book, and
any monetanz profits will be used for other profects relat-
ing to the bicentennial celebration,

Typing studentt ai the Peru High School have generously
given of Lthedir time and sR{LLS by typdng the mimeo stencils
and printing the pages. These people axe:

Debbie Babbie Lueinda Rock
Gina Casaleno . Loxngine Rosado
William Casten _ Shintey Rosado
ELizabeth Dashnaw Debbie Smith
Debbie Davison . Alan Solathy
Martha Hicks } Catherine Swager
Lynne Libenty o Cindy Taylon
Karin Luro ‘ Pamela White

-~ Tish Pritchett Carla Vandoh

As coondinaton of this project 1 thank everyone concerned

with this printing.

fihﬁotn Sundealand



June 1, 1966.

To All Readers,

It was Quite by accident that this historical project came about,
in 1963. -

It had been thought that most of Mr, J, Warren Harkness' writings
were lost. It was lamented by many of us who are interested in local
history, x : T

The first copies that were found came from the attic of the home .
of Miss Bertha Anson, who lived on the corner of the State Road And
the Arthur Road for about eighty-five years, Later more stories were
found in a scrapbook in the Clinton County Historical Society rooms in
Plattsburgh, At this time we had some twenty-four storiss, ,

As Mr, Harkness had told in his writings of the location of old
roads where our forefathers and their neighbors lived, it was decided
to bring ﬁgem up to date. This year 1966, as more stories had been
found, it was decided to extend the project.

Our sburces of stoties have been vatiéd., Miss Georgia Harkness
sent us some, .others came from scrapbooks. We had the map of Clinton
County dated 1856 and the Atlas dated 1869, The assessment rolls
copied by Mr, Harkness in 1923 and the description of the roads were
very helpful sources of information, That book into which he copied
these records in the Clinton County Clerk's 0ffice, is now in' the pos-
session of the Clinton County Historical Society.

Much credit is due to the late Mildred Gordon Keese for her help
with personal knowledge, maps and stories, Many other people aided
with a story here and there, -

Mr, Harkness did not claim that his writings were absolutely cor-
rect, neither do we, As it will be noted, in many cases we are only
150 to 175 years too late,

Add to these stories your own personal knowledge, and correct any
gtatements with which you do not agree, But on the whole, it is hoped
that you will enjoy reading the results of our efforss,

Respectfully submitted, -

Bl sty

/,/;":‘?,4"4 (‘; .&L’ﬂz,



J. WARREN HARKNESS

It seems fitting and proper that a short biography of Mr. Harkness"
be included in these volumes,

To him we are indebted for much of the history -of the Cld Town of
‘Peru, the Quaker Union and the families who lived within its boundaries.

Mr. Harkness was born in the Town of AuSable on September 25, 1848
at the Harkness Homestead and lived there until his death on April 1,
1937, DBlessed with remarkable vitality, he had not been ill during his
entire adult life until a few weeks before his death,

He married Lillie Merrill August 28, 1878; she died in 1929, They
had two sons and a daughter; Charles lived on the homestead all his
life, Bverett lived in Palmerton, Pa. and Dr. Georgia who is a famous
teacher of theology, author of many books on religious subjects, also
an ordained minister. An older daughter, Hattie, died at 17 years of
a{’;e 4 :

¥r. Harkness was active in a large number of enterprises. He was
a faithful member of the Harkness Methodist Church and taught the Adult
Bible Class for more than sixty consecutive years. He was intsrested
in every type of educational pursuit. He attended Keeseville Academy
in the 1860's, studying by tallow candles, and continued studying under
changing conditions all his life, He graduated from Oswego Normal
School in 1869 and taught in a good many rural schools. But thg degth
of his father, Nehemish Harkness in 1870, made him feel the obligation
to stay on the home farm and to this he geve his life, Throughout his
life he read widely and remembered what he read. He probably knew more
of locel history than any other citizen of Clinton or Bssex County, end
fortunately much of this wisdon has been preserved in the newspaper
clippings of the fifty or more articles whick he had published in the -
local newspapers. :

He was for many years & land surveyor, and knew tpe old ?oads and
line fences as no one else did. Many people went to him for informa=~
tion on these things. ‘

Mr. Harkness was the chief instigator in the founding of Peru
Grange, of which he was the first master, He later promoted the foupd-
ing of the Clinton County Pomona Grange in November 1902, and the Clin-
ton eud Essex County Patron's Fire Relief Association. For a time he
was secretary of the latter. He was also active in the establishing of
the Champlain Valley Telephone Company and a director for many years.
We are also indebted to him for our first Rural Free Delivery of mail.
The Post Office was in Harkness and served the Togn of AuSable. (Jemes
Felio was the first mail carrier, driving a horse and buggy.)

He also had a part in the sstablishment-of the State Normal Schaol .and
tbelCity Liprary in Plattsburgh, In.f892 he secured for his community.




J. Warren Harlmess

:a-travelligg Library from Albany; the second person in the State
£0> apply for ome. '

In the proceedings of the fenth armual meeting of the Clinton
County Teachers Association, held in Keeseville, Dec, 29-31, 1875,
there is & notation which reasds: J, W, Harkness read a paper upon,
"The State of Education in Clinton Co.' The records indicate that
this led to a movement to secure "a Normal and Training School in
or near the County of Clinton,' ‘though the effort was.not finally
sueasesaful until 14 years later.

These are but a few of the public services in which he had a part,
In 1890 he was president of the Clinton County Farmers' League, resign,
this office with dignity to avoid implicating the organization in
partisonship when he was nominated for Member of Assembly, BHe was not
elected to the Legislature, but more important than this, his action
led the politicians and cendidates of both parties in the County
to sign an egreement that there should be no bribery at the polls.

1966 .

Mr Harkness' paper advocated more training for teachers and the
suggestion was met with a great deal of opposition by the teachers
of . that time, They thought "they had enough education.™



TR QUAKER MEETING HOUSES AND BURYING GROUND

-Te history of the Peru Friends, commonly callsd Quakers, began asbout the year
1788 when Williem Keese, & Quaker land surveyor, from Duchess County, wes employed
by Ziphaniah Platt to survey the 12,000 acre location. While doing so he discovered
that a trect of very level land lay just north in what is now celled "The Great Lo~
cation", One of Plattjs surveyors, Capt, Edwerd Everett, had already settled with
his family on one of those lots and Keese memclved to do likewise, So in the month
of Merch, 1789, William Keese came on the ioe from Whitehall to Peru Landing, as it
was oalled léter, with his axe, gun end msome provisions and built e log house on the
land which is known as the Will:.am Keese Farm, now the Davern Farm,

In 1791 his brother Richard also came and settled on lot no, 22, whioh Joined
Bdward Bverett's farm and lay on the west side of Rogers Road, About the same time
their father, John Keese III, and theit brothers John, Stephen and Oliver, came to
live in the new township of Peru and settled on the farms known later as. Joseph
Lapham's (now Kermit Irwin's), William Severance's (now Avery Stafford' ) and Bolo~
aon Clark I (now The Northern Orchard),

Other Quakers, mostly from Duchess County, ¥, Y,, Ferrisburgh, Vt, and Berk.
ghire County, Mass, gathered around the nucleus formed by the Everett and Keese fame
ilies and it was not long before there was a sufficient number to organize & "moets.
ing" of respectable size,

The meeting for worshlip in the SBoclety of Friends at this time were all of the
“unprogrammed" type, Friends met at an appointed time and sat in Teverent and exe
pectant silence until someone was moved by the Spirit to bring a message, According
to the free vocal ministry of Friends, anyone was privileged to spesk except on
occasion of Monthly Meetings, when recognition of an individual's spesial gift :for
the ministry mede him & Recorded Minister, Recorded Ministers were unselaried lay=-
-meny end while many of them traveled estensively in the ministry they continued ..
their regular cocupetions es & means of support. When a minister wished to visit
other meetings he laid this concern before his Monthly Meeting, and if the Meeting
approved he was given & "minure of travel", This would be epdorsed by the Meetings
he visited and returned by him to his own Monthly Meeting, 'The travels of Quaker
ninigters were a means of strengthening the ties between widely scattered groups of
Friends, and of bringing new members into the Society.-

Among the R corded Ministers of the Ferrisburg Quarterly Meeting were Jossph
* Hoag (brother of David Hoag of Hallock Hill) and Huldah is wife and four of their
children, The Hoag family came from Duchess County, N,Y. in 1789 or 1790 and set~
"$led in Charlotte near Monkton, Vi, The Journal of Joseph Boag records extensive
travel amont the settlements of Friends in the United States and Canada, In 1803
Joseph Hoag 1s said to have had & vision which was deemed worthy of publication in
newspapers including New York City papers, and in pamphlets and Quaker wntmgs. In
{hip vidioh o pav the division of churches, the problems that developed in the po-
1litecal field, end in slavery; he prophesied the Civil War, the dividing spirit in.
the Society of Friends and civil rights movements. Whether these ideas were of Dive
ine origin or just the workings of his own mind regarding the condition of affairs
he had seen and learned about in his ministry of travel into the noxth~central and -
gouthern states, your guess is as good &s mine,

However, hls wife Hulda held the first Friends Meeting to be appointed on the
vest side of .Lak . Champlain at the "Peru Union", After arriving at the Lake sbout ..
nine miles from her home, with an infent in her arms, she, with & man and woman in
compeny, set out in a small boat, In a short time they were overtaken by a storm of
of wind end rain, They succeeded in landing on en igland kmown as one of the Four
Brothers Islands. The next morning they prooseded on thelr journey ascross the Leke
heving about ten miles to go by water and five by land, This last distance they
covered on foot, arriving at the Union in Perw Just in time to hold the meeting
vhich had been previcusly appointed., Not long affer this visit a Friends Meeting
wag set in that place, and subsequently & Monthly Meeting which was still continued



THE QUAKER MEETING HOUSES AND BURYING GROUND

in 1850 when the History of Barly Queker Mectings in Vermont was recorded, from -
which the ahove paragraph is copied, This is belleved to be the first religious
meeting held in the Town of Peru.

The first meeting house was built entirely of split logs, floor, sides, roof

- and benches, It.1s said not & single nail was used, the plecés being all fitted
together by hard, The cxact date of its erection is not known, however, it was
stending in 1799 end may have been as early as 1795, Before that, meetings were
held in various barns, This meeting house stood at the corner opposite the Beadles-
ton Farm, now Ray Trombly's. It was used both as a meeting house on 1st and 5th
days of the week and as a school ag well, Benjamin Earl was the teacher for some
time. He lived in the house on the corner of State Road and Bear Swamp Road which
was demclished in 1964 & resteurant, This building was a.lso onde used as a tavern
and was one of the oldest buildings in Peru.

The first meeting house burned and another ome llke it was built on the same
gpot, it was also used as & school which was teught by Benjamin Sherman who settled
here from Rhode Island,

During the year 1802 a large frame building was erected not far from the
center ofithe front part of the three~acre plot fopmerly purchased from Henry Green
for this purpose and for a burying ground; the committee chosen by the Quakers to
make the purchase was composed of William Keese, Peter Hallock and Benjamin S8herman.
This was an Orthodox Quaker Church until a division came in the Society caused by
the preachings of Blies Kicks of Long Island, About the year 1828 this feeling be=
came 80 strong that the Orthodcx Friends built a separate meeting house of greater
dimensions than the former, dirasctly south of the first one then occupied by the
followers of Hicks. For peveral years the meetings were kept up with good atten~ -
dance at each meeting house, on the lst and 5th days of each week. The first Mon~
thly Keeting was on the Ath of 7 mo. in 1799, For the Yuarterly Meetings the So--
cleties of Peru and Grand Isle met together, The records ghow that Peru had 171 Or-
thodox and 84 Hickcite membezs. )

The two churches have long since been removed from in front of the burying
ground, The first cne built was sold in 1875 to Henry Arnold and removed to his
farm (Worth Bend Farm north-west of Paru in the Clark Neighborhood), This farw-is-
now owned by Forrence Orcharda, and the church building used for many yeara'as a -
horse~barn wae destroyed by fize, The original lock and key of this meeting house
is treasured by Redrey North of Feru as ave some of the pews, The second meating
house bullt was eold alout 1300 to James T. Felio and moved across the Rogsrs Road
to the northwest c¢f the cormer, the site of the Delord House which had been de=
stroyed by fire, That property was later sold to Lester Bombard who lived there for
37 years, and recently to Robert Rulfs,

The minutes of the Peru meetings are contained in several large volumes and
vere formerly kept by Elihu H, Hoag, In 1906 these books were sent by his daughter,
Mrs. Horatlo E, Baker, to Johm Cox Jr., 226 East 16th St,, New York City where they
were darefully preserved in a vault. Any member of the Society of Friends could ex-
omine these records by applying to Mr, Cox at 156 Fifth Ave., New York. Others were
charged one dollar for a search by the custodian., These minutes, I assume, are of
the Orthodox Church and those sent later on by others are of the Hicksite Church,

" The Monthly Meetings were assessed according to membership by the Yearly Meet- ~
ings for funds to promote the work of the Society, The following is a copy of @ -
receipt for such payments: '

$29.00 ' Charlotte, Vt., 5th da 7 mo 1867
Rec'd of Platt Arthur twenty-nine dollars, it being Peru Monthly Meeting's portion
of money called for by New York Yearly Meeting in 1866,

J. M. Dean
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Attending Yearly Meeting was a real event in the life of the Friends and no ine
convenience or hardship was great enough to deter one when once they had been chosen
to represent their Monthly Meeting, even though it meant traveling many miles by
horse and buggy to where the Yearly Meeting was to bs held, sometimes as near as
near as Glens Falls, but usually in the vicinity of New York City. However, there
alvays seemed to be plenty of time in those days and many good visits were enfoyed
on the way, To say the least, the Friends were friendly people in every semse of
the word, It wae no# uncommon to spend three or four weeks on such a journey, Re-
cords end old cowmunications tell of mamy who were preachers in the Peru Soclety
spending much time in these and other meetings, including Elizabeth Keese Irish, Cym~
thia and Samuel Knowles. Mrs. Isaac Halloeck, Semuel Keese, David Harkness, Elihu
Hoag ané wife.Ruth, .and others. <The atory -has often beep related .to us of the trip
our great-great-grandmother Elizabeth Rarle Hoeg made on horseback from Hallock Kill
to Poughkeepsie, carrying a small child in her arms. The side-saddle which she rode
on was until a few years ago in the attic at the home of her grand-daughter Ruth
Anna Hoag Baker. It was said to be made by hand of course, of very fine leather,
and quite elaborate for a Quaker lady.

This vicinity where the meeting houses stood was and still is knuwn as "The Un-
ion," where a thriving village sprang up with forty of fifty houses, an academy, pest
office, two taverns, two blacksmith shops and at least two stores, very few of which
remain to mark the spot.

The Academy was a large frame building where the boys were taught the three R's
on the first floor and the girls on the second floor, It was sold to John Osborn
and moved to Hallock Hill and occupied by his family for many years, It 1is now the
home of Mr, Harold Perlee, Some of the teachers at the Acedemy were C. Stoddard, H-
ihu Marghall, Samuel Rogsr®, and Phnbe Keese,

There was one wedding at least in the first log meeting house , that of Cyrue
Benedict and Hannah Barker in 1799, The first wedding in the framed meesting house
was completed when Benjemin Smith merried Elizabeth Keese, daughter of Stephen Keesg
in 1803 goon after the building was completed, The last wedding was that of Cynthia -
Hosg Knowles and William Keese in 1861 when she was 64 years of age and he 75, This
wedding certificate I have preserved,

At a Quaker wedding the ceremony was perfomed by the bride and groom before °
the assembled Friends without the aseistance of a minister, The certificate was
signed by sveryone present and by the clerk of the Meeting,

The Friends were quite different from others in plainness of dress and manner
of speaking, The Church was divided by rather a high partition, and the men sat on
one side and the women on the other, They took no chances of distraction glances,
The building was heated by & wood stove or in the early days a potash kettle turned
upside down, Therefore it was not unusual in winter weather to see the worshipers
bringing heated bricks or stones wrapped in heavy woolen cloth to keep their fest
warm during the service, Some might have iron boxes filled with live coals for this
purpose,

The burying ground was at the rear of the lot and was enclosed by a board fence
which fell into great disrepair and finally was replaced by a new iron ome, Accord-
ing to a list compiled by Miss Pauline Reese with the help of Mre, Merritt Keese and
racently typed by Eleanor 4, Spaulding, there are over 200 marked graves and many,
many more that are ummarked, In the early days the Quakers did not believe in erect-
ing monuments, so most of the markers are of field stone with & name or initial cut
into them. For many years a few men who were descentants of these Friends came every
year or two to cut the brush, and tried to keep the place looking respactable, I re~
call some of these men were R, P. Keese, Wm, Averett, Seward Arnold, J. W, Harkness,
H, E, Baker, H, J. Macowber, George and Bion Arnold, G, W, Annis, 0, K, Smith, Nelson
Lapham, Samuel Smith, Job Sherman, the Arthurs, Peter Ricketson and others, After
some years, when these men were no longer equal to the task, the burying ground wes
sadly neglected and became almost a disgrace to the memory of the faithful, staunch
thrift religious people called Quekers who lie buried there,
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This became & disturbing factor in the minds of Eleanor A, Spaulding, Clarence
Arthur, the Keese family and others, so on Oct, 21, 1950 Mrs, Spaulding invited
those Interested in the preservation of the Quaker burying ground to meet at her
home and discuss the subject, At that meeting an organization was formed, a name
chosen, Tha Quaker Union Soeiety, its purpose being to restore the burying ground
and improve the site of the first Church in this ares, also to bring to the meetings
any available facts regerding the early settlers of the community, most of whom were
members of the Quaker Church and whose bodies lie buried here, Those presemt at
this first meeting besides Mrs. Spaulding were Mr, & Mrs, Merritt Keese, Mr. R, Per-
cy Keese, Mrs. Wm, Ladue and her son Mr, Wm, Ladue, Mrs. Ada Thew, Mr, Clarence Ar-
* thur, Mrs, Walter Stafford, Others interested were expected to join later, It was
noted that Mr, R. P. Keese and Mrs, Ada Thew were still members of the Socisty of
Friends, and they were elected president and vice-president respsctively of the new
organization, and Mrs. Walter Stafford secretary and treasurer. The Society eppesled
through the Press to anyone having any information about these early settlers and
Quakers to contact the secretary, .

The following year four meetings were held: at the Keese Homestead, at the El-
kenah Arthur Farm (Clarence Arthurs), at the Cemetery for a work meeting; picnic and
business meeting, and the fourth at Walter Stafford's,

On Aug.5, 1952 the Society met with M¥s, John Laurenatis (nee Diantha Lapham)
at the old Lapham Homestead, a perfect setting for a Quaker Meeting, At 10:30 AM
the day's meeting began with a “quiet time", them Mess Lila Willets, a granddaughter
of Stephen Keese, was moved to speak, readiog from Galatians. This typical Quaker
Meating was a new experience for most of those present, After a bountiful pienic
lunch, partaken of by 43 people who for the most part were direct descendants of the
original group of Friends, a business meeting was held and plans made for a work
meeting on the following faturday, On request Mess Willets spoke, touching on High~
lights of the Yearly Meeting at Silver Bay which she had recently ettended, and of .
the extension work of the Friends at home and abroad,

The next April a meeting was held at Everest Allen's home in Paru. '

In 1958 the Queker Cemstery was completely restored. Much credit is due El~
eanor A, Spaulding the president of the Society for her untiring effort and leader-
ship 1n accomplishing so much, All brush was cut as well as the large old Lombardy
poplars, and the stumps sprayed to prevent new growth, Some of these trees wera
dead, as & disease had hit most of the Lombardy Poplars in the whole area, The dead
trees in the front area where the churches stood were cut, the stumps removed and
the ground graded and seeded, This is kept clear, the grass cut each year and the
old Burying Ground may be seen from all approaches. This land dates back over 160
years, and {s now a place where the descendants of those early settlers may feel
proud to say, "My great-grandparents rest there."

During the 350th Champlain Anniversary in the summer of 1959, plans wers made
to take part in this celebration of historical events. A State varker was secured
through the efforts of Mrs, Spaulding and Mr. Roy Kemnedy, Exec. Dr. of the Inter-
gtate Comm. and of the Celebration, and erected to mark the site of the Meeting Howss
and Burying Ground, Programs were printed which read as follows:
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Dédication of Historic Marker
at
The Quaker Union Cemetery
Peru, New York
August 3, 1959

Quaker Union
1789 ~ Site of Friends
: Meeting House and Cemetery
copy of marker: =~ |First School and Post Office
S In Town of Peru -
On 01d Rogers Road
" 1609 --- 1959

350th Champlain Anniversary

Some 200 people attended the dedication of the historic marker. Dn
feorgia Harkness of Berkeley, Cal., a descendant of & Quaker familyf who
was born at the Harkness Homestead on Hallock Hill, took as her topic
"Our People". Clarence Arthur of Schenectady, N. T., also a descendant
of Quakers gave the "History of The Quaker Union Society. Miss Lila
Reese Willets spoke on "Present Day Friends", The Dedication of the
Marker was made by the Rev, Welter Whitney, District Superintendent of
the Glens Falls District of Troy Conference. L .

The day's program started at one o'clock with e tour of historic
sites, during which 56 points of interest were visited, the tour ending
at the Cemetery for the Dedication. Following the Dedicetion a great
number of those attending visited the Keese Homesteed where many histor-
icel articles of early Union settlers were on display, Refreshments were
served by Mrs. Keese and others in authentic Quaker dress formerly worn
by their ancestors, which created an atmosphere in keeping with the oc-
cagion, .

From 1960 to 1966 meetings have not been held guarterly as first
plenned, but as frequently -as deemed necessary, On March 5, 1966 a very
interesting and well-attended meeting was held at the home of Mrs. Walter
Stafford and Mrs, Maude 0'Connor with Mrs. Eleanor Spaulding, president,.
presiding, She gave a report of the work that tte Society had accom-
plished ‘and presented each person with a list of the marked graves in the

Cemetery, with dates. There was a short program with a few brief speech=
es on local history, pictures etc. followed by the election of officers,
as follows: president, Rolland Meders; vice-president, Eleanor Spauld-
ing; sec. & treas., Cora Stafford. : A

© Plans were made to re-get the fallen headstones at the Cemetery, and
two days have been spent at this task, with more planned,

“ Shortly after this meeting Mr, Maders visited the Friends Records
Headguarters iu New York City, doing some research, and finding that the .
records are kept in extreme gecurity in a recently constructed under-
ground vault, and camnot be removed, He found the custodian and assist-
ant very cooperative in helping him search the records. . )

About 1803 or 1804 the first public Arbor Day in the Peru Township
was observed at the Union, when Samuel Peasley brought on his back some
popler trees which some of the other Friends assembled there helped plant
on the Meeting House Lot, The little trees became the giant Lombardy
Poplars which were landmarks for so many years. We miss the stately old
trees with their branches growing upward like arms uplifted to God, The
trees are gone and 50 are the Quakers who planfed them, but -each has left
us a priceless heritage which need never pass away.

June 1, 1966 " Miss Grace E. Arnold




Supplement to "THE QUAFER MEETING HOUSES AND BURYING GROUND"

Zephanish Platt received the Patent Rights in 1784 to 30 000
acre3,, That constituted the Great Location of 17,983 acres surveyed
by Thorpe and the 12,000 acres, the thtle Locatlon, "be the same more
or lsss,"

At that time many later settlers made "exploring expeditions."
Settlers begon to come in s early ze 1787 and 1788, 4As:.a settler-was
required to repain two years on a tract bcfore-e deed was issucd,
these deeds are dated 1790.

Not all of the early settlers were "birthright" Quakers as were
the Keese family,

"Richard Eeese I, was born in Nine Partners, married Anna Hallock
-in 1784, and came to Peru in 1785 or 86. His father came with him,
John 111, His wife, Elizabeth, we think, is buried in Nine Partners.
Richard Keese and hlB wife Anna Hallock are both buried in the Friends
Burying Ground."

(Note taken from the Keese Genealogy)

When Richard Keese returned s few years later, 1790 or 1791, he
found "only one small clearing in the territory." (Clinton and
Franklin History) his deed is dated Jan, 24, 1792-- "This Indenture
‘made this twenty-fourth dey of January, in the year one thousand seven
hundred and ninety-two between Richard Keese of ILske Chemplain, farmer
and John Taylor of Albany,...." {(Present Merritt Keese farm.)

"Zephanish Platt's location of 12,000 acres, bounded on the north
end south of the first location, On the South line running through
Keeseville Westward., It was surveyed by William and John Keese IV, of
Dutchess Co. in 1788, who also made later subdivisions of the Tract.”
(Clinton and Franklin History) Mr., Harkness writes this story-- "For
their services they received $500, having worked 100 days and that they
could select any site they choose." The farm iz now the Frank and
Amma Davern farm on Davern Road, The deed is as follows: From
Zephaniah Platt to Williem Keese, Yeoman, Feb, 8, 1792, 318 pounds, 17
shillings, 637 acres, Lot 14, northwest cormer of Lot 13, southwest
corner of Lot No, 15, Recorded in the County Clerk's Office Vol, 4,
page 258, Another little story, after coming in the winter, "March
1789, built a log cabin and returned to Dutchess County, merried a wife,
Pamelie Allen in March 1790 and returned a little later to the Town."
(Clinton and Frenklin Higfory--see map dated 1869)

Following the ownership of the old meeting house by James T,- Felio,
was Herbert Arnold. He inturn sold the place to Joseph and Amma Jarvis
Barber, They sold the place in 1929 to Mrs, Barber's sister, -
Marguerite Jarvis and her husband, Kester Bombard who lived there 37
years, It has only recently been sold to Robert H, Rulf,
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or
Cyrus Benedict and Hennah Barker

Nicholas Barker and Clorinde Folger were m‘arried‘ and gettled in
Peru in 1785 where their eldest daughter, Hannah, in 1799 with the
epproval of the Society of Priends, to which the contracting parties
belonged_, merried Cyrus, son of Aaron Benedict and Rlizabeth Knowles -
Benedict who had come to Peru in 1795. |

The merriage was in good degree, orderly accomplished in the log
meeting house after the establishment of the Perd Monthly Meeting, This
first meeting house was built entirely of split logs, benches and all=-

not & neil or board used in the structure,

Such was the firet religious edifice in the County.

" Taken from "Three Centuries in Champlain Valley."

By Mrs. Tuttle

~This story may also be feund in the book containing the "Keese"

gensgology as compiled by Miss Pauline S. Keese in 1900.
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THE UNION FIFTY YEARS AGO
By Courtesy of Miss Cbnro

The following article was written in 1862 while its suthor, Judge
Watson, resided at Fort Covington, N. Y., and was read by his nephew,
Henry W. Brown, at one of the meetings of the Union Mutual Improve-
ment Society. Mr., Brown afterward loaned the originel manuseript to
Thomas Watson, Jr. of Chicago, and in the great fire of 1871, it was
destroyed. Fortunately a copy of it had been made by Mrs. N. G. Axtell
a daughter of the author, and it is still in existence.

Thomas B, Watson wag born in or near Bolton, Mags, in 1811 and
came to live in the Union in 1815, when less than four years cld. His
mother, Mrs. Peace Watson, married James Rogers and the family resided
in the old mansion which was erected by Henry De Lord in 1798 and which
still gtands on the corner opposite the meeting house lot., (This has
since burned down, and the second Quaker Church moved onto the site.)
He chose the law as his profession, wes elected County Judge and Surro-
gate of Clinton County in 1851 and died in Peru, Dec. 9th, 1882. ‘

A11 that part of old Peru comprising ebout a mile square of which
the 0ld Quaker Meeting House is the center, has ever since been known,
gince its first settlement as "the Union." The name was given to this
locality on account of the harmony and friendship which existed among
its settlers, who meny ysars previous to the commencement of the presert
century entered the then wnbroken wilderness, lying west of the central
part of Lake Champlein,

At one ftime, the Union was quite a hemlet. From the old two story
school houge, then standing opposite the present residence of John
Green, down to the corner of the road leading past Ricketson's where
Dr. Ralph P, Allen used to live, the street. was thickly settled.

_ In addition to'man51ons, dwelling houses since burned down or re-
moved there was a large tavern, a store and quite 8 number of mechanlc
shops., .

Here also wes the Post Office, and the street (Rogers Road) lead-
ing north and south was the prineipal thowoughfare for travel on the
west side of the Lake'

During the winter season lumbering was carried on quite exten-
gively. The corner at Battey's (corner of Arthur Street and Union Road
used to be thonged by teams and teamsters while the bar and store were
often crowded with oold and thirsty men.

Town Meetings, Elections, Company Trainings, General Muster, and
Foursh of July celsbrations used to be held there(In the Unlon) in the
patriotic spirit of the olden tinme. .

: Keeseville, Birmingham, and even Peru Village, then known &8 Hack=-
stack's Mills are of much later growth.

Both stories of the old house already alluded to were finished
off into school rooms, This was quite an institution in those days.,
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The Unlon school, from its central location and the superior learning
-and other qualifications of 1ts teacher, was thonged with pupils, many
of them coming several miles every day to enjoy 1ts advantages.

‘Among the most celebrated teachers were Elihu F. Marshall, a lame
man who could not walk without crutches. He was a Quaker, and after
teaching the school several years he emigrated to the West and finally
settled in Rochester, He died in 1840, :

Near the meeting house stood the mansion of Henry Delord, a refu-
gee from France at the time of the first revolution. He was an edu-
cated gentlemen, possessed of considerable property, and cultivated -
taste, ’

Ag the world takes great interest in the pecullar customs which
prevall in respect to marriage, and as among no civilized paople are
those customs more peculiar than those prevailing among the Quakers
prior to the alterations of their discipline on the subject. It may
not be amiss to take a rapid survey of the proceedings and machinery
by which "two willing hearts were Joined in one." In olden time, the
Quakers were allowed to marry only their own numbers. It was belleved
and taught amongst them that they were to be gulded, not by worldly
prudence only, but were to look for divine direction in making a cholce

But among the Quakers, the successful woolng and obtaining consent
of parents was but the beginning of the desired end.

. ‘When the affianced lovers were ready to proceed, they drew up,
- subscrlbed and sent to the Preparative Meeting a paper like the fol-
‘lowing:
. We, Thomas Fox, son of George Fox and Rachel Penn,
daughter of Wm. Penn, propose taking each other in
marriage which we hereby submit for the approbation
of Friends, '
Thomas Fox
" Rachel Penn

This proposal was referred by the preparative meeting to the next
monthly meeting, where, after being read, a joint committee of men
and women, Friends of the pair, was appointed to enquire into the suit-
ebleness of the proposed marriage and whether the parties to 1t were
free from other marriage engagements, and they were required to report
at’ the next meeting. At which time, the young couple appeared arm in
-arm and deslred an answer. The report of the committee was then taken
up and if favorable, they were left at liberty to consumate their
marriage, according to the custom of Friends. .

E . On the next "fifth day" ‘the society including, of course, the
young couple and thelr friends assembled at the Meeting House to wit-
ness the ceremony, The happy pair sat side by side with their espe-
clal friends near them. After an interval of silence broken perhaps

- by exhortations as to the duty of bringing up children "in the nuture

‘and admonition of the Lord" they arose and each taking the other by
the hand, friend Thomas Fox proceeded to say, "In the presence of 'this
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aggembly, I teke this my friend, Rachel Penn to be my wife, promising
through Divine asaistance to be unto her a faithful and affectionate
husband until separated by death." Whereupon Rachel Pemn on her part
gaid, "In the presence of this agsembly, I take this my friend, Thomas .
Fox to be my husband promising through Divine assistance to be unto

him & faithful and affectionate wife until separated by death." But
that was not all. There was then produced a regular martiage contract
drawn up with all the care and formalify of & legel document, which -
‘wag stbscribed to by the bride and groom and numerous witnesses.

~ (ver the site of the 0ld school house, and where the sign posti
.stood, the plow moves smooth and evenly along, herds graze placidly
in the adjoining fields and the busy hum of the hamlet is heard no more.

Judge Watson
1862 '

This article has been condensed, omiting many paragraphs of the des-
cription of the surrounding scenery, There has been taken the names;
of people and places that can be located today. 1966. Copy loaned by
Maurice Turner of Keeseville. : '
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I have been repeatedly asked the questions: What did the Friends
believe? What were their Doctrines? How*did they differ in belief from
other Denominations? It is much sasier to ask such guestions than it is
to answer them., Why? Becnouse some of them believed things which others
did not. 3Because all of them held doctrines which in many points agreed
with other Christian beliefs and at the same time differed in other re-
gpects, so that to enwuerate all the points of agreement ig not an easy
task even if I understand them all, Finally, becawse I do not pretend
to have studied Quaker Theology,.in fact I may as well confess that
though I have owned a book on that subject more than twenty years I have
not yet taken the trouble to read it.

But, of course, having lived in the same neighborhood with Quakers
all wy life, having offen converssd with thew, and having occisionally
attended their meetings, though that was so long ago that I have for-
gotten most that I heard there, I should not be entirely ignorant of _
their belief, and I am as willing to tell the little that I know on that
subject 23 I was to discuss their discipline and peculiarities in a
former paper

The orthodox Quakers have always believed in the great fundapental
principles of Christianity., There is nothing in the Apostle's Creed
which they do not believe as firmly as do Christians of other denonina-
tions. - But I think I can safely say of all Quakers that their principal
distinguishing doctrine is that of the"light of Christ in'man". That
doctrine is founded upon words found: in St., John's gospel. "In hin was
life and the life was the light of men." "That was the true Light which
lighteth every man that cometh into the world." Even of those whom a -
knowledge of Christ had not come it was said: "And the light shineth in
darkmess and the darknese comprehended it not. ‘L

That doctrine of the "internal light" accounts for many of the pe-
culiarities of the Friends. Since they believe that the Holy Spirit,
not formerly, if they do now, consider human learning essential to 2
winister. Fitness for "the minigtry they held to be a free gift of God
and quoting the Saviour's command, "Freely ye have received freely give"
they cleimed that the work ofthe minister should be fresly bestowed
"without money end without price", but he should be 25 freely entertain-
ed, and have all his wants supplied in the spirit of Christian love,
while away from home engaged in the work of the gospel. All religious
obligations they claimed should be voluntary, and performed for love and
not for money. ' : '

They also knew that the "inmer 1ight" could shine as brightly in
women as in men, that is, the spirit of Christ could move one sex as
powerfully as the other, so they cleimed it was perfectly proper for a
woman to accept a call o the work of the mipistry end many of their
nost gifted preachers were vwomen. They objected strongly to the set
form of worship which is common to fiost religious bodues. If their
ninisters had "nsught to say" they could "hold their peace" and were not
expected to either preach or pray mloud in meeting unless they feld so
disposed. It ‘seemed %o them little better than blagphemy for & minister
%0 preach simply because he wag employed and expected to do so, whether
he felt devoutly inclined or nmot. So their prayers and praises were
often silent they prefering to meke melody in their hearts to Got rather
than give "lip service" or praise with the voice., They rejected the or-
dinance of baptism and the Lord's supper, as they are usually observed,
for they believed the Christian Beptism to be & spiritual ome.
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the kind of baptism which they considered necessery. They also seid t

~ thatthe believer is nourished and strengthened by daily communion with
Christ throught the Holy Spirit, and that the true Christian supper is

set forth in the words "Behold I stand at the door and knock, if any men

hear my voice and open the door, I will come in unto hlm, and will sup

with him and he with me.”

. They always protested against war in every form and thought it
wrong to aid or assist an army in any wey, even to ftransport provisions
for its use, The doctrine of non-resistance was so firmly held that &
Queker weuld not kill a robber who was trying to kill him, for as on
grgued, "If the robber kills me I am prepared to die and he may live to
repent and be also saved, or if he does not his case is worse than mine,
but if I kill him he is surely cut off in his sins and I may by the act -
aleso lose my own soul."

They objected strongly to balls, gambling-places, horse-races, and
theatres, as being "nurseries of debauchery and wickedness" and their .
members who attended such "pleces of diversion" were promptly disowned
unless they acknowledged and condemned the offense and promised to-do
better in the future. They objected also tv the reading of novels,
pleys, end other pernicious books and urgently advised every member fo
discourage and suppress such in his family. '

The wearing of mourning, and all exiravegani expense about burying
the dead, were discouraged as being vain and useless, infended only for
outward show, and no evidence or indication of real sorrow for the loss. .

It has been said of the Quakers that they denied that the Bible was
the word of God. If they did so their meaning wes not such es to dis-
parage the Bible in the least. They claimed that Christ was the Word
of God as.plainly shown by the~first verse of S%. John's Gospel. But I
believe that all Quekers considered the Bible to confain the words of
God as written by inspired men, and they consulted it daily, smd fd1lldwed
its teachings es they understood them, recommending that it be read in
all families instead of the "pernicious books" which they so condemned.

Te followers of Fliag Hicks differed in many importent pointe of
doctrine from the orthodox Friends but in stating what they did believe
it is necessary to proceed with caution for some things are imputed to
them which some of them, at least, disclaim, It is said that Hicks de-
nied the doctrine of the atonement of Christ, and also the authenticity
and divine authority of the Holy Scriptures. But if that was frue it
seems hardly rcasonable that at least half of the Priends in Americe and
some of those din England would have become his followers. A% the risk
of giving offense to the orthodox branch of the Society I will ventureto
suggest that he may have been either misrepresented or misunderstood.
Perhaps he may have said as thousands had said befure him, "The Bible
is not the Word of God", meaning, as they did, that Christ is "the Word"
referred to by S5t. John. Perhaps he also denied that

"Jesus paid it all, all the debt I owe,"
simply meaning that we should not cinsider that our debts are all paid,
that we owe nothing to God, or o the world, but are free now to fold
-our hands and walk straight into Heaven. I do not essert that such was
his meaning, I only know that his views were accepted by man and res ~*
jected by others and thus occurred the first great division in the
Quaker Society.
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But that was not the last. Soon a new prophet arose among them,one
named John Joseph Gurney of Norwich,England, He claimed that education
was a good thing for Quaker preachers ag well as other members, that the
strictness of the Friends' discipline wag turning out many memberg of’'’
the society.some of whom were as good as those who remained, in short
that the world moves and that Quakers must move with it or they would
suraly be left beshind.

Half of the Orthodox Priends "be the same more or less" agreed with
Gurney, adopted his views, and henceforth were known as the Gurneyites.
The other half led by John Wilbur strongly dissented from those new idea
ideas, claiming thet all the principles and peculiarities of the society
nust be maintained and if a person differed in his views from the orig-
inal founders of the sect he could not be g Friend. O0f course this
branch hed to have a name to distinguish it from the others and it was
natural that those who thought as Wilbur did should be called Wilburites

Just how many more times the sect was divided I am unable to say
but at leagt one more division occurred, for in 1853 a body of Quakers
calling themselves Progressive Friends seceded from the branch to which
they had belonged, but whether it was from the Hicksite, Gurneyite, or
Wilburite branch I am unable to say. Perhaps this new denomination
drew its members from 21l of the others for it is said fo have embraced
those who advocated the equality of the human family, and recognized that
lives of benevolence and charity were better than mere assertion of
creeds to show their faith in God. They did not insist upon similarity
of theologica opinions, but based their principles upon unity of spirity
and their admiration of the pure and holy. They were not advocates of
discipline or restraint, but opposed all churches alike, considering it
imposture to claim to speak or act by the authority of éo

It is no wonder that a house so divided against itself became much
too weak to stand. It is estimated that the number of Quakers in the
world at present does not exceed 100,000, whereas sixty years ago it was
about 200,000,

Peaceable ag they always were, they still fought valiantly with
tongue and pen against the three great evils: was, intemperance, and
slavery., Throught the influence of public opinion which they did so
mach to help form, slavery has already been ablolished in all civilized
lands, and the nations are fast learning that arbitration is cheaper and
better than var. If now those "scatfered tribes" could all unite again-
st the one giant evil which still remains to curse the human race, per-
haps even that might be at last subdued, and thus might "all the natlons
ofithe earth be blessed,"

J.W. HARENESS

Prom the Grace E. Arnold Scrapbobk -

1966
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It is believed that the first public Arbor Dey exercises of the
Town 0f Peru were performed at the Union eighty. years ago. There is
a tradition that Samuel Peasley, then a young man working for William
Keese, brought the Lombardy Poplars on his back from Keese's farm to the
Meeting House Lot where some of the other Friends assembled to help
plant them. When the work was done and the people were about to dis-
perse, one of them, a respected member of the Meeting, spoke these words:
"Yhen &1% the trees which we have plented here this day will be dead,
the Quakers of Peru will all be dead.” .

To the members of that society, at that time growing stronger by
nev arrivale and admissions that every month, it no doubt but all will
admit, seemed an unreasonable prediction that in a fow years more it
would be literally fulfilled. While there are quite a large number of
birthright members in Peru and AuSable, which were then onc town, those
of them who still comply with the requirements of their discipline can
be counted on the fingers of one hand.

It is eleven years since a Quaker meeting was held in the Union
and the last ones were simply a series of revival meetings conducted by
& Friend from abroad. The regular "first and fifth day meetings" stop-
ped about 20 years ago for want of attendants; the Hicksites' meeting
house built in 1807 waz sold, removed, and converted into a horse-barn,
and the Orthodox house and the shed still remain as.relics of the past,
both rapidly going to dacay., It is my purpose in this artieclc fo men-’
tion some of the causes which have led to the present state of affairs,
and endeavor to show what became of the Quakers who once congtituted a
very important, if not greater part of the population of Old Peru.

The discussion of the first of those causes properly comes under
the head of Quaker Discipline, The Priends were very strict in their
principles and practices and any member who digregarded the rules and
requirements of the Society were sure to be disowned unless he "made
satisfaction to the Neeting". '

- In looking over the first of the Minutes of the Peru NMonthly Meet-
ing it is seen that in less than twenty-two years, sixty-four members
of .the Society were disowned. Tven that number wes enough to make quite
a congregation, but if we multiply it by three we shall see that if this
"turning out' continued at the same rate during the sixty~odd years that
the meetings continued the total number disowned was nearly two hundred.

It is not for me to say that any member wes ever disowned by the
Society without sufficient cause but I will mention some of the more
common offenses and let the reader judge for himself. O0f the sixty-
four digowned in the first twenty-two years, twenty-seven had each "so
far disregarded the wholesome discipline of the Society as to be married
to one not a membor among Friends". Ko one was ever disowned without
being visited by a committee and "laboured with in the hope that he
would meke satisfaction to the Meeting® but some young married people
did not often "appear to be in suitable frame of mind to condemn the
offense and ask to be continued under the care of Friends", so instead
of such & merriage bringing & new member into the Society, it invari-
ably took one away. Eech child born to Quaker parents was & birth-
right member so it is safe to estimate that for every parent disowned
three or four members were lost to the Society.
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One couplc, man and wife, were both disowned for performing their
marriage before a magistrate instead of according to the established
.rules of the Society. One young men was disowned for "eppearing out
of plainness and also attending the marriage of one who went out from
ug", Many others were disowned for "appearing out of plainness and at-
tending places of diversion" and two for attending frainings, one of

whon went "so far as o answer to his name",

.. The Friends were so much opposed to war and all that pertained
thereto, that they would neither train in the militia nor pay the ex-
emption tax which the law required of those who did not train. Two
worthy members of the Society, one of whom afterward became a noted
Hicksite preacher, would have been disowned if they had not aclmowled-
ged and condemned the offense of buying back the sheep which had been
seized by the collector for their "exempt tax", Another had to make
"gatisfaction to the Meeting" because of the offense confessed in the
following:

o ACENOWLEDGEMENT .
"I sometime past made en agreement with Peter Sailly, agent for the
government contractor, fto Transport--snd did transport e small quantity
of wheat and flour, that was public property used for the Army, which
1 condem as being a practice repugnant to the profession of Kriends."
Peru 5 mo, 12th 1813 John H, Keege

Of the other offense for which Friends were disowned, I will only
say that some .of them were of such nature as might be expected to bring
reproach to any religious society which retained them as members, IF
the Quakers were more likely than members of other denominations to
hreak the wholesome rules of the society, it was perhaps owing to the
fact that e very large share of them were only "birth-right membexs",
hed experienced no "change of heart", had made no vows and- therefore
felt that they had none to break. It does not seem strange that such
young people, brought up among those who were not Friends, should fre-
quently be tempted "to appear out of plainness" and sometimes to "at-
tend places of diversion".

The gsecond cause which led to a rediction of the number of Friends
in 01d Peru was the settlement of the new States. During the firgt de-
cade of the Meeting's existence large numbers of families and indiv-
iduals were "received by certificate" from the other meetings to which
they belonged, but after the year 1810 the number of departures greatly
sxceeded the arrivals, Ohio was the first of the Westorn States to be
admitted and settled, Quakers could see as plainly as others the ad-
vantege of "going West and growing up with the country", so the number
of removal certificates directed to "Short Crick Meeting in the State
of Ohio" granted by the Peru Monthly Meeting between 1810 and 1820 was
very large. Thon other western states began to draw population from
the East. Michigan, Iowa, Caligornia, and I know not how many others,
contain to this day flourishing Guaker communities in each of which
are descendants of those who emigrated frmm 0ld Peru. 4 few old fam-
ilies geem to have .taken root ans still remein wherc they woere planted .
at the beginning o? this, or the end of the last century, but the num-
ber is very small in comparison with that of those who have departed,

I think that no one will deny that the division of the Society,
caused by some accepting and others rejecting the doctrines preached
by Eliaes Hicks, did much to weaker it and hesten the decline of Quak-
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ism in 01d Peru. It may be hard, even at this day, o make an orthodox
Priend admit thet it was not a good thing for the Meeting to get rid

of the Hicksites, or to convince a Hicksite that the Society was not
better off without the Orthodox, but whether they acknowledge it or
not it is still a fact that Kentucky's motto, "United we stand, div-
ided we fall", applies to religious societies as well as states.

When the division occurred there were doubtless members to make
two fair sized congregations, but when other causes had reduced the
members 'till there were only half enough for a congregation in each
house, they could have still kept up the meetings for several years if
they had been united.

It is a significent fact that the early settlers named their vill-
age which sprung up eround the meefing house "The Union." They seemed
to realize that union was essential to their prosperity, but disuniocn
came a8 & blight upon the next generation and where once a thriving
villege was, of forty-Tive houses and stores, with en Academy, a post-.
office, hotel and shops, there are now only ferm houses:far apart,’ and
this deserted meeting house and dilapidated shed, monuments which will
doubtless soon be removed or else will decay, and then only the old in
Lomberdy poplars and the well-filled burying ground will remain to show
the passing traveller where the quakers used to meet,

Let us visit the old burying ground which is just back of the
meeting house lot and then we shall see what became of the rest of the
Friends not already accounted £or. As we climb over the dilapidated
stile, or pmss through the gate where so many have been borne to their
last resting places, we are reminded by the number of graves before us
that "it is appointed to all men once to die,"

The head stones here bearing inscriptions have been erected with-
in seventy years, those which have anything more than initials upon
them are less than sixty years old. It was against the principles of
the early Quakers to mark the graves of the dead, so many of them will
be perhaps already have been, forgotten and nothing exists to show
that such people have ever lived or died.

But there are some plain inscriptions end let us seec 1f we cannot
find some interesting ones. FHere is the first, if we begin in the
corner of the yard:

Martha Sherman .
Died 12m 14%h 1839
Aged over 100 years

This Martha was.the wife of Job Sherman who lived in Rhode Ieland
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a hundred years age, and the grandmother of the Job, Pliny, Franklin
and Elwood who are remerbered by the present inhabitants of Peru.
Here ie the grave of ner son:
Benj. Sherman
Died 12m 1839
Aged 75 years

He was the grandfather of the present Job Sherman and for many
years he served the Peru Monthly Meeting in the capacity of Clerk.
When the time for which he was appointed expired, 26 of l2mo 1805, he
wrote at the bottom of his last page this sorrowful guestion: "Is
there a dreg in the cup of bitter affliction, that my poor soul has
not awfully partaken of?"

Elisha Arnold
Died Feb, 22 1851
X Aged 83 ys 24 ids,

This was ong of the wealthiest fatmers of 0ld Peru, Ths man who
was sharp enough to buy the land since known as Arnold Hill, without
letting the former owner know that a valuable bed of iron ore had
been discoverad upon it. When the seller proposed that he would re-
serve all minerals an said lots, this worthy Quaker declined to pur-
chase unless he could have all there was 'from the contar of the ‘
garth up to as high abbve the surface as he could s=e'.

Here is the grave of William Keese who find in 1835 at thz age -
of 73. He was the first Quaker, if I am corractly informad, who set
foot upon the soil of 01@ Pexu., Perhaps I zinuld say one of the firgt
two Quakers: it is smaid that he and his brother Jonn were employed by
Zophenieh Platt to survoy the 12,000 acre location. I am told that he
paid for his farm of 500 acree of the best and levelast and in Clin-
‘ton County by doing 100 days' surveying, Hig bvcther John also came
to live in the Unieon, but met with financial smbarrassmoni, ramoved
to Ohio and died many vears 290,

How we come tc o broad, red sandstone tablet bearing the brief
inscription: : .
A, H,
Aged 99 years

Probably there ars not a half dozen pecple now on earth who know
who this venerable A. K. was, or anything about her history, Porhaps
thera is less than that numbor who cars, and yet her life was long and
useful, if not eventful, and she cught not to be so soon forgotten.

Anna Greon was born in 1763, the same year as was the child who
afterward bocame 'the father of his country'. She was the sister of
Iarael Green who kept the United States Hotel in Plattsburgh during
the early years of the present centry, the house which after the memo-
riale 1lth of Ssptember, 1814, bore thz marks of British bullets for
more than fifty years.

This Anna Green mariied Peter Hallock Jr. and had three scns
named Isaac, Isreal and Peter. 1Isreal, doubtless named fer his uncle
Isweal Green, married Mzry Eliot, a descendant of John Blime nies
apostle of the TnAianch ~nd $= 1700




THE PASSING AWAY OF THE FRIENDS

Guilford, Comn., a boy whom they named Fitz-Oreen., I need not say that
this Fitz-Green Hallock, or Hallock, for he changed the spelling of his
name, became a famous poet for his "Marco Bozzaris" has been known to
almost every school boy for over sixty years,

Anna Green Hallock, grandmother of the poet, came to 0ld Peru to
live with her son Peter in 1806, and there passed her remeining years,
26 in number, for she died in 1832 at the age of 100, Her grandson,

. the Hon. George Hollock, who died but a few weeks ago, told me that he
marked the stone which stande at the head of her grave giving her age
as. 99 by misteke, When it was noticed it was agreed that it would make
little difference and so the stone remains as he marked it to this day,
But I must not stop by each grave to tell such a long story for there

are 100 many here,

In this yard are the graves of the old Revolutionary Captain,
Edward Everett, and his wife and four sons who were the first settlers
of AuSable, and who built their log dwelling a half mile south of this
spot in 1786, Here also lie the mortal remains of Gilbert and Garrett
Thew and their wives, who were the firet settlers of Hallock Hill,
locating there in 1789. Hers, too, is the grave of Stephen Keese, the
brother of William the surveyor and father of Samuel the Hicksite, and
of John H., whose aclmowledgement I have copied abovs,

-Here are two more brothers of the surveyor, Richard, the grand- -
father of the present Richard Peter, and Oliver, who lived on the farm
now owned by John Ricketson, and here too are Benjamin and Elizabsth
Keese Omith, the parents of -the venerable Stephen K, of Peru, - This
couple vas the first to marry in the new meetlng house, their marriage
being performed in '9th month 1803, . . .

And here is the grave of Col, Robert Pierce, who died in 1853 at
the ege of 73, He could not have been a Queker, for if he was, that
military title would not have been carved on his headstone; but if
"cleanliness is next to godliness" he and his good wife “Aunt Mary Ann"
did as much for the Quaker Meetlngs as did any member of the-
"straightest Sect." They lived in a little cottage almost on the south
line of the Friends' lot and for many years took care of the meeting
house, but among the descendants of this Col, Pierce are some of the ..
most respected citizens of our country.

- If I stay much longer among these mossy tombstones, I shall earn
the name of "0ld Mortality." I could not name all who are buried here
if I would, and would not if I could, Perheps.I have said too much -
already on this subject but if anyone has & right to talk about the
Friends it seems as though it might be & man who had six great-grand-
parente that were respected members of that Society, and who would
probably himself have had a birth-right among them if his grand—51re
had not been disowned "for marrying out of Meeting,"

Probably 1890 ' J, W, Harkness

Copied from Mr, Horace Ackley's Sérapbook, 1966
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Prize essey read by Miss Bertha Bentley of Peru, N. Y., before the
Cllnton County Teachers Association at Plattsburgh on Monday evening
May 7, 1888
About the flrst of July 1786, e small salllng vessel errived at
the mouth of the Great River Sable.

On board this vessel was a family of ten persons who had come from
the vicinity of Boston to find them & home in this wilderness. The
father of this family was Cept, Edward Everett. He was a tall straight

man about forty-five years of age, and hed served his country during
the Revolutionary Wer. His wife's name was Rachel, Their oldest son,
George was a drummer boy atthe Battle of Saratoga. 3Besides this son
there were seven other children, Bdward, Robert, Susan, Hannah, Ruth,
Polly, and David Allen., The last was about 5ix weeks old at thls tlme.
He was born in what is now the State of Vermont, while the family stop-
ved at the house of a David Allen for whom he was named,

This was not the first visit of Capt. Everett to this section of
country, for he being a land surveyor had, the year previous been em-
ployed by Zephanish Platt and his sssociates to help survey their land.
He was promised at this fime 150 acres, on condition that he would "im-
prove and settle on this land within one year from the date of the deed
and remain with his identical family for a term of siz years next to
come, unless he or his heirs have leave first obtained from Zephanish
Platt or his heirs under hand and sel, to sell or remove from the same--
the calamities of war only excepted.”

Capt. Everett accepted Platt's offer, returned home for his family,
and was now on his way to the land which had been promised him, The
“sloop left them at the mouth of the AuSable River and Capt. Everett with
his wife and younger members of his family were rowed up the river to
the Basin at the lower end of AuSsble Chasm. The elder sons took the
teanm and load of household goods and followed the banks of the river un~
til they came to the same place. Here they joined the rest of the .
femily and they started egain, following a line of marked trees for
three miles to the westward, This led them to the foot of what is now
called Halleck Hill, the place selected for their fuiure home. There
was no house, of course, so Capi. Everett and his sons had to commence
building one immediately, and in this manner they probably celebrated
the fourth of July which was the tenth anniversary of the Declaration
of Independence., Edward Everett's lot comprised that part of Richard
P, Keose's present farm which lies east of the "Union," and the whole
home farm of Alexander Arthur. The consideration mentioned in his deed
was only "ten shillings lawful money of New York." His neerest neighbor
vas John Hay who lived on the lake shore, ten miles away. But very near
Edward Everett's south line was a lodge of Indians, who were friendly
and gave the settlers no trouble. In order to furnish the table with
fish, the girls would go to the Basin below AuSable Chasm, following the
same path they travelled when they first came to their new home., Here
they could cateh salmon and all they could cerry.

One of the grandsons now liﬁing says he remembers his Aunt Polly
say that one time when she went to the Basin to fish, a salmon bit her
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hook, and it was so large that if her brother who happened to be with
her at the time, had not caught hold of her she would have lost the
fish pole and all. It is said that Edward Everett once took a hal?
bushel of corn on his back, walked to Plattsburgh to mill, following
&8 line of marked trees, and returned the next day with his grist in
the same manner,

 Pour years after, in the year 1790, under esuthority of the Commis-
sioner of the Jtate Land Office, Zephanieh Platt and Platt Rogers built
& road commencing in Werren Co., and extending through Plattsburgh to
Champlain village thus making the route to Plattsburgh easier. About
this time John Keese, Peter Halleck, Caleb Green and others came to.
live near Capt., Everett. When in 1792, the Town of Peru was organized
he was selected as its first supervisor and he was re-elected to that
office three times in the four years from 1793 to 1797. The box in
which Capt, Everett kept his compess, the original deed, and also the
bond from Edward Bverett, Jr. to Capt. Edward Everett and his wife are
8till in possession of one of his grandchildren. From this bond we -
find that in 1807, & 1little over twenty years he came to this country,
Capt. Bverett, doubtless feeling the infirmities of age, saw fit o re~
sign his property and its carcs to his son and namesake, Edward Bverett,
Jr, : . o

The condition of the bond read as follows:; Edward Everett Junior
ghall well and truly pay or cause to be peid all just and lawfull de-
mands thet may be brought against Edward Everett or Rachel Everett, his
wife of whatsoever name or nature. Secondly, the said Edward Everett
Junior shall well and $ruly provide or cause to be provided for the
said Edward Everett and Rachel Everett, his wife in the house that we
now live in. Good and serfichent food and rayment together with all
the necessaries of life suitable for persons of our age and station in
life dewring our ‘success ond health, “uther the said Edward Everett -
Junior is to provide horses sleigh or wagon convenant for the worship
end discipline further the said Edward Everett is to pay or cause to
pay one dollar every theree months to the said Edward Everett and -
Rachel Everett during our natrill lives." Also "the said Edward Bver-
ett and Rachel his wife -shall have their choice of any room to live ir
and free acess of any room to live in and free acess through the whole'
house and barn. Lastly, the said Edward Everett Junior is to give us

-a decent burinl after the manor of Friends." : :

If Edwerd Everett, Jr., did not live up to these requirements he
mugt forfeit $1500. The writing of this bond was evidently the old
Captain's and it shows that he was & man of some education though his
spelling was not perfect according to the modern standard, One of the
conditions quoted above.shows that Capt., Everett and his wife were
regular attendants -of the Quaker or Friends meetings and no doubt the -
horse was used for this purpose every "First and Fifth Day." Traedition
-gays Edward Everett, Jr., ran through the property very soon, so it is -
very likely that Capt. Everett and wife did not always get their "one
dollar every three months." But they certainly hed their living from
gsome source and no doubt a decent burial according to the manor of
Friends, which did not allow them to have any tombstones.
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The First Settler of AuJable

‘ Capt. Everett's sons and daughters married and went to different

parts of the county to live, His descendants are now numbered by the
hundreds, He probably died about the year 1815 and must have been at
least seventy-five years old for his oldest granddaughter, born in 1811,
remembers seeing him but once and then he was an old man, tall but bent
and shaking with palsy,
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Notes: The First Settler of AuSable
This prize essay wés written by ¥iss Bertha Bentley, daughter
of George Bentley and Miranda Harknesa Beﬁtley. Mirende Hark-
‘ness was & sister of J. Werren Harkness. The Bentley's lived
at what is now 14 Pleasant 8t., Peru, N. Y. and is presently
owned by Mrs. Halsey Stafford. Bertha Bentley married Dr., Thom-
a8 Rogers and lived -in Plattsburgh. They had one son, Avery, &

musician, who lives in New York City.

Copied from the Rolland Waders Scrapbook 1966
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OLD PERU
~ Its Extent and Boundaries, Oldest Roads, Eridges; BEtc.

¥hen the county of Clinton was taken off of Washington in 1788, it
embraced not only its present territory, but also that of Essex and
more than half of Franklin County in New York and the counties of Addi-
son, Chittenden, Lemoille, Franklin and Grand Isle, in what is now the
State of Vermont.

Its entire area was about the same as that of the present State of
Massachusetts and the part which ley west of Lake Champlain was nearly
as large as Connecticut. That part of the county was divided into four
towns, the averege size of each being about 1000 square miles or very
near the same as the State of Rhode Island, Two of those towns, Platts-

burgh and Crown Point, hed been organized a few years before as divi-
gions of Washington County end the other two, Willsborough and Cham-
plain were made by esct of the Legislature the same day that Clinton
County was separated from Washington, For nearly five years these four
towns kept their original boundaries but in the last days of the year
1792 {Dec. 28) the Legislature decreed that a fifth town to be called
Peru should be formed from the south part of Platteburgh and the north
part of Willsborough., This new fown embraced all the land which now
lies in Peru, AuSsble and Black Brook, and part of the town of Chester-
field in Essex County, which lies north of the line which forms the
gouthern boundary of Adgate's 3600 acre tract (patent), and the contin~
uation of that line toward the west which would just touch the southern
extrenity of Augur Pond and nearly or exactly coincide with the line
which forms the southern boundary of the western part of the town of
Black Brook. It will be seen by the above that the writer who said
that old Peru was "Almost an empire in extent" did not exaggerate as
badly as he might for if the territory was too small for an empire it
certainly was as large as some republics,
It would be interesting to know the number of inhabitents which

Peru contained at the time of its organization; but if an enumeration
wes made, there appears to.be no record of the result, But the number
was not very small for they had been coming in quite rapidly for a few
years., The principle settlement was that of the Quakers which they
called the Union lying upon the old Rogers Road, but there were settlers
all the way along the road which ran from the Union by way of Arthur
Street to the Lake -Shore at the point which is still called Peru Land-
ing and then continued northward along the Lake Shore to the Platts~
burgh town line. The above mentioned road was the first regularly es-
tablished highways in the town, it having been laid out by the Commis-
sioners of Highways of the town of Plattsburgh in the year 1790 before
Peru was organized. The part of this road which lay between the bridge
which crosses the Little AuSable near its mouth, and that of Joshua I.
Arthur has been changed from where it was originally laid out, but the
Lake Shore Road from the Little AuSeble to Plattsburgh line and the
west end of Arthur Street across the farms of Thomas Lynch, Alexander
Arthur and Richard P. Keese are still travelled just where they wers
first located one hundred years ago.

" The next most ancient road of old Peru will also finish its first
century of existence during the present year. It was called Rogers Road
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because its maker or dirsctor was Platt Rogers one of the original
proprietors of Plattoburzh Patent, This "Rogers Road" came from
Willsborough over the mountain where it is travelled still, entered
the town of Peru where it crossed the line which forms the north
boundary of the farms now owned by Robert Hinds and Jerry Davern and
continued where ‘it now runs i1l it passed the four corners east of
where Interlaken House now stands, But somewhere north of those cor-
ners westward to the foot of Fordway Mountain and ran down the steep
bank to the river where traces of it can still be plainly seen, The
water was shallow so that no bridge was needed and the road after :
crossing the river ran westward to the east line of lot No,'20, which
is the line between the farms of Banker and Robsrge better known as
the Goodrich and Hatch farms, There the Rogers Road turned north,
ran over the hill west of the farms of Jerry and James Hayes, through
the pasture now owned by Elihu Hoag, came down Hallock Hill west of
" the the place where Edward Hallock's house, now owned by Harrison Ar-
nold, was afterward built, and followed the east line of Elihu Hoag's
presant farm to its northeast corner, From there it jogged east ten
or fifteen rods towhat was then the S. W. corner of Captain Edward
Everett's farm and then ran north where it does not through the Union,
passing one-half mile west of the present village of Peru and crossed
the south line of Plattsburgh at what is now called Stephen Weaver
Corners about three~fourths of a mile from Schuyler Falls. In Dec~
ember 1799, this road was chenged from what was then David Osborne's
but now Elihu Hoag's southeast corner to that instead of running
directly south over the hill it ran "threw Edward Hallock's wherat
field on a southeast course or near it and thence southerly by Sam~-
uel Brown's and Stephen Taylor's to the fordway into Rogerses Road
again." In April, 1803, another change was made and from that time
onward the rosd ran from "tiae S, W. Cormer of Edward Everett's farm
. 1n a straight course two rods east of Edward Hallocks's baran then a~
crogs the road southerly up the hill" ete., just whese it runs todey
It is inferesting to know that Edvard Ballock's barn, reffered to ab- -
ove is s$ill svrading two rods west of the road though it muet be af
least eighty-seven years old.

“Rogerses Road is mentioned very frequently in the old Town Book
of Peru in which are recorded all of the highways that were laid -out
by the Commissioners snd tha limits of %he rcad districts as they were
established from year tv year, EBub in 1796 a slight change was made
in itg name ard fon that time forward it was in variably called "Rog~
erses old road," The reason of thet was simply that Rogers had made a
new road and the adjectives had to be prefixed to distinguish them.

This new road crossed the AuSeble Chesm upon the celebrated High
Bridge and ran very near the Iake View House where it ncw stands, went
through the Davis neighborhood cortinued south just east of Progpect
Hill through what as then or soon after called the Macomber neighbor-
hood and met Ruger's Road {(0ld) at the Bosworth place, ag it was for-
erly called, that beirg the farm now owned by Alfred Mace. I am aware
that some historians asscry that this last metioned road as well ag
the bridge acroys the Chasm were completed in 179%, but I feel certain
that all who think go are mistaken, :

_ The bfidge was‘progébly built in the fall of 1795}“%hoﬁgh it wns not
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mentioned in the town records till the spring of 1796. On the 20th of

March, in that year the Commissioners of Highways of the Town of Peru,
John Cochran, Jr., Rufus Green, and Willlam Morehouse, at the request
of twelve reputzble Freeholders viewed the premises and declared that
they found "it necessary to lay out and Establish the Road or Highway
(to wit): "Beginning at a certain Norway pine tree marked H standing
at the parting of the Road about one hundred rods southwest of Doug-
lasses Mills from thence southwesterly corse as it is now cut and im~
proved to the Great Bridge over the Great River Sable thence a Crost
the River to the Bridge and Southwesterly and Southerly as it is now
cut and Improved up the east side of the River by the great falls and
by Isaac Wrights & Asher Adgates & Aaron Leonards through the south
part of a patent of fourteen hundred acres of land granted to Wm. Thorn
and from thence about one humdred & twenty Rods to the South line of
Peru said Road to be four rods wide from the banks of all Brook Rivers
etec. Allowing the said Overser or Overseers to straighten sald Road
at their own Discression so as to be of Public Advantage Without Doing
Injury to Individuals,

"Douglasses Mills" mentioned in above record were a saw mill and
a grist mi1l upon what is still called "Dry Mill Brood” which runs in-
 to the Great AuSable a little above the residence of James Bapggs. "The
saw mill belonging to Mathew Adgate, Esq. and Asa Douglass" 1s men-
tioned in the town records .as early as October, 1793, and the word
"mills" 1s first used under date of March 20, 1795, so it is probable
that the grist mill was bullt in 1794. The records continue to men-
“tion "Douglass Mills" in 1797, 1798 and 1799, but in 1800 and the
years which follow 1t, only Douglass saw mill is mentioned which in-
dicates that the grist mill did not remain there long. "Douglass Saw--
-mill" continued to be mentioned in the records of the Road Districts
of Peru until 1807 but from 1808 to 1810 it was called Coles sawmill
.and in 1811 it was called "Dry Mill" and by that named it has been
called ever since, In the "Reminiscences of Alvin Colvin" on page 208
of the History of Clinton County published in 1880, Mr. Colvin says,
"I think the Dry Mill stopped finally about forty years ago. It had a
very large over shot wheel, which was outside the mill and on the end
of the maln shaft, and the water was carried across the road about ten
or twelve rods in a flume down to the mill." He also says, "This Dry
Mill was a grist mill" and makes no mentlon of a saw mill at that
place., HNow Mr. Colvin's description of the mill may be-all correct
but he made the natural mistake of estimating the time that had el-
apsed since the grist mill stopped at only about one half of its true
length. .
' He was nearer right»when he sald that the bridge across the Chasm,
"It was used about 1813 when the State Road was changed farther west,
after which 1t crossed the AuSable about a mile above Keeseville."
From 1796 to 1814 inclusive the 2nd Highway District of the town of
Peru deseribed as "Beginning at the Centure of the great Sable Bridge
Northerly to the Centure of the Little Sable Bridge." After 1814 the
"Great Sable Bridge" is not mentloned in the bounds of any road dis-
trict and after 1816 no reference to 1t ia found in the Peru Records.

"The State Road" was first called by the name in the Peru Town
Book in 1814 but the survey of the road itself was made March 21, 1811,
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and no doubt the hrldge was bullt in 1810, The description of the new
road as surveyed and established in 1811 is as follows: "Beginning at
the Big River AuSable at the Bridge that was built by David Puller by
Jonathan Begilow's, thence North 32 degrees west forty chains thence
north 235 Chalns to Uriah Watermans Black Smith shop."

This blacksmith shop is believed to have stood on or near the
Morehous corners and the distance from there comes to the polnt where
the bridge crossed the river as measured upon the map is Just 275
chains og 1100 rods. "The Bridge near John Anderson's" was where the
lower bridge in Keeseville now stands and was first mentioned in the
Peru Town Book in 1815,

J. W, Harkness

Written in 1890



30

FIRST TOWN MEETING OF OLD PERU

Records of notes and proceedings of the Town of Peru in Clinton
County and State of New York which town wes taken from the south part
of Plattsburgh and the north part of Willsborough and made into the
Town by an act of the Legislature of the State of New York, bearing
date the 28th Dey of December in the year of our Lord one thousand
sevén hundred and ninety-two. Directing the first Annuel Town Meet-
ing to be held at the dwelling house of Samuel Jackson in said Towm,
agreeable where-to the inhabitents and freeholders met, after having
been duly notified, and the meeting being opened and conducted by two
of the Justices of the Peace, Residents in the said Town. They pro-
ceeded to nominate and vote for a person to act (as) Moderetor in the
said Meeting. When it appeared that John Cochran, Jr., wes by a
- majority of votes chosen Moderator, they proceeded to nominate and
vote for the several officers requested by Law for the said Towm,
when it appeared that the following persons (were) by & majority of
votes mede choice of for the year one thousand seven hundred and
ninety-three, ‘

Edward Everctt © - Quelifyed Supervisor
Asa Adgate " Qualifyed Clerk

Richard Keese
Isaac Finch
John Howe

‘Qualifyed Asgessors

Tott Elmore ) : N
John Finch ; Quelifyed Commissioners of Highways
Gilbert Thew :

Reuben Arthur

John Elmore Qualifyed Constables

Reuben Arthur Qualifyed Collector .

%ﬁgﬁzrglizzseg _ Qualifyed Overseers of the Poor

~ Ezekiel Lookwook Qualifyed Poundmester

“Qualifyed Fence-viewers or Damdge

Jabez Allen %
Prisors

Samuel Jackson

Jabez Allen
Daniel Chapman
John Cochran, Jr.
Ezeiel Lookwood
Samuel West
Henry Green

Issac Finch
Qualifyed Overseers of Highways
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Voted that every seed hors running at Large after the 2nd of
April 1793 shall be liable to be taken up by say Freeholder or In-
hebitant of said Town, who after giving notice their to the owner
shall be entitled to five shilling per Day for Keeping such hors
- until the owner shall pay such Charges end secure such hors.

Voted that the next Annual Town meeting be held at the Dwelling
hous of Reuben Arthur in the Town of Peru.

The above Recorded this 2nd Day of April 1793

Attest Asa Adgate TIn Clerk
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The following notes have been written in the book from which this

. informetion has been'cobied:

Notes by J. W, Harimess: The Town of Peru mede gt thet time compris-
od ‘besides the present town of that name, the Towns of AuSable and
Black Brook and the north half of Chesterfield, all of Brighton and
mogt of Franklin and the east part of Brandon. The south line of Peru
wae al the south end of Auger Lake and ran thence sast to Laeke Champ-
lein and west to the Great Aulable River at or neer AuSable Forks and
" continued west to the east line of Montgomery County which is fhrough
what is now the middle of Brandon, Franklin County.

Ther dwelling house of Samuel Jackson was of loge and stood near the
bend of the road at the north end of Allen Street, and about helf a
mile west of the bridge acroes the Little AuSeble River, (Allen Street
is the old Lake Shore Road on which Paul Allen lives.) {This would

be in the neighborhood of the R. R. overpass and the Blockhouse Ceme~

‘beI‘y. )

John Cochran, Jr., was the founder of Peru Village. He lived where
the Hirem E, Heyworth house now stands, and built a grist mill 28 x -
28 and & saw mill 45 x 16 vwhere the Peru Mills now stend,

Bdward Everett, the first settler of that part of Plattsburgh that is

now AuSable, was born in Dedham, Mass., in 1739, He was Capt., of N. H,
troops at the seige of Quebsc in 1776 and removed from N, H, to Clinton
County N. Y. about July-1, 1786. He lived east of the Union Road and i
south of Arthur Street on land now owned by Percy Kesese, (That Everett
Tlot is part way up Hallock Hill; Arthur Street was the first rcad laid

out ir the present town of AuSable and was and is Just where it is now,
from,Keese's Corners to Dwyer's Corners, but in the year 1790 it con-
tinued to the Lake,

Notes by your copyist: It is interesting to note that there are still
descendants of most of the first officers of the old Town of Peru still
living in and around the Towns of Peru and AuSsble: The Earl Everetts,
Whitney Adgate of AuSaeble Chasm, Merritt Keese, the Finches of Jay,
George Elmore of Peru, the Thews of West Peru, all the Arthurs in the
Town of AuSable end in Platteburgh, which includes the Days (not Lake
Shore Days) of Plattsburgh and the Finneys of Peri, Paul Allen of the
Leke Shore Road and his brother Puller Allen in Plattsburgh.

This story and notes are copied from the book into which Mr. J.

Warren Harlmess copied the description of all of the roads in Old Peru -
*rom 1750 to 1836, That book, given by Mise Goorgla Harlmess to the
(linton County Historical Soclety, is their rooms in the Public

Library in Plattsburgh
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RECORD OF SOME REVOLUTIONARY HEROES

Your correspondent has been studying the military and civil re-
cords of several revolubionary soldiers whose graves are in the Quaker
burying ground in the Union end believes that he has learned some facts
that may be of interest fo others.

Captain Edward Everett was born in Dedham, Mess, in 1739, His
father, algo named Bdward, being the brother of Ebenezer Everett who
was the father of Judge Oliver Bverett, whose son, Bdward was a famous
orator and stateman fifty years ago. He re-moved with his family to
Ramney, N. H. in 1770, and at the outbresk of the Revolution wag chosen
Captain in Col, Bedel's regiment of militia. When the news of the de-
feat of General Arnold and the death of Gen. Montgomery at Quebec
reached New Hampshire, Capt, Everett and his company started for Quebec
to reinforce Gau. Arnold. His active service began Jan., 22, 1776 and
probably ended July 22 of the same. year, when his regiment, retreating
from Canada left Ticonderoga. In 1783, Capt. Everett and his family
came’ to this county and seftled in part of the farm now owned by R.
Percy Eeese. (The "elm tree lot, now owned by Walter Seversnce,)

He was the first supervisor of Peru, elected April 2, 1793 and was re-
elected to the same office in '94 and '97., The exact date of his death
ig unknown, but it wes about the year 1815 or '16, George Everett, the
oldest son of Capt. Everett was born in 1763, He served as & drummer
boy in his father's company in the Canade campeign of 1776, when he
vas only 13, He re-enlisted in March 1777, for three years in the Tth
N. 3, regiment and was finally discharged when he was 23, married and
lived upon the farm now owned by Fred Arthur, (Now Albert Dupra) He
died early in 1825 and perbaps before that year. His son, George, who
lived in Lawrence, N. Y, and his daughter, Rachel, the Thomas Lynch -
farn (John Shortell, Sr,) in the Union are well remembered by people

of middle age in this vicinity, while his grandson, John Ricketson and
geveral great grand children still live in this county (Rolland Maders,
Keeseville) and others in Colorado and Minnesota.

Gilbert and Garrett Thew were born in Rockland, Orange Co,, N. T.
about one hundred and fiffy years ago. It is beleived that they were
sons of Abraham Thew, who was & Lieutenant in Capt. James Howell's
company in 1760. (Graves of Gilbert and Garret Thew, marked in Quaker
Buryingground, 2nd Orange Co. Reg't 1775)

Among their neighbors was a men who bore the somewhat feminine
but none the less homely name of Ann Bawks Hay, I spelled his name as
it is spelled in the Civil Ligt of New York, How he came fo be called
Ann Hawks when he could as well have been anmed Tommy Hewks, I shall
not attempt to explain, but only assert the fact that he was given the
name Ann Hawks Hay and made it a very honorable name before he was done
with 1t, This Ann Hawks Bay was a delegate to the convention that me$
in Wew York, April 20, 1775, to choose delegates to the Continental
Congress, The day affer that copvertioned adjourned, the news of the
Battle of Lexington reached the city. A4t once the wildest excitement
prevailed, Military companies were organized and paraded in the
streets, A powder house wes seized as well as a largs quantity of arms
that were stored in the city hell., “elegate Ann Hawks Hay hurries home
. to Orange County but he did not content himself with merely raising a
tompany of soldiers, he raised a whole regiment and was chosen as its
Colonel, So many men from his district enlisted that afferward when
more were wanted to carry on the war, that district waa exempted
because it had sent its full quota or share. See French's Gazetteer,
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Page 693, Among those who enlisted in Col, Hay's regiment, which was

" called the Second Orange County militia, were Gilbert end Garrett Thew.

How long they served or in what battles they fought I have not yet been
able to ascertain. Three years after the close of the war, they

bought of Zephaniah Platt of Poughkeepsie, two lots of land, lying two
miles wegt of Plattsburgh village, now known as the Gosgrove farm, but
I am not certain that they ever lived there. In 1789, they sold those
lots to Simen Newcomb and bought of Nathanial Platt 300 acres on vwhat
is now called Hallock Hill, Ninety acres of that land remained in the
posaession of Gilbert Thew, his son, John end grand-son Nelson for over
100 years but was sold about seven years ago to W. H, Carpenter. Sixty-
four acres of the original 300 are now owned by 8 great grand daughter
of Garrett Thew, NMrs. Joseph Allen,

Neither of the four soldiers of whom I have ﬁritten, over applied
for or received a pension. Before me is & letter, dated Nov. 15, 1852

. and directed to Gerrett Thew, his widow or heirs. It is from an enter-

prising pension agent who says that he can obtain a pension for them if
they will give him the Power of Attorney and fill out an affidavit, but
the Thews did not consider that the goverment owed them anything and
did not comply with the agent's request, But our government furnishes
heddstones to mark the graves of its defenders, and I see no reason why
thoge four soldiers should not be remembered, Only rough sandstone
glabs, without a word of inscription, now mark the resting. place of
those 0ld heroes who helped to make our country free and independent.
In a few years more, no one will be left to show, even approximately,
where they were buried. There is some uncertainty even now, which
graves are theirs, but the location of their family: lots or rows are
known and the monuments can be placed within a few feet, if not exactly
in the proper places. Surely 35 or 85 years. is long enough to leave
graves unmerked. . ' .
: J. W, Harkness

From a clipping belonging to Mr. & Mrs, Barl Everett
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In the year 1640, just twenty years after the Mayflower landed the

Pilgrims~on Plymouth Rock, another little band of Pilgrims from England,
" driven by persecution on account of their religious belief sought re-
fuge in the wilds of America, The spiritual leader of this flock was
Rev, John Younge and his followers were Peter Hallock, Issac Arnold,
Richard Terry, William Wells, John Conklin, Barnabas Horton, Thomas
Mapes, Robert Akerly, John Tuthill, Mathias Corwin, John Budd and Jacob
Corey, They first landed at New Haven where a settlement had been begun
two years before, but wishing to plant a colony cf their own they scon
crossed over to the eastern part of Long Island and settled upon the
shores of Peconic Bay.

It is related when they approached the shore they found it swarm-
ing with Indians which made most of them fear to land but Peter Hallock,
a strong, bold man, leaped ashore and the others seeing that he was not
molested ventured to follow. This Peter Hallock bought of the Indians
land that occupied the extreme eastern end of the notthern arm of the
island but having oocasion to go back to England some time later to get
his wife and son, he found on his return that the Indians had resold hie
land to another and he was cbliged to buy again a few milss farther wast
There he passed the remainder of his days and tiiere his only son, Willis
lived also and died in 1684, From this father afd son are descended all
the Hallocks and Hallecks of who the writer has ever heard.

‘William had four sons, Thomas, Peter, William and John, Thomas was
the grand-father of the grand-father of John Hallock, Jr., and eminent
Judge in Orangs County, who was twice elected Member of Assemble and
twice Member of Congress, Peter, son of William, was the great grand-
father of Deacon Jabez, who was the grandefather of Gen. Henry W., who
was for a time, in 1863, Commander-in-Chief of the land forces of the
United States, It was Deacon Jabez who first wrote the name "Hallock”
and.his descendants have continued to so spell it to the present time,
William, son of William, was also-progenitor of a numerous branch of the
family which comprised several judges, doctors, ministers, and states-
men. . :

John, son William, joined the Quakers, very much to his father's
displeasure, and from him Gescended a numerous posterity many of his
descendants being like him, followers of George Fox. He was the ances-
tor of Fitz-Greene, the poet, and his mamesake the Adirondack guide,
also of Hon, George E., the father of George P. of Peru, and the Hal-
locks of Hallock Hill, His grand-son David settled .in Ferrisburg. Vt,,
married a Miss Burling, one of the family that gsvz its name to Burling-
ton, and died about the year 1795 léaving- a family of tour sons and
geveral daughters, The oldest son, Edward, about that time married
Persis Earle, the daughter of a wealthy gentlemen named Pliny Earle,
and his unmarried brothers and sisters continued to live with him.

In the fallior winter of 1796 the report reached Ferrisburg, that
a man named David Osborne living in Peru, N.Y, had raised thet season
forty bus@elS‘of vheat to the acre. When Edward Hallock heard it he de-
clared that.was the place for him, "I am going over to Peru and shall
buy a farm just as close to that wheat-field as I can gst," he said and
at once-began to make preparations for the journey,
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The farm in Ferrisburg was sold and early in the spring of 1797
the family started with their household goods loaded upon one or more
wagons, the cattle aud other stock being driven across the lake to some
point in the present town of Essex and thence made their way over
Willsboro Mountain and past the place where Keeseville was afterwards
built, crossing the AuSable River on the high bridge which had Leen
built thres or four years hefore across the chasm. They now reached
Peru and found by inquiry that David Osborne, the famous wheat raiser
lived about five miles away on the hill that lay south of a Quaker
Ssttlement called@ "The Union!" When they got there they found Osborne
living on the farm that is now owned by Elihu H, loag, a farm which was
then and is still one of the best in the town,

Across the road from Osborne's was a farm of 140 acres owned by a
man named Robert Whitcomk, and Edward Hallock bought it without delay
and moved into a log house which stood nearly opposite the place where
Hoag's horse-barn now stands, But that small farm was not sufficiant
to satisfy so ambitious a man as Edward Hallock so he bought a lot of
500 acres lying east of both Osborne and Whitcomb farms and 50 acres or
60 acres that lay west of the south part of his original purchase makirn
nearly, if not quite 700 acres in all, Then he went to farming on a
much larger scale than any of his neighbors and succeeded sc well that
sixteen years after coming to Peru, he and his brother Isaac, than a
man af about 80 years, owned 180 heads of cattle, 100 hoys, and other
stock in proportion. But the land they had bought was not all paid for
and at the time thcy still owed about $3000, ’ .

The war of 1812 was in progress, fat cattle were in demand and the
Kallocks were offered $30 apiece for 100 head, Isaac wanted the money
to use to pay the debts but Edward said he must build a house and now
vas the time to do it. He newer did things on a small scale. lie be-
gan by making a cellar that 'astonished the natives.® It was divided
Ly stone partitiéns into four rooms each of which was larger than the
average csllar of these days. When it was finished $1000 had been
spent and before the house was, the money which the cattle brought was
all gone and the debts were not paid., This house, the one now occupied
by Harrison Arnold, is still one of the largest farm—housﬁs in Clinton

County.

To fatten the 100 hogs they drove them back three or four miles
into the woods where the beech trees were plenty and herded them while :
they fattened upon bsachnuts., But the pork did not pay the debts. The ‘ !
500 acre lot, or large part of it, was mortgaged'to Richard Burling
of Purllngton and after his death the mortgag= was foreclosed and the
farm sold to satisfy it.

Igaac~ had taken as his share the original Whitcomb farm, bullt
him a tsubstantial frame house large enough for comfort and conven-
‘ience, married Phebe Underhill yhoes father lived in the "Union,” and
his living in comfortable circumstances

Another brother named Richard had removed to Erie County, and
another called David llV“d with Isaac till his death at the age of
" 60 years.
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Edward'had‘two sons, the older he named for hie grandfather
Burling, and the younger for his father-in-law Earl, both of
whon went to the central or western part of the State.

Edward Hallock after the loss of his farm 1ived for a time
in a small house near the northwest corner of the 500 acre lot he
had formerly-owned, but his mind lost its balance, he was'taksn to
ofgiéasylum at Brattleboro, Vi., and there he died about the year -

. Isaac passed his days upon his Whitcomb farm and died in
1848, He left one son, named David, and two daughters, Mary and
Pauling, The daughters married and went away but Devid still owns
and occupies the farm left him by his father, He has one son
named George Hallock of Peru and also of the Fitz-Greene Hallsck
of New York., He is fourth cousin of the Hon, John, Jr. of Orange
County who was a member of Congress from 1825 to 1829 and also of
the Hon. Joseph, of Oneida County, Member of Assembly in 1841,
the fether of General Henry W. Hallock. .

The hill on which the Hallock settled in 1797 is celled for
_them, Hallock Hill, On it still lives besides this family,
the Thews, and Oshornes, whose ancestors settled there about 95
years ago, the Hoag and Harkness families that have lived there
mearly 90 uears, and the Arnolds who came about 70 years ago.

It ig the writer's intention to some time prepare a sketch of
each of these "First families,"

J. ¥. B

Note: Mr, Harkness did complete a sketch of each of the families,
there are six, This is Chapter I,
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I
David and John Osborn

About the year 1790 there came to that part of the township of
Plattsburgh which soon after came to be lmown a Peru, and which has
now for fifty years been in the Town of AuSable, two brothers named

John and David Osborn. I spell the name as they spelled it, and as
- it is found written in o0ld deeds and records, though some of their
descendants have in recent years spelled it Osborne,

But little is kmown of their ancestry except that they were
descendants of Thomas and Aquilla Chase, who were born in England,
the former in 1639 and the latter in 1646. ‘The Osborn brothers came
0 this 1lecality from Danvers, Mass,, & place about twelve miles

north or Boston.

They bought of one of the Platts two hundred acres of land in
the north part of Iot No. 4 of Platt's 12,000 acre location. The
present Hallock road was soon after laid out along their south line
and their land was all that lies on the north side of this road and
south of Richard P. Kees farm from the west line of Harrison Arnold's
orchard, to the barns of the present Osborn family,

They divided their two hundred acres into four lots of unequal
sizes by lines rumning north from the road and David too the first
and third, counting from the east, while John took the second and
fourth, David's eastern division contained sixty acres and he built
his house upon 1t about thirty rods north of the south line and per- .
haps ten or more from the eastern bounds, The exact position can
8111l be seen by the 0ld cellar into which stones have been thrown
411l it is more than level full., This monumet is a litfle south-
west of the old barn which still stands in Elihu Hoag's eastern field
and about half way between that barn and Harrison Arnold's west line
Tence,

The house that stood over that cellar was a framed one and since
has been moved though it still stands upon the farm and is now used
as a hay barn, It is asserted by the present owner of that farm, that
the first house built and occupied by the Osborn family was of logs
and stood farther west than this later built framed dwelling, and
directly south of the o0ld barn.

It was in the clearing that he had made in front of that house
that David Osborn in the summer of 1796 raised his crop of forty
bushels of wheat to the acre, the fame of which spread at least as
far a Ferrisburg, V., and caused Edward Hallock to decide to sell
hig farm in that place and move to this hill which has since borne
his name, and as Hallock afterward influenced his brother-in-law
David Hoag, and others to come, it will De seen that the settlement
of neighbors, and the destiny of a great number of peapls, some
of whom were at that time unborn, depended upon the weather of that
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season and the condition of the soil which enabled this farmer to
harvest an unusually large crop.

David Osborn and Anna his wife were the parents of four souns
nemed, David Daniel, Azor, and Henry and one daughter, Doras, His
brother John also named a son David and a daughter Doras and it is
presumed that those were the manes of the parénts of the subject of

“this sketch, :

‘ About the year 1800, the Osborn brothers bought of Gilbert Thew
and Garrett Thew the 120 acres which the Thews owned north of the Hal-
lock Hill Road, In 1801 they sold fifty acres of it to their brother=~
in-law Caleb Southwick and in 1804, fifty~five acres to David Hoag,
The remeining fifteen acres which lay north of the Southwick lot, Dav-
id Osborne sold in 1814 with both of his other lots to Samuel Peasley
for the sum of $1,900, and with his wife and all of the other children .
remaining of their years, which were many, for both of the parents
lived until 1850, Thier sons and daughter married, lived and died in
the same locality, Hemry's death occuring before those of his parents
and all of the others since. '

John Osborne, the brother of David, Sr., married, one of the twin
daughters of Garret Thew, and his first wife who died before the Thew's
came to this neighborhood, He settled upon the second division of the
original 200 acre purchase. His hoube was the building now used by
Elihu H. Hoag a3 a horse barn and the east line of his lot was only a
few feet east of the dwelling, He had five sons, Samuel, Isaac 8.,
commonly called Sherwood, Abram, David and John, and four daughters,
Rebecca, Abiah, Dorcas and Anne,

Semuel Osborn married Eunice Jacobs, a sister of Leonard Sher-
wood!s first wife was Sallie Ann Arnold and his second who is still
living, Mary A.. Iraman, Abram married Fliza Calking, David married
Martha Reed and John's wife was Harriet, daughter of Turner Calkins
of Calkins Street, : :

Rebecca, born in 1806, married Samuel Ames, Abiah married Fes-
tus Jones of Willsboro, Dorcas married Daniel Anson Arnold and went
with him ot Ohio, and Anne married Stephen Calkins and died in the
same State, John Osborn, Sr,, died in 1825, was buried near the cen-
ter of the Quaker grave yard in the Union and at his head his neigh-
bor, Pliny Hoag, erected a plain sandstone slab upon which he had
marked the brief inscription which is still plainly legible.

Ix O‘
1825

In 1834, Samuel Peasley sold the sixty acre farm thaet he had
~ bought of David Osborn {twenty years before.to Isaac S, and Samuel
Osborn for $1,600, During the time that he owned it he had built
the brick house, and after its purchase Samuel and Eunice Osborn

lived there about eight or ten years and then re-moved to”Dhie,
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From 1825 to 1334 they had lived in a home which stood on the east
gi.e of the road which leads to Clintonville, on the land which now
belongs to J. W. Harkmess, and is used as a pasture.

Sherwood Osborn and his family lived in the brick house built
by Peasley form 1842 to 1861, when having sold the farm to Elihu H.
Hoag, he glso re-moved to Bennington, Ohio, where he and his wife are
still living. Abram Osborn and his wife had also settled in Ohio,
and in 1859 their brother David sold the farm on which their father
had lived to Elihu Hoag and with his family re-movéd fto the-same
locality were he died about four or five years ago.

In 1836, Dayid Hoag sold fifty-four acres of the fifty-five
which he had bought of David and John Osborn in 1804, to Samuel,
Isaac S.,-and John Osborn for $1080. "This~lot together with the
forty acres which constituted the west division or the original pur-
chase and the ten acre lot south of the road which formerly belonged
to Garret Thew, became the farm of John, the son of John Osborn,
Senior, There he lived until his death in 1883, and there his widow,
Harriet, still lives with the daughter, Lorette, now Mrs. Joseph Allen
0f all the children of those pioneers, Isaac Sherwood is the only ome
now living. .

. J. W. Harkness
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III
Whitcomb, Cochran and Starks

Between the times of the Osborns' coming to Old Peru and the spring
of 1796 three more settlers had made their homes in the seme neighbor-
hood, Robert Whitcomb, David Cochran and Stephen Starks,

Robert Whitcomb is believed to have come first of the three though
the only evidence thus far found is the fact that in 1796 his farm of
50 acres was taxed the seme as Cochran's 150 and more than Starks' 100,
The amount of the assessment depended partly on the improvemenis made,
80 if the small ferm was taxed the ssme as the large one it shows that
it had been most improved, hence the inference that it had been longest
settled, : _

Vhitcomb wes & son-in-law of Capt., Edward Everett of the Union,
his wife being that worthy gentlemen's daughter, Hennsh, His fifty acre
farm lay directly south of the sast half of the Osborn brothers' two
hundred, It went south as far as the north end of what is now Elihu
Hoag's pasture, and ran west from the southeast corner of the farm owned
by Elihu Hoag to the east line of the land which belongs to George L.
and Bertha Hallock, Whitcamb's log house stood just south of the main
road where the lane comes down fo David Hallock's house. There he was
living in 1797 when Edward Hellock came and bought him out, There is a
tradition that Whitcomb offered Hallock the farm for a yoke of oxen but
thet was not the price paid, for the deed reads "in consideration of .
three hundred dollars." Whitcomb did not at once leave the hill or if
he did he returned within thres or four years but probably moved into
some house farther west than the one gold, for his neme is found on road
warrants with those of Gilbert and Garrett Thew and Caleb Southwick,
and ag late as 1803 he was overseer of highways of that district while
at the same time the Hallocks and Osborns were taxed in a different dis-
trict. In 1804, he had gone from the hill and worked his tex in a dis-
trict with Wm, Sunderland, Barl.end John Howard and John Howe, That is
believed to have been the district where Herbert Stafford and Joseph
Gordon now live, but the exact location of his new home ig unknown, It
was back from the road where only a foot path led to it and he did not
live 10 see a highwey made to his dwelling for when he died a few of his
old neighbors went to his house on foot and brought his remains out a
long distance to the road, where teams awaited them, from whence hs was
taken to his grave in the Queker burying ground. '

His widow afterward became the wife of Eleazer Nichols, He left at
least five sons, their names being Joshua, Eben, Edward, Linus and
Robert, and one daughter named Ruth, .

Robert, the youngest son, was brought up by his uncle, David Allen
Bverett, married Martha Bragg of West Peru, lived many years in the vi--
cinity of Franklin Falls but returned to old Peru, bought & farm on
Allen Hill and died in the fall of 1887, his widow surviving him but a
few months.

David Cochran was another son-in-law of Captain Everett, his wife's
name being Susan, He came from Pembroke, a small place near Concord,

N, H. His farm joined Whitcomb's on the west and ran south sbout three
times as far. It has in late years been called the Pliny Hoag farm and
is now owned by Isaac Roberts except about thirty acres off the east
side ‘which belongs to the Hallocks. Cochran first sold to Edward
Hallock 25 acres in a nearly square form out of the northeast corner of
his farm, Afterwards he sold Devid Hoag the remainder, 125 acres, end
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Hallock made & trade with Hoag deeding to him 15 acres on the west side
of ebove mentioned 25, for which he received 20 acres which lay south
of the remaining 10 which made a gtraight line between the two farms
where it remains to this day.

After selling his farm to Hoag, Cochran re-moved to.what is now
called Telegraph Street and bought the farm now owned by Wesley Rider,-

His son REdward Everett Cochran, commonly called Everett, married
and lived many years upon that farm and another son named William re-
moved to Michigan where he bscame a Bapiist clergyman,

'The oldest daughter, Rachel married Cyrus Ward, Abigal commonly
called Nabby, married Aaron Boynton, lived in Ellenburg and was the
mother of Hall Boynton and Mrs, Prosper Roberts.

Polly married Godfrey Cornell and had a son nemed Mortimer and a
daughter Narcissa. Susan married James Reed and in her last year,
lived on Burnt Hill in the ftown of Saranac where the son Furman Reed,
Bsq., still resides,

David Cochran married a second wife and two other daughters named
Sophia, and Mary, the former of whom married a man named Lewis Fundy.

Narcissa Cornell married a gentleman named Bailey whose home was
in New Orleans, After living there with him g few years, she came back
to Peru to visit her relatives, leaving her husband-and a little son
named Peter, Her mother had died when she was quite young; and her
father, Godfrey Cornell, had married again and had other children, one
of whom was named Candace,

After remeining at her father's a few weeks, Narcissa Bailey
started for her southern home, having with her an infant daughter, born
during her visit and her half sister, Candace Cornell, a young girl of
about thirteen, The ship on which they sailed from New York was wreck-
ed; and of all on board, only two were saved, one of them being Narcissa
Bailey's infant which was carried by the waves to the shore and depogit-
ed emong the rocks where it was found entirely uninjured and restored
to its relatives, the mother and sister both being drowned.

In 1814, when the British invaded the county, David Cochran and a
Peru militia of whom he was chosen Captain, performed very efficient
service in the defense of Plattsburgh. It is stated in the history of
Clinton County that these Peru men under the command of Captain Cochran
were the first to meet the foe, This encounter is said to have faken
place on the 6th of Sept., five days before the battle, about four miles
north of Plaftsburgh, When on the 11th a detachment of British suc=
ceeded in fording the river near Pike's contonment they found the mili-
tia on the south bank ready to meet them, Of course, they retreated be-
fore the superior numbers of the trained British regulars but kept up
en incegsant firing from behind the large pines which covered the
Plattsburgh pleins and thus greatly annoyed the enemy, Instead of re-
treating towards the forts they went in the direction of Peru and the
British, not knowing the way or supposing that the mein body of Ameri-
cans was before them, were thus led away from the forts which they had
crossed the river on purpose to attack, About three miles from the
river on the road toward Peru stends a small stone house on the west
side of the road, 1In front of that house the British column stopped
and an officer was about to enter, perhaps to inquire the way fo Plattas-
burgh, when as he stocd on the steps he was struck by a ball from g
field piece which hed been planted by the Americans in the road on a
little hill about half a mile further south. About that time, it was
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discovered thpt they had "got too far from Canada" and began a hasty
retreat towards the river., This was an opportunity for Captain Cochren
and his men, and they aveiled themselves of it. Running from tree_to
tree, they kept up & rattling fire which ceused many a Briton to bite
the dust, : .

"Behold the hedges and the ditches

And the trees and every stump

In their homespun shirts and breeches

See the Yaniees farmers jump." ) .

It is said that Captain Cochran was a very prominent one in this
fight, being known by his broad-brimmed hat and sheep's gray suit, but
while that might indicate that he was a Quaker, such was no? ?he cese
unless he joined "the meeting" after he left the hill. Positive proof
exists that in the year 1802 when he sold his farm to David Hoag, the
Cochran family were called "world's people" and the fact that he was a
"bloody man of war" in 1814 indicates that he never became one of the
wociety of Friends, The exact date of his death is unlnown, but the
REPUBLICAN'S worthy correspondent "Scribe"says that in 1336 the old
Capiain was living but very feeble and probably died soon after. He ig
believed to have been buried in the litile graveyard near the present
residence of George fiverett, his grave being very near the spot where
the old blockhouse formerly stood, ; o

After Nathaniel Platt deeded the 300 acres of land in Lot No, 5 t
the Thew brothers, he still owned 200 acres in that lot. He soon sold
that land to Cyrenus Newcomb who sold the south half, 100 acres, 1o
Giles Pomeroy who sold the same to John Parker who sold it to H?ephgn
Starks, All of these changes of ownership had taken place within six
years, and it is not known that any of the owners before Starks ever
lived ppon the lot. A

Stephen fHtarks! 100 acres.included the no th 70 acres of the. Hark=
ness farm and 80 acres of the east part of the farm now owned by George
Arnold, In 1797 Starks deeded the west half of his lot, 50 acres, to
Lodoma Parker, of Plattsburgh who is believed to have been the wife of
the John Parker, from whom he bought it, In May, 1801, he sold pis re-
paining 50 acres to Daniel Harkness and removed to Chateaugey yhlch.ls
thought to be the place from whence he came. IHow iong he remained in
Chateaugay (he spelled the name Shatagee) is not known but old inhabit-
ants of this town say that he returned and about the year 1820 was liv-

ing on the present Theodorus Baker farm near the lake, Whether he died
there or moved-awny, agsin “tradition sayeth not."" Higswife's first'
name-wag Elenor. He had .2 brother David and & brother or.son Ebenezer
who lived in the neighborhood.in 1799,

Ira Starks, a son of Stephen, was elected Town (lerk of Peru for
four successive years, from 1816 to 19 inclusive. His beautiful
penmanship and correct spelling indicate that his education was much
guperior to that of the average farmer or town officer; It is be-
lieved that he died in November 1819, for in the latter part of that
month Chauncey Stoddard was appointed to fill e vacancy and serve as
Town Clerk until the annual Town Meeting inwApril:{820,,

This Ira Starks had e brother, Thomas, and sister, Nabby and
Rachel, and the latter of whom married Ezekiel Hodges and lives on the

farm now owned by Richard Irwin in West Peru,

J. ¥. Harkness
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EARLY GETTLERS OF HALLOCK HILL

o Iv
Hallock,Southwick and Baker

The year 1797 is a memorsble in the annels of our quiet neighbor-~
hood for the coming of the Hallock family from Ferrisburg, Vi.

4 sketch of that family was printed in the REPUBLICAN of June 30,
1888, and it is not my purpose to repeat here any statements made there-
in, but only to correct one or two mistakes and supply such omissions
ag seem to be important,

Edward Hallock married the daughter of Robert, not FPliny, Eerl
and the farm which he bought of Robert Whitcomb contained but 50 in=-
stead of 140 acres, but he purchased of other parties land lying on
three sides of that farm i1l he hed, before he divided with his brother
and sisters, 680 acres. The portion that fell o Isaac was about 45
acres of the Whitcomb farm and enough of the other to make 140 acres.

The mother of the Hallocks came with them to Peru and for some
years after the new houses were built lived with her daughters Grace
and Dineh in the east rooms of Isaac's house on the Whitcomb farm.

After the death of his first wife, Edward married Hannah, the
widow of John Osborne who survived him and passed her last years w1th
her sons in Ohio,

The tract of land which since the coming of this family has been
kmown as Hallock Hill, consists of about 1,500 acres of tillable soil
besides an equal area that is unfit for cultivation. It lies in the
central part of the Town of AuSable, and on the northern slope of the
watershed which separates the valleys of the Great and Little AuSeble
Rivers, The eastern slope of the same elevation of land is called
Taylor Hill after William and Stephen Teylor who were among its first
gettlers, The southern and western slopes have never bsen settled and
ere 8till covered with forest,

The main street or road of Hallock Hill runs west from the corners
vhere Edward Hallock lived, a little more than one and a helf miles and
then descends rapidly to the Little River valley. Another road which
forms right angles with this, runs south from the Union past the Edward
Hallock place, over the eastern part of the hill, and down through the
Taylor neighborhood to the village of Keeseville, Another rums south
from & poin$ in the main street one and d fourth miles west of the east-
ern extremity and leads through about three miles of unsettled forest
land toward Clintonville end a short piece of road about ome-fourth of
a mile sast of the one last mentioned runs south from the main street
to the Thew and Quarter residences.

The exact elevation of this hill above the lake is unknown but it
is sufficient to afford most magnificent views of that part of that
country which lies north of it. From every point along the main street
and the other roads except that which passes through woods toward Clin~
tonville, the spires of Plattsburgh, the islands in Iake Champlain, the
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mountains of Vermont and almost the entire towns of Peru, Schuyler
Falls, and Plattsburgh are distinctly visible.

But if you wish to obtain a view that is equalled by few if any
nearer than the summit of Whiteface you should ascend to the top of
the hill that rises a little southeast of the present Hallock home -
stead. No words of mine are adequate to describe the beauty, sublimity,

-or extent of-the prospect which the visitor.to that point will find
awaiting him and the only way to obtain an idea of it is for each to
come and see. Among its other features are at least & thousand fields
of almost every color, shape and size, like the blocks in a woman's
crazy quilt end the great variety of borders including stone, stump
board, rail, bush, pole, and wire fences, hedges, ditches and highways
help to make the resemblance still more complete.

: The so0il of Hallock Hill is fertile and not difficult to . .-
cultivate where it has been subdued, but the walls which surround almost
every field and great heaps of stones that, on some farms, have been
accumulating for about a century bear witness to the industry of our
anc;stors end the amount of hard labor which they were obliged to
perform, .

In 1799 or 1800, Caleb Southwick, whose wofe FPhebe was the sister
of John and David Osborne, came from Danvers, Mass., to old Peru and
settled on the west side of the brook that still bears his name though
it might as appropriately be called the Thew Brook for the Thews had
owned the land through which it flowed for ten years before he came and -

- have continued to own a part of it to this day.

Southwick was a tamnner and currier by trade and he built a tannery
near the brook and a few rods north of the road, The foundation wall
on which that building stood can be seen there though it is overgrown
with a dense thicket of wild plums which in these early May days appears
to be one solid bank of whiteness and fragrance. Just south of that
stone foundation some depressions in the surface of the ground mark the
places where the vats were located. The great stone whe2l lay near them
till a few years ago when it was drawn to the school house yard and now
supports the central from post of the shed in which the people tie their
horses when they came to meeting, Southwick's fifty acres now belong
to Sidney Reynolds and his lot extended from the place where Reynolds'
west barn now stands to a point about five rods eest of the north end
- of the Thew Road, Afterward he, or his son Paul, bought of Dr. Mathews
one acre of land which joined the fifty acre lot on the east side and
vas bounded by the east line of the present school house yard. On that
?gfg, Dr. Mathews had built a fremed house and was living about the year

After the Southwick family bought it they moved into that house
-and lived there several years, It was burned more than forty years ago
but the old cellar still marks its site..Caleb Southwick is said to
have died in 1819, His widow, "Aunt Phebe" died in 1843, at the age of
79, They had a son David who died when a young men soon after he was
married. Paul was born in 1796, died in 1858, leaving one son, Ir,
David Southwick of Ogdensburg, end five daughters whose present names
are Mary Griffin, Phebe Childs, Deborsh Harris, Hennsh Rowell, and
Jarah Southwick.
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Abigal, daughter of Caleb and Phebe did not marry. She died
in 1870 aged 70 years, Edward Married Maria Miller and died in
Peabody, as old Danvers, Mass is now called, in 1870, at the age of .
63. Eis widow died about April 1, 1889, at the residence of their only

gon% Caleb, who lives in Massachusetts, a few miles south-east of
oston,

At the time of the Massacre of Wyoming by the Tories and Indians
under command of Col. John Butler, in July 1778, there lived in that
valley a family by the name of Baker. It escaped the fate to which
80 many were doomed, death by the tomahawk, by leaving all of their
goods, except what could be carried on the backs of two horses, and

jgurneying on foot to Danby, Vt., a distance of neerly twe hundred
miles, .

One of the sons who with his parents took fthat terrible journey
was named Reuben, his age being 12 years, He grew to manhood in Danby,
married Elizabeth, daughter of Andrew White, who was the grandfather
of the Andrew, who lived and died near Lapham's Mills, and in 1796,
removed with his family and that of his wife's father to old Peru, He
settled first in the Union on land now owned by Richard Keese II but
- after a year or two removed to Taylor Hill where he leased some land
that is said to have been owned by the Schuylers. About the year 1800
he s0ld his lease and moved to Hallock Hill where he bought 12 acres
out of the northwest corner of Gilbert Thew's farm and built a log
house a few rods east of the north end of the Earkness Road, He worked
for Caleb Southwick in the tannery three or four years and then resold
the land to Gilbert Thew and bought of Richerd Hallock, & brother of
Edward, the farin ebout a mile further west in the valley of the Little
AuSable where he lived until 1857, and where his son Stephen still lives,
He worked for Dyer Arnold in the tannery at the foot of the hill on the
farm now owned by Nelson Quarter, and with the help of his sons made
brick just south of the brock which runs through the pasture where
traces of the 0ld brick kiln can s$ill be seen,

" His son Ezekiel and his daughters, Ruth and Mercy were born in
Danby, V%., Amy in the Union, Andrew on Taylor Hill, Gideon and Spencer
on Hallock Hill, Stephen ond Senece on the present Baker farm, the
former in 1808, the latter in 1813, Ruth became the wife of Peter Weaver
of Schuyler Falls, and Seneca in Chesterfield, three miles south of
Clintonville, ' . _

: The some year that Baker came to the Hill = mon nemed James Umber
bought of Garret Thew the acre lot which now belongs to the Osborme
farm, He lived on it severial years but never got & deed. - He too,
worked for Southwick in the tannery, His wife's name was Christiana, .
mﬁd the{ had several children, What became of the family is unknown to
the writer. : '

Probably written in 1889 J. W, Harkness



EARLY SETTLERS OF HALLOCK HILL

David and Deniel Harimess and Davil Hoag.

4 century ago there lived in the town of Adams, county of Berkshire
and State of Massachusetts, a worty Quaker by the name of Adam Harkness,
He was @ solid men in more than one sense. The great arm chair that was
made -expressly for him, because no ordinary one was sufficiently large
to furnish him a comfortable seat, is now in my possession and my two
hundred pounds avoidpois fills but & fraction of its ample capacity.
Like the ancient dweller in the land of Uz he was "one that feared God
and eschewed evil," Before me is one of his autograph letters dated
"Adams, ye' 22 of 3 mo. 1803," in which he reminds his "respected son,
Daniel" of some "expressions in a letter dated 11 of 11 last" and wishes
him to "hartely give up in full obedience and let him that names the
Name of the Lord depart from Enequity." He was & man of some means for
it said that when he came to visit this same Daniel and found him living
on a fifty acre farm he offered to buy one hundred acres adjoining and
make him a present of it, but Daniel answered that the one hundred scre
lot was covered with great overgrown pine trees and he didn't care any-
thing about it. These same overgrown pines were afterward sold for more
than enough to pay for the farm and thus proved to be worth a fortune to
the man who bought it.

This Adem Harkness had two sons and two daughters who came to live
in (0ld) Peru besides about as many who did not. -The oldest daughter,
Thankful, came on' horseback by way of Willsboro, crossed the AuSable at
the fordway ebout a mile above where Keeseville is now located and set-

tled on Hallock Hill in 1799 or 1800, :

David bought the Pifty acres that Stephen Starks had deeded to Lod-
eme Parker now owned by Geo. Arficld, and at subsequent times other lots
adjoining till he owned nearly or quite 500 acres. He Married Ruth Hox~
ey, and after her death found another wife in the southern part of this
State whoss maiden name I have not been able to ascertain. The names

_0f his children were Asa, Joseph, Elizabeth, David, Giddeon, Adem, Wil-
liam, Richard and Mary.

He built the stonechouse where George Arnold now lives. He was e
noted preacher among the Friends or Quakers and it is said that when
the Spirit moved him to speak it was with great power, He removed with
his family to Michigan and his sons Gideon and Richard also became
preachers and the latter continues to preach to this day, the other
. sons and daughters being now dead. It was the practice of the Quaker

preachers of the olden time to take long journeys, stopping with - . .
Friends. or people of their own denomination, and preaching the Gospel
or our Lord or Saviour wherever they covld find a meeting-house, a
school-~house, or any other place weere the people could congregate $o
“hear them., It was while on one of those preaching tours about the year
1810 that an interesting incident occurred to David Earkness that may
be worth relating., He was stopping over night with some Quakers in a
newly settled region not far fron the Pennsylvania line and during the
evening his host asked him if he had never seen water burn. Harkness
replied that it had never been his fortune to mest one who was smart
enough to set a river on fire and was told that he should see the thing
done. The whole family then went out, one carrying e lighted torch and

P
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when they reached the bank of a small stream that flowed near the
house the torch was applied to its surface when lo! a bright flame
gprang up and spread all over the water and followed the stream down
through the woods as fast as it could be seen, That was at least
forty or perhaps fifty years before people began to realize that val-
uable oil could be obtained from the ground and if David Harkmess had
not been & man whose simple statement or affirmation was more reliable
then scme other people oaths it is doubtful sbout this story being be-
lieved by those fo whom he related it.

Thankful Harknegs married William Kirby and settled in the dis-:
trict still called W&st Peru, though now in Ausable, on the farm which
her son Adam, named for his grand-father Harlmess still owns, About
two years, after coming of David Harkmess to old Perw, his brother
Daniel followed him and.on "the forth day of the fifth month in the
year of our Lord on thousend Eight hundred one," "Stephen Starks of
Shatagee in Clinton County and State of New York" deeded to him the
east half of the south half of the west two-fifths of Iot Fo. 5, con-
taining 50 acres of land, A year later, the 2lst of the sixth month
1802, his brother David sold him twenty acres from the south end of
his fifty acrelot making seventy acres in all. This Daniel was,
course, a birth-right Quaker but he was not destined to remain one
very long for when in the fall of 1802 he married Nabby Cochren, the
sister of Captiain David, he committed an- offence which caused him to
be disowned by the Society., He was faithfully "laboured with" but
would not say that he was. sorry for what he had done, so a2t last a no-
tice wan served upon him of which the following is a true copy:

"Daniel Harkmess Having so far Disregarded the Whole-
some Disapline of our Society as to be married to one
not a member amongst friends and by a magistrate for
which he had been laboured with, but without the de-
sired effect,~--Therefore the meeting Unites in Disown-
ing him from being any Longer a member, Untill he makes
Statisfaction to the Meeting, :

Estracted from the minutes of Peru Monthly Meeiing

Held on the 28th of the 4th mo,1803.
By Benj'n Sherman C'l'k,"

The marriage above referred to took place in the log house which
David Cochran the brother of the bride had just sold with his farm to
David Hoag and it was but a few days before the Cochran family moved
from that farm to their new home on what is now called Telegraph.
Street. :

Daniel and his wife at once began house keeping in the log house
where Starks had lived which stood near the northeast corner of the
farm'in vhat is nowthe Harkness Orchard, There they continued to live
till about 1820 when the house was built in which the present Harkness
family 8%il11 lives, Daniel and Nabby Harkness had three sons named
Nehemiah, William and Lovejoy and one daughter, Anna, William and
Lovejoy died in early childhood but Nehemiah, born in 1803, grew up
and married Deborah, the oldest daughter of David Allen Everett and
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His wife Betsy the daughter of Garet Thew, With her he lived upon the
farm where he was born till his death in 1870 and on that farm his wid-

ow 8till lives,

Anna, the daughter of Daniel Harkmess had one son, Daniel D., who
lives in Cerrillos, New Mexico, and a daughter, Mary Ann, who married
Lewis B, leFountain and now lives in Dow City, Iowa, The name of Anna
H%rkneas' husband was David Robinson, - She died in Aug., 1860, aged
about 52,

After Daniel Harkness was disowned by the Quakers for having mar-
ried one of the "World's people" he joinsd the Methodist Church and .
continued a member of it until his death in 1859 at the age of 82, His
wife must have been four years his senior for she died in 1844 at the
age of T1. For 14 years after the marriage of Nehemiah Herkness he and
~his family lived in a house at the south end of his father's original
lot but in 1848 he:moved into the house which his father had built in
1820 and there the Harkmess family still resides, It is on the road
that leads from the main street towards Clintonville,

Deborah Harkness, another sidter of David and Daniel, came to Peru
a few years later, and afterward became the second wife of Stephen
Keese, whose daughter, Elizabeth married Benjamin Smith and was the mo-
ther of Stephen Keese Smith, who still lives in Peru,

In the last half of last Century there lived in the County of
Dutchess, New York, another Quaker farmer named Elijeh Hoag, ILike most
of the farmers of that day, he knew how to do other work besides farming
and there is a stone Quaker meeting house still standing ebout 18 miles
east of Poughkeepsie which is said to have been built by his hands,

About the year 1785 or '90, he removed to Perrisburgh, Vt, with
his wife and family consisting of four sons named Joseph, David, Jon-
athon, and Flihu, and one daughter, Hannah. The oldest son, Joseph,
afterward became famous by haV1ng a wonderful vision while at work in
his field at Monkton, V%., in the year 1803, in which was revealed to
him most of the great events which were to take place in our country
including the Civil war, the abolition of slavery, and other things
vhich have come to pass. Jonathon Hoag settled in ILincoln, Vi,, and
was the father of Elijah who came to 0ld Peru about 1825 and whose
gon Richard now lives in Keeseville, Hannah Hoag married Stephen
Carpenter and her son was the first husband of Mary, the daughter of
Isaac Hellock,

David Hoag married Elizabeth, daughter of Robert Earl and sister
of Persis Hallock, In company with his youngest brother, Elihu, he
went to Starksboro, Vi, and there erected a grist and a saw mill which
afterward burned, The grothers rebuilt these mills but again had the
misfortune to lose them by fire and Devid feeling very much discouraged
-when he received a letter from his brother-in-law Edward Hallock advis-
ing him to sell out his interest there and come and buy a farm in Peru,
He decided it was the thing to do, and so. it came to pass that in 1802
he bought of David Cochran his remaining 12 acres on Hallock Hill, Two
years later he bought of David and John Osborn fifty-five acres that
they had bought of Gilbert and Garret Thew, and some years afterward
he bought of Samucl Pessleéy 8Tracres which lay north of the road dir-,
ectly opposite his house on the Cochran farm. He passed the remainderd
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his life on that farm, dying in 1848 at the age of 78, and his widow
lived till 1856 when she was 87. They had seven daughters, the first :
four of whom were born in Vermont, and four sons named Pliny, Embree,
Russell and Elihy. Pliny was born in 1802, the same year that his ° ..
father bought the Cochran farm, and passed a greater part of his life on
that place, dying in 1874, The number of his children was the same as *
that of his farther's, eleven. :

Embree Hoag, who was by macy erroneously called Emery, was &
teacher for many years., He finally removed to Wisconsin and there died
in 1872. Russell died when a young man., Elihu the youngest son of David
Hoag was born five days after the Battle of Plattsburgh. He married
Ruth Leggett who was the sister of Pliny's Wife, and in 1851 or about -
that year bought of Sherwood Osborn the 60 acre farm which has been the

~original homestead of David Osborn, Senior. A few years later he bought
. of David, 2d, the son of John Osborn, Senior. the farm which lay 4%
rectly west and thus became the owner of one of the best farms in
AuSable. His wife died butna few months ago and he is still living at
the age of 75, He isnthe sole representative of the old Quakers who
formerly owned almost every farm on Hallock Hill though the meetings -
in this vicinity have long sonce been discontimuied for lack of a
sufficient number to make a congregation, he still attends the quart-
erly and yearly meetings of the Society which are held at Glens Falls,

g% %., Ferrisburg, Vt., Portland, Me., and other parts of :the Unitéd
a es'

o

J. W. Harkness.

‘This story was the firgt ome found, wher.those 0f us who have
been studing them and bringing them up to wate, thought they had

been lost. It was in a PIATTSBURGH REPUBLICAN,dated 1889. The paper
wag given by the late Miss Bertha Anson.
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Notes: The Hallocks of Hallaoc Hill--David and Daniel Harkness and
David Hoag.
Article V.

The "overgrown pine tree lot" is now the farm of Mrs. Dorothy
Macomber Felio (Mrs. Clifton Felio)

The George Arnold farm with the large stone house is still in the
4rnold family, the present owners being Mr. and Mrs, Ray Arnold and
son, Robert, and a sister Miss Grace E. Arnold, Their father was
Bion Arnold, son of George.

Richard Hoag of Keeseville married Iucia Pope, sister of Dr. Willis
Pope., Their home was on Beach St., the present home of Charles Smith.
Once owned by Dr. K.J.Severence. '

The William Kirby farm is West Peru was passed down through four
generations, Ieon Stafford being one owner, presently owned by the
Ray Banker family. (Ronald Banker)

The home of Capt. David Cochran on Telegraph Street was the home of
Wesley Byder and is now owned and occupied by his daughfer, Mary Ryder
Mace. (Mrs. Clarence) David Cochran lived on the farm now owned by
Wm. MeCormick. '

Stephen Starks lived on the part of the farm now owned by Dorothy
Macomber Felio (Mrs. Clifton) on the rejected "pine tree lot."

The Thew farms of the Gilbert and Garrett Thew are up a lane. from
the Hallock Hill Rd. One of the farms was once owned by Will
Carpenter, the other is presently owned by Demase Martin. That road
- once:.continued ¢ver:to the J.W., Harkdess.Road.

The Stephen Keese farm is now owned by Avery Stafford.

The "Journal of Joseph Hoag" has been preserved, Miss Grace Arnold
has a copy, revised edition. Joseph Hoag was born April 22, 1762 and
died November 21, 1946, " ”

Isaac Hallock married Phebe Underhill and lived on the farm now
occupied by John T, McCormick., The Edward Hallock farm is now owned
by Roger "Benny" Bezio., David and John Osborn farms, the late Samusl
Gordon, now W, T, McCormick. Samuel Peasley once owned this farm and
is said to have built the brick house. He married Jane, daughtor of
Henry Green and Elizabeth Keess.I. He is also the founder of Peasley-
ville. Ross and Ruth Arnold McRae own a part of this old Cochren farm.

_ Samuel Peasley owned the Hoag-Osborn farm from 1814 to 1834, Elihu Hoag
died in 1905 at the age of 90. His daughter and her husband, Mr. and
Mrs. Horatio owned the farm for many years, on retirement sold it to

- Bemuel Gordon. After his death, his son Forest kept the farm, and then

gold it to William McCormick, Horatio Baker will be remembered as the
donator of the Peru Public Library.

Henry Green, who sold the land for the Quaker Cemetery married
Elizabeth Keesé.I, the daughter of John II and Elizabeth Titus Keese.
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The farm of David Hoag and son Pliny was later owned by Isaac
Roberts and is presently owned by Peter Martin for the last 50 years
or more, Mr. and Mra. Martin celebrated their 50th wedding anniversary
in 1963, Mr, and Mrs. Victor Martin, Peter's parents lived in the early
1900 on the next farm west on one of the Thew farms, now occupled by
Damase Martin, Gilbert and Garrett Thew settled on these farms in 1789;
the first settlers on Hallock Hill.

Dr. Georgis Harkness, in her address before the Quaker Uhlon Society
in 1959, said that her great grendmother was considered worldly as she
wore a "red coat."

Hlstorlans say that the Rogers Road crossed the fordway to & Good—
rich farm, which is now the farm of the late Raymond Pray. The house -
oh the Pray farm and the one on the Wm. Thimpson farm were built by two
brothers, Jeremish and Flihu Hayes,

Notes compiled by Mildred G. Keese and Grace E. Arnold. 1963.



L

FARLY SETTLERS OF HALLOCK HILL
VI
Miller, Bowron, Sanborn, and the Arnmold Brothers

Scrapbook owned by Miss Grace Arnold

Thomas Miller and Keziah his wife came to old Peru in 1804 and
settled on @ farm of 62% acres which lay on the northwestern slope of
Hallock Hill on both sides of the road that descends toward the little
AuSeble,

Miller was at that time 36 years of age, a millwright by trade.and
a good workman as some of the buildings which he erected still testify,
The land on which he settled had formerly belonged to David Harkness
who deeded it in 1812 to Jeremish Sherrill, and in 1817, "in consid-
eration of love, good-will and esteem,” deeded the same to his daughter
Feziah Miller, The stone house,. on the brow of the hill, now owned by
Miss Sallie M, Arnold, was built by Miller in 1822, end in 1830, he and
his wife deeded the farm to their son-in-law Smmuel Boorne who lived
there and cared for his wife's parents during thel r declining years.

Mrs, Miller died in 18%8 and her husband in 1852, when he died he
wag 84 years of age. Besides Mrs, Cornelia Boorne they had four other
daughters, Phebe, the oldest married Emenuel Beardsley, Sally married
Eleazer Arnold, and Betsy, his brother Alvah, Marie became the wife
of Bdward Southvick and lived until the early part of this year, 1889,
Samuel Boorne sold the Miller farm to Eleazer Arnold and removed to
AuSable Forks where he had a wheelwright shop which was destroyed by the
great freshet of 1856 when he moved to Lowell, Mass., where he has
since died,

Sometime- between 1807 and 1810, a man named Jacob Bowron bought
the 100 acre lot which the contented Daniel Harkmess had declined to
accept as a gift from his father because of those "great overgrown pine
trees” which covered it, That lot ley north of both David's and Lo
Daniel's fifty acre lots and between Southwick's fifty acres which lay
east of it and the Miller farm, which was west, Bowron's wife, who is
now mentioned by the old inhabitants by the familiar name of "Aunt
Molly," was an English woman and when the war of 1812 broke out her
sympathies were naturally on the side of her mother country, On the
11th of September, 1814, as the wife and children of Daniel Harkness
were standing in front of their log house listening fo the roar of the
cannon and watching the smoke of battle ag it rose above the waters of
Cumberland Bay, Mollie Bowron came up the road from her own home about.
fifty rods farther north, and raising her hands as if imploring Divine
assistance excleimed in fervent tones, "Success to the British,”

Nabby Harkness, whose heart was as loyal as that of her brother
David Cochran who was at that moment fighting the redcoats on Platts-.
burgh plains, never forgot to her dying day how indignant she felt to-
wards her Tory neighbor, but there is no record of the answer that she
made and perhaps the words would have scorched the paper if they had
been written, It will be remembered that Nabby was not a Quaker,
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Barly Settlers of Hg;lock Hill--Miller, Boyron, Sanborn and the
Arnold Brothers

Jacob and Molly Bowron sold their farm in 181! to Nathaniel Hanson
and removed to the Union where "Aunt Molly" died in 1833, at the age
of 80 at the house of her son Jacob who lived on the farm now owned b
George Howard, The date of her husband's death is unknowm, ‘

When in 1812 Edward Hallock resolved to build the big house where
Harrison Arnold now lives he saw that he would need the help of a car-
penter so he promised Isaac Sanborn who was known to be & good' workmen,
houge and five ecres of land if he would come and do his wood-work, '
Sanborn agreed, the five acres wers measured off from the northwest
corner of the 500 acre lot which Hallock had bought of the Rogers fam-
ily, and a house was built where William Baker's house now stands. It
was finighed on Saturday night and Sunday morming Mrs. Senborn and her
children came to see their new home, It was already for occupation ex-
cept that there were large quantities of shavings made by the carpent-
er's planes lying on the floors, and the mother directed her sons to
gather them in their arms and carry them all to the north room, and
burn them in the great open fire place which in those days was used in-
stead of the more modern stoves. The six boys, Isaac, Ira, John,
William, Daniel and Silas or as many of them as were at that time old
enough to help, enjoyed that task and soon a hot fire was roaring up the
chimney but their fun was of short duration for a spark from the fire-
place fell among the dry shavings which were scattered on the floor and
in & moment the new house was in flames. No wonder the poor family
that had been looking forward to the comforts of their nice new house
could not restrain their grief at thus seeing it vanish in fire and
smoke, but early the next morning Edward Hallock came on with his men
and teams, the other neighbors came and helped more or less and the next
Sunday morning another new house, all complete and ready, stood on the
spot where the first one was burned,

The same vessel that brought old Peter, the ancestors of all the
Hellocks, to America in 1640, had another passenger by name of Isaac
Arnold who is believed to have been the ancestor of all the Arnolds in
this .country. Thet he was a worthy man is proved by the fact that he
was chosen by the townsmen to represent them in the convention at
Jameicg Long Island, in 1673, and either he or a son of the same name
was elected first County Judge of Suffolk County in 1697, In'the early
part of this century, two brothers nemed Daniel and Dyer Arnold lived
in Berlin, Rensselaer County, N. Y. Dyer Arnold was a tanner by trade
end he came to Peru as eafly as 1810 and bought about thirty acres of
land between the farms of Thomas Miller and Reuben Baker and there
built a tammery. :

In 1819, Eleazer Arnold, the oldest son of Daniel, and his brother
Iaban who was a few years younger, left their father's farm in Rensse-
laer County and came on foot to Clinton. As they came over Taylor Hill
to Hallock they stopped in the road and divided equally between them
81l of their money which was about five dollars. Eleazer hired out by
the month to Gilbert Thew and Laban went to work for his unele Dyer in
the tannery.
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Early Settlers of Hallock Hill--Miller, Bowron, Sanborn
and the Arnold Brothers

In 1824, in company with their brother-in-lew, David Spencer, El-
eazer bought the 100 acre farm that Nathaniel Hansen had bought of
Jacob Bowron and in 1827, Eleazer and Labah bought of Spencer his inter-
est in the said farm. Eleazer merried Selly, daughter of Thomas Miller,
and in 1835, bought of David Harkness the farm where his son, George,
now lives and afferward bought the Miller farm and the Edward Hallock
farm 21l of which, except the Harkness which he so0ld to George, he owned
$ill his death in 1888, He moved to the Hellock Hill farm in 1851 and
there passed the remainder of his years, His wife died about the year
1844, leeving sons named George, Henry, Stutely and Harrison and
daughters, Jane Ann, who married Richard Thew and Sallie M. Another
son named Franklin who was older than George died when a child, Henry
died when-a young man, and Stutely went to the war and came home sick
and died about the year 1864. Eleazer married a second wife named
Mariette Gordon, who died about 1852, leaving a daughter named for her
mother who is now Mrs. Charles Wells, of Hancock, Mass.

Laban Arnold bought hout his brother Eleazer's interest in the
Bowron farm about 1835. The married Katie Beardsley and had two sons
naned Henry and Richard and four dsughters, Hannah, Sarah, Maria, and
Clarissa. Richard died when a child, After the death of his first
wife he married Della Ann Gaines and had two more daughters named Elma
and Olive. He bought the Southwick farm of 51 acres, and about ten
acres more that lay north of it but sold his brother Eleazer about 30 .
acres from the west side of his Bowron 100 acre lot, thus keeping in
the whole Tarm about 130 acres. He died in the fall of 1866 and his
widow now lives in Keeseville with her daughter, Mrs. Elma Hart.

A fev years after the coming of Eleazer and Laban, their other
brothers Alvah, Ashley and Daniel and their . sisters, Louisa, wife of
David Spencer, Polly and Sally inn came also to old Peru and lastly
tgeir father Daniel Arnold sold his farm in Berlin and followed his
children,

He was living with his wife in the Southwick house when it borned
and afterward lived in the Edward Hallock house $ill his death in 1848.
His widow married Solomon Clark of Peru but died many years ago. His
sons and daughters are now all gone, the oldest son, Eleazer being the
last. His age was 91.

The old log school-house in which the sons and daughters of the
earlisst settlers were educated, stood on the south side of the road
about midway between the present residences of Harrison' Arnold and Eli-
hu Hoag. That is absolutely all that is known concerning it by the
present inhabitants of the neighborhood. Though it must have been built
less then one hundred years ago and doubtless wes used at least twenty
or twenty-five years, there appears to be no record of it in existence

.and even the names of the teachers who there found employment are un-
known to the people of this genmeration.
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. If angone now living was & pupil in that school~house and cen give
any ‘information concerning it, that one is probebly Garret Thew of
Rand Hill. If his memory reaches back to those old times and he can
throw any light upon this-or any other dark point in our early history,
a chapter of his personal recollsctions written by someone who can
conveniently heve an interview with him would be of interest to many
besides the writer of these imperfect sketches. ,

' J. VW, Herkness

Dated 1889
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Notes: Barly Settlers of Hallock Hill, Osborn, Whitcomb, Cochran and
Starks, Hallock, Southwick and Baker, Miller, Bowron, Sanborn
and the Arnold Brothers,

The Hon. George P. Hallock (born 1806) lived on the River Road,
which Mr, Harkness sometimes called the Hallock Road. He married Polly
Calkins of the Calkins Road es his first wife, He had three. The
farm is now owned by Robert Sherman., George E. Hallock, sone of George
E. lived on the farm where he was born. After his death, his widow
s0ld the farm to Datus Clark II and she and her son, Willism built a
house in Peru Village William was an accomplished violinist. He married
Marien Turner of Plattsburgh and moved to Caelifornia end he died there.

The George Issac Hallock (1860~1891) was the father of Harry David
Hellock (1889-1957) of Hallock Hill and Plattsburgh.

The Whitcomb farm bought by Edward Hallock in 1797 and sold to his
brother, Issac Hallock in 1841, was passed down through two gensrations
of Hallocks, and is now owned by John T. McCormick.

The farm just east of the Whitcomb farm, on the corner of Hellock
Hill Road and Union Road, is the additional one Edward Hallock bought
and where he built such a large house. It was later owned by Harrison
Arnold and now owned by Roger ("Benny") Bezio.

The Blihu Hoag farm is now owned by William McCormick, The brick
house was built by Samuel Peasley who woned the farm from 1814-1834,
He removed to Peasleyville for whom the hamlet is named. He married
Jane (reen, daughter of Henry Green and Elizabeth Keese I. Elihu Hoag
died on this farm in 1905 at the age of 90, It is presently owned by
Wao. McCormick, - :

The Osborn farm is an interesting one. The house was the Quaker
Academy at the Union which Osborn bought and moved to its present lo-
cation. At the time of ihese writings it was owned by Mrs. Joseph
kllen, later Frank Felio, Francis Hogen and now Nrs. Harold Perlee.

The Baker farm, next to the.one at the foot of the hill going into
Harkness, was poassed from Reuben Baker to his son, Stephen and is still
owned by Boker descendants, Mrs, Mary Goff,

Thomas Miller's daughter, Sally, married Bleazer Arnold I, father
of Harrison and George Arnold. The Arnold Homestead which Eleazer pur-
chased form David Harkness in 1835 is presently owned by Ray Arnold
end his son, Robert, Four generations of Arnolds have lived in the
seme stone house which was built about 1800. :
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Articles published sbout 1888, by J. W, Harkmess
Notes by Grace E. Arnold end Cora M. Stafford 1966

The Grace E. Arnold scrapbook contains all of the six articles on the
Early Settlers of Hallock Hill,

Wm/Bowron merried Mary Keese, daughter of Richard Keese I and Amna
Hallock ; .



ROGERS ROAD ,
The Farms Upon It a Century Ago.

Next in importance to the main or post roed among the thorough-
fare of 0ld Peru one hundred years ago was that highway called Rogers
Road because it was made under the direction of Platt Hogers, one oﬁ
the thirth associates of Zephaniah Platt in the purchase of the various
patents and locations that bear his neme, That road ran north and
south across the town of Peru passing through the Union as the Quaker
Settlement was called (and still is) and about a half mile west of
Cockran's Mille (first called Ha: cketaff's) in whet is now Perulv1ll-
age. It was made between 1790 and 1793 and was from three to five
years older than that part of the main road which croseed the High
Bridge and ran from there southwerd to the Willsborough line, that
having been laid out and established by the commissions of highways,
March 26, 1796, though it may have been made by the Commissioners of
Highways and used e little before that date, Where it crossed the
Willsborough line, the two roads; keéping nearer to Augur Pond and
striking the fordway of the Great AuSable about two miles above the
present village of Keeseville, (About where the Northway now crosses
the river) Crossing the flats on what is now the farm of Dr. Talmadge(!)
(Raymond Pray Sr. Farm) and then turning upstream ran westward to the
east line of Lot No. 20 of Platt's 12,000 location,(2) and then turn-
ing north it followed the direction of the lot lines for three miles
to the north of that location (Great Location) which is the south line
of Richard Keese farm. (Merritt S. Keese). There the road turned eest
and ren about 12 rods along the north line of what is now LeRoy Sig-
nor's land (the Signor house has long since fallen into decay. ILand
now owned by Raymond Trombley) to the south corner of Capt. Everett's
Lot No. 1% of the Great Location. (Now Keese property) which is now
the southcast corner of Richard Keese's elm tree lot. There the road
furns north and ran just where it runs today across the town of Peru
to what was then the south line of Plattsburgh but now Schuyler Falls,
crossing that line three-fourths of a mile east of Stephen Weaver's
Corners. (3) '

It is said that this road began in Warren County and continued
north to the Village of Champlein passing through the present town of
Schuyler Falls, Platisburgh, Beekmentown, and Chazy, and the John §.
Banker of West Plattsburgh lives upon a section of this old road.
(Banker Road) At least one man mentioned upon the assessment roll of
Plattsburgh for 1798, for that item reads, "Asa Hayes, 100 acres ad- '
joining David Beach and dogers koad, 1 log house (28 dollars) MNr. N.R.
Weaver of Peru says that he has faint recollection that he has some-
times read that there wes once & road running north from near the Lyman
Thompson place now owned by Chauncey Turner ? the late Claude M. Turner
1965) That undoubtedly the section of the Rogers Roed that crossed the
present town of Schuyler Falls and has been ebandoned so long that the
knowledge of it has almost faded from the memory of man., It would be
interesting to know what the old residents of Schuyler Falls and Peru
can tell about that abandoned réaed. But it is only that part of that
that was in Peru 100 years sgo thet I have undertaken to describe, All
of ‘it that lies south of Richard Keese's south line has been changed
from its original location, one chenge has been made in 1799 and the
other in 1803,(4) since which the road has run straight south from the
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ROGERS ROAD

Union past the Bdward Hallock place now owned by Harrison Arnold (Roger
"Benny" Bezio) then bearing eastward over the top of the hill.(Taylor
Hill, south side--Hallock Hill, north side) and down through the Taylor
neighborhood, crossed the river at Keeseville, instead of the Fordway.
(5) 0f course, that road to Keespville is not the Hogers Road asnd I on-
1y mention it as being now used :nstead of that one which is so often
mentioned on the old assessment roll of Peru, '

If there were any settlers in Peru upon the Rogers Road south of
the Fordway in 1798, they do not seem to be mentioned upon that assess-
ment roll. North of the Fordwey, the first farms were found upon what
has ever since been called Taylor Hill where the land then belonging to
the heirs of Zacheous Newcomb (a land broker) lived Williem Taylor (the
famous old Deacon of the Baptist Church) Stephen Taylor, William Banker,
and Samuel Brown, Those were undoubtedly the farms now owned by Moses
Lattrell, John Davey, Thomas Collins and James Hayes. (6) The Taylors
certainly beceme the owners of the farms on which they lived and both
Banker and Brown lived upon their's several years, whether owners or
lessess, I am unable o say. It should be remembered thot in 1798,
the Rogers Road ran through the pastures west of those Taylor houses,
only one farm, that of William Banker (7) being located on the road
while the Iwo Taylors were said to live neer it and Samuel Brown's 100
acres was on & By-road joining William Taylor. Another not mentioned
_ on the roll, lived at that time on the Rogers Road in what is now
Jemes Hayes pasture (Raymond Bezio) were a number of old apple trees
that etill mark the location of Reuben Baker's house. (8) Passing over
the hill north of that settlement, the traveller came to the farms of
Bdward Hallock, of which the present farm of Harrison Arnold forms &
part, the remainder being owned by six or eight different persons. .

On the west side of the roed opposite to the north part of Hallock's
lay the farm of David Osborn which was owned by Elihu Hoag. (William‘
MeCormick)

: North of Hallock's lot was No. 3 of the 12,000 location, was No.13

of the Great Location, the west part of which, lying on Rogers Road,
belonged to Capt. Edword Bverstt, "first settler" of the Towm of Au- . ..
Sable but it is not & part of Richard P. Keese (known as Percy Keese).
On the west gide of that road opposite Capt. Everett's farm was Lot No.
22, containing 418% acres of Richard Keese I, the grandfather of the
present owner. (Richard Percy Keese III) In the northesst corner of
that lot was the one acre assessed to Waterman and Wood, Urish Water-
men and Daniel Wood, blackemiths (Henry Sorrell). If that frame house
is etill standing (1966) is over 100 years old. North of Capt. Ever=-
ett's was a two-acre lot of Peter Sailly, non-resident, (Plattsburgh)
and next to it the farm of Henry Green, which now belongs to Hiram Hey-
worth. (Geo. Curtis) It wag from Henry Green that the Quekers bought
in Jen. 1801 (Deed recovied in County Clerk's 0ffice) the three acres
of land for a meeting house lot and burying ground. (See marker erect-
ed in 1959) bordering upon the road which forms the line betwsen the
bresent town of AuSable and Peru.  (Closed for many years, re-opened 063
and given original name, Brown Road) Passing that road, we come to the
100-acre farm of Henry Delord, now owned by James Felio (Lester Bombard
1929~1964) (9) and north of that Nathaniel Platt's 1799 acres that lay
on Rogers Road, it being known as the George Beadleston farm (now Ray-
pond Trombly).
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Next we come to the farm of John Keese, the father of all the
other Keeses who emigrated from Dutchess Co. in 1789-1790. He lived
on the east side of the road opposite the present residence of Nelson
Lapham, (that farm stayed in the Lapham name until the death of Diantha
Laphan Leuranatis, March 1963) (The present owner is Kermit Irwin)
but this farm comprised the Richard Lephem farm and the James Redmond
farms which lie on both sides of the road. (Since has been owned by
Wo. Severence, Martin Conway, now Avery Stafford.)

North of John Keese lived his son, Stephen (also Oliver) (10) .on
the west side where Sanford R. Forrence now lives (11) and joining
him was the 212 acres assessed to Benj. Brown, now owned by Ezra Harm-
idue where Nathan Bigelow now lives, (12) His name was sometimes '
spelled Bown, and sometimes Bourn. On the west side-ofthe road wae the
Haff farms of 325 acres, now owned by his grandson, Schuyle Haff, (13)
North of John Haff's was the 200-acre farm owned by Rowland Stafford
including all the land of the east of the road between 0. K. Smith's
north line and the roed or street which runs west from Peru village.

West of that road was the farm of Stephen Ketchum { his daughter
married Henry Delord) now owned by Michael Davern, Ketchum's lend
joined Bbenezer Olmstead whose tenant lived at the four corners where
Senford McIntyre now lives {McIntyres Corners).

Lawrence Ryley or Riley had 100 acres on the Rogers Road joining
Olmstead which afterward must have been the Elisha Button farm, (Button
was the first sheriff of Clinton County) (14) where George Adcock now
lives, and north of him the farms of Jonathan Griffith, now owned by
Michael Downs and Elisha Arnold now owned by John L. Clark, On the
east side of the road, north of McIntyres Corners lived Samuel Taylor
on the 100 acres owned by Zacheous Newcomb, and across the road from
Blisha Arnold lived Stukely Arnold on the farm now owned by Myers. (14)

North of Elisha Arnold on the west side of the road lived Simeon
Bells (Abraham LeMar) on the 210 acres joining a farm of 120 acres ass-
essed to Wm., Lowing. (Francis Hughes). How far that farm went I cannot
say but far enough to include the farm of Nathan i. Weaver (Francis
Hughes) with those lying south of it and north of John Clark's. On the
sast side of the road was.the 700-acre farm of John Cochranm, Sen.,
which may have comprised the present farm of Horace Brand (Donald Cro-
mie), John Ricketson (Davis Dairy Farm) end Peter Soulia (Arthur LaMar)
or may not have gone so far,

I have reached the end of my rope, who owned the rest of the land
between John Cochran, Sen., and the fown line I am unable to say., A4 .
lot of 25 acres on Rogers doad was assessed to. Isaac Cole, whose name
elsewhere was gpelled Coal, but it was said to have joined Stephen
Keese, That may have been where Peter McGee now lives but this Isaac
Coal worked .his road tax in the district with Simeon Eells and not with
Stephen Keese, In that Simeon Bells road district which extended "from
‘Olmstead's southeast line® there was also in 1798, besides the parties
already mentioned & Joseph Arnold, 2 Christopher Dennie and an Asa Call

. %f there is a men living who can tell where any of them lived it
is no '
J. W, Harkness
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Notes: Rogers Road--The Farms Upon It a Century Ago,

4,

5

o

80'

9,

10,

fompIled Ly the late MIldred G, Keese and Grace E Armold,
1963-64 '

The Northﬁay crogses the river about where the old ford was,
The lot owned by Capt, Edward Everett is east of the highway and

in 1965 is owned by Raymond Trombley, The Richard Keese that Mr.,
Harkness writes about is the father of R. Percy Keese, father of

~ Merritt S.

The Stephen Weaver's 0ld home was once a tavern and 1s now owned

by John J. Coffey, Supt. of Highways for Clinton County.

Harrison Arnold place now owned by "Benny" Roger Bezio, Taylor
Hill so-called for the Taylor families that lived upon it. Wil-
liam Taylor I came to this section early in 1800 and in 1810 be-
came the second Deacon of the first Baptist Church of Keeseville
and it is he who did so much to raise the funds to pay for the
first church building, now St., John's Hall,

The changes in the Rogers Road in 1799 and 1803, have been known
since 1799 as the Taylor Road, For many years, it was thought

of as Basket Ave, Gilbert Spooner lived on that road and made
baskets and caned chairs with splint, The one in 1803, is desig-
nated on a map of Keeseville dated 1869 ag Hill St, The name has
since been given back o it because of the new housing projects
in the last ten years,

The Taylor farms are owned as follows today:
William Taylor--Moses Latterall--Julins Tellier
Stephen Taylor--John Davey--Wm, P, Davey
William and Samuel Brown--Thos Collins--Raymond Bezio
William Banker--James Hayes--01d Fred Bezio home, now owned
by a son, Raymond Bezio :

Wiiii;ﬁ Banker and Reuben Baker, the forebear of all the Bakers
lived on this 0ld road back of the present Bezio farms,

gilgiam McCormick bought this old farm from the heirs of Samuel
‘oraon,

One of the early owners of the Beadleston-Trombly farm was Nathan-
iel Hanson, Nathaniel Hanson first lived on Hallock Hill, The
home of James Felio and later Lester Bombard (37 yrs.) was once
the Orothodox Quaker Church, It was sold for $150 in about 1903
or 1904 to James Felio, who had it moved to its present location,

Stephen and Oliver Keese came in about 1794, following their bro-
ther, Richard Keese I (present Keese farm) Stephen married Ruth
Hull in Dutchess Co, Oliver married Pauline lapham, The Laphams
came from Danby, Vi, They owned the present Northern Orchard

/farm, now owned by Marcus Mulbury, Other names that are familiar
/ who were owners are Richard Harrington and Amos Avery, Many of -

* us can remember when there was a road from Union Road around that

house to the Starch Factory-in Goshen,
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Rogers Road and the Farms Upon it a ‘Century Aeo,

11,

12,

13,

T 14,

15.

16.

Perhaps following the Keeses Johnathan Ricketson, brother of
Abednego, who lived on Arthur Road once lived,  Solomon Clark II
once lived on this farm and his daughter, Mary Eliza married
Sanford R, Forrence, as his first wife. This Sanford R, Forrance
wag a brother of William, Fred, Raymond, Sarah, Eliza Clark, Mrs.
Job Sherman,

This Nathan Bigelow was a son of Chas, Bigelow whose old home is
in the Clark neighborhood now owned by Rolla Wakeman., This farm
as far as we know was the Chauncey Stoddard farm, Mr. Stoddard

was the first church ¢lerk of the Congregational Church in Peru.
He has always been remembered for hlS perfect Spencerian writing.
Now Eerl Ladd.

The Haff farms are now owned by Richard Stafford and John Neyen-

‘house. In the early days of the John Haffs the farms were reach-

ed by a lane., The only other farm beyond the Stoddard farm was
the Rowland Stafford farm near the R R crossing.

Flisha Button was a member of the Baptist Society, In the mo-

- mentoes of the First Baptist Church in Keeseville is a document
" bearing his signature. In 1804, he headed a committee to wait

on the Solomn Clark I to ascertaln if they would be suitable
members ¢of the Baptist Church, as there was no Methodist Society
in Peru at that time., The Button farm on Button Brook is now
owned by the heirs of John McCarrell, The Elisha Arnold and John
L, Clark property is now Champlain Orchards, recently owned by
Silas Clark, deceased. That farm had the first planting of
McIntosh apple trees in this section by Mr. John L, Clark,
Zacheous Newcomb was a land broker., McIntyres Corners are the
corners just south of the Peru Central School.

John Richetson was the grand-father of Marguerite Morse Wright.
Her mother was Eva Ricketson,

Mrs, Amna Down FitzPatrick says her father bought his farm from
J. D, White. Both names Johnathan Griffin and J. D. White may be

found on the map of Peru for 1869,

 Article sent by Dr. Georgia Harkness in 1963, Notes compiled

by Mildred G, Keese and Grace E. Arnold.
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4n Historic Spot on 01d Rogers Road
1838

This is a gtory of an historic spot on the 0ld Rogers Road that
should not be forgotten. '

The "Patriotic War" or sometimes termed "Pepineau War" (a smug-
glers var) began in Canada in 1838. While it was no great conflict,
thers was considerable excitement, In fact several companies of sym-
pathizers were independently formed and joined the patriots of Canada

“in their rebellion., ¥inally, President Van Buren issued a proclamation
warning all citizens of the United Stetes to ebandon their designs or
suffer the penalities incurred by their conduct.

So great was the sympethy for the rebellious Canadians, that sev-
eral citizens raided the State Arsenal in Elizabethtown. One day in
January, 1838, the mugkets were found to be missing. One sleighload
wae found et the famous "Bostwick's Stand." in & born covered with hay
and the other wes found in a school house on Taylor's Hill neer Eeese-
ville. The Canadians had failed to get them before they were recovered

History of Essex County by Doc Smith

‘The old red school house on the Keeseville Plaing which leter be-
came the property of the late George Waeshington Smith of Keeseville was
the site of what is now & housing development on Hill 3t.

The school house stood almost directly back of the present home of
Jogeph Turner and near & stone guarry nearby, It was’large enough to
accommodate twenty-five pupils. This guerry was also operated at one -
time by Mr. Smith as recently as 1906.

Teachers of that school are still remembered by relatives and
friends who still live in this area,

Emily Arnold, eléest davghter of Alvah Arnold, one of the four Ar-
nold brothers who came tc Hallock Hill in the early 1800's and settled
near the brook not far frcm the school house. She taught there at
legst 100 years ago. Mr. Peter Martin of Hallock Hill {ells of visit-
ing this school while it was in session about 80 years ago. His cous-
ing John, Alfred and Ellen Perkett were three of the pupils.

4 more recent teacher was Minnie Murphy, a sister of the late
Will Murphy vho lived on Hallock Hill opposite the farm home of
Roger Bezio. That property was once part of the Edward Hallock
farm, Minhie Murphy also taught in the stone school house on the
Hallock Hill Road and was the first teacher of Franx Arnold.

This school house still gtands and is a dwelling.

The school house on the plains was subsequently sold to a
Mr. Fleury and moved to Pine St. and used a8 abarn,

Above notes given by Miss Grace E. Arnold
1966
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THE OLL MAIN ROAD THROUGH WILLSBOROUGH IN 1799

Essex County was formed from Clinton, March 1, 1799, one hundred
years ago last Wednesday,

From that date to Feb, 20, 1802 when the town of Chesterfield was
taken from Willsborough the northern boundary of Willsborough was the
Great AuSable. .

I now propose to describe as briefly as possible the route by
which the post-road, otherwise designated inofficial records of that
day as "Rogersss new road," crossed that town from the high bridge ac-
cross AuSable Chasm to the old ferry south of the present town of Bssex,

If eny who have read my recent article "The Main Road of 014 Peru"
discovers statements in this one that disegree with that, I can only
explein by saying that in the month that elapsed since that was written
certain facts concerning the original location of the old road have
come to my knmowledge and caused me to realize that the chenges of &
century should be taken into account in describing the course of a road
ag ancient as the one under comstruction, : '

That "Rogerses new road" crossed the chasm on the high bridge and
ran up the river to the present site of Hotel AuSable Chesm, no will
deny and that it followed the brow of the hill to the Asa Adgate farm
now owned by Frank Signor is, I believe, generally agreed. But, from
that place it kept more to the eastward than the present road rums,
crossing the farms now owned by Henry York, Elihu B, Hoag, and Mrs.
Sloan, passing between the house and the barn on the last mentioned
farn and there continuing southward came down the hill and across the
Page {Paige) farm and that is now owned by Mr. Moses Bombard, I am
.convinced that in 1788 Asher Adgate lived upon that Page farm and ‘that
his "220 acres on the main road joining Ismac Wright" included the
Whitney farm now owned by Wesley Bigelow, Three elderly gentlemen, %%
with excellent memories Luther Whitney, Elihu B, Hoag and Elihu H, Hoag
agreee that~Captain Isamc Wright certainly lived on the Sloan farm and
Mr. Whitney says that Barzilla Handy lived on the Conway farm where
Thos. F. Conway of Plattsburgh was born and brought up. _

Asher Adgate's land joined Isaac WPight's and Barzilla Handy's and
therefore could have been no where else than the place above designated
though no one seems to remember that he ever lived there and several
assert that he did live on the Patrick gmvey ferm. -

A 1ittle south of Asher Adgate's stood a school house and from
‘that in 1799 a road was laid out "Running West or thereabouts, crosaing
a brook to Zadock Bates (Baits) and on near a West Corse to Rogerses
old Road be from the beginning in the whole distarce ftwo miles and one-
half then north on Rogerses old Roed to the fordway." :

The assessment roll of Peru for 1798 says that Zadock Bates had
"350 acres of from the road joining number one" and we know that Lot
No. 1 includes the Doughty farm, The land of Truman Skeels, Lots Ko, 3

.and 4 of Adgate's Patent, joined that Lot No, | on the east and the
Macomber's Lots 2 and 5 of Thorn's Patent joined on the south and west
which proves that Zadock Bate's land was north of the Doughty place.

The cross road above mentioned is believed to have run across the south-
ern slope of Prospect Hill above the present residence of Luther Rowe,

This entry appears on the oldtown book of Peru over the date 2nd
of November 1797: "Rogerses New Road Altered, beginning sizty rods south
of Asher Adgate's Dwelling house thence south westerly Corse to the
south line of Peru,"

' It is believed that the southwesterly course took it across the
lends now owned by Benjamin Thew and Mr, Buckley, the Lansing farm is
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Willsborough Road

now owned by Edwin H. Merrill and the farm of Edwin Bigelow to the
Mussen corners where on the land now occupied by the school house John
Macomber's log house stood, as proven by this entry on the o0ld town
book dated March 2, 1799, "One cross Road frem John Macomber's on the
post road the north side of his house then to Elihu Briggs and Continue
%o Mr. Rogerses old Road being about three Quarters of a Mild,"

From John Macomber's southward I will not attempt to say whether
the post road to Willsborough Falls ran where the present highways does
or not as far as the Mace farm but from that point on I know that it
did not, for instead of running southwesterly toward Pok 0' Moonshine
a8 Rogers old Road to Sandy Hill or Warren County did, this road dlimbed
over the mountain range where it can be easily traced today and came
down into the valley where the so-called "shun pike road" now runs,
crossing the Hathaway farm and striking the line of that road at the
tae farm of Frank P. Mussen. It then ran eastward where the High-
lands Furnace was afterward built. Passing around the north of Warm
Pond, it turned south and randalong the east side, instead of the west
side where the present road runs, and after passing the south end it
continved across the lots now owned by Mrs. J.B. Fisk and Mr. Henry
Jacobs being back of the mountain that we now pass as we drive along
the gresent road past Long Pond or Echo Lake as it has receantly been
named,

The old road ran down into the valley where Patrick Cushion's -
house stands, then up pest Aiken Currier's residence and through the
Currier orchard striking the line of the present road below Mr,
Currier's and withing two miles of Willsborough Depot.

From that point it followed the course of the present highway
with but slight variationa down to the foot of the mountain and from
there through Willsborough Falls Village where it crossed the Boguet
River on a bridge said to have been built by Platt Rogers in 1790 and
from there through Bssex which was then a part of Willsborough to a
point near Split Rock and thence southward to the landing ferry
established by Platt Rogers from Basin Harbor on the Vermont side of
the Iake :

v The last statement is made upon the authority of Wason's History
of Esgex County, but for my information concerning the course of the
0ld roed over the mountain I am indebted to Theodorus Sheldon Esq., of
Willsborough who has lived by the side of this road near the Falls all
his life and is probably better informed upon all points of local
history than any other man in the county. Mr. Sheldon tells me that
he can point out the sites of taverns thet once stood beside that old
abendoned road, that stage coaches carrying passengers as well as the
U.S. Mail went along it in both directions night and day carrying in ¢
night $in laterns with holes punched in the tin to let the rays of the
tallow candle shine out, and that the part of the road that passes his

“house was en Indien trail before the coming of William Gilliland,

the old pioneer whose mortal remains lie in the grave yard at Essex,
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When people speak of going "over the mountain® fo Willsborough
they use an expression that has been passed down from father to son
through several generations, A century ago travellers to and from
Willsborough did go over the mountains without going up or down any
steeper or longer hills than are found upon the roads of AuSable and
Peru,

J. W, Harkness

Written in 1898

This story was taken from the
Plattsburgh Republican, dated
March 11, 1899,

It is one of the 0ld newspapers
given to us by the late Miss Bertha Anson
in 1963,
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‘thes: The Main Road Through Willsborough in {790

These notes have been prepared by Mr. Mgurice Turner of Keeseville

N. 1.

Name

Asa Adgate, first Town Clerk of
024 Peru

Late Charles Barber home

Wallace Finne Farm opposite

Henry Ybrk

Col, Begelow

Flihu Briggs ‘Brick house

Anna & Ruth Hoag .

Mrs. Sloan and
Capt. Iseac Wright

Riley Page and -
Moges Bombard
Asher Adgate

Luther Whitney and
Wegley Bigelow

Elihus B, Hoag lived on
Halloek Hill

Borzillo Hondy
Conway (Birthplace of
Lt. Gov, Conway)

~ Patrick Davey (House foundation
on corner, Hammond House)

Zadock Baits (Bates)
Doughty Farm

Pruman Skeels

Luther Rowe (Norman Rowe)

Benj. Thew 1795

Pat Buckley

Who lives there in 1965, 1966
Frank Signor, now Maynard Soper

Micheel McCusker
¥mo Stone
Robert Pasho

Believe this John LaRose place
house moved to Hugh Bishop farm

"Dau, of Riley Paige, Ellen married

W, W, Finmey I, ZFlace now owned
by Roy Bombard

At the above ‘place

Meud Begelow and the late
. Roy Bigelow ,

Delore LeClair owns land

. Mre., Walter Davey and son Werren

West of the Post Road, "of from"

Site of Claubonnie, now Geo.
' Beckwith (Hiram Jordan)

Arline Taylor Thompson and son,
James

' Ruth Thew Finney and Herry Finney

Place has been continously in the
Thew name ’

., Claubonnie owned by Hermie Jordons

parents, then Robare, then Chas.
Breen, now Mr, & Mrs. Geo. Beck- .
will Originally Elihu Briggs
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/
Notes: The 0ld Willsborough Read in 1790

Neme Who lives there now 1965-1966
John

Macomber Farms, 0ld Wendel Lansing John Overhold, wife Peggy Harkness
farm, later E. H. Merrill after ke

moved from farm in West Peru (Emma

Merrill old home until they moved to

Cheeterfield S5t. Keeseville

Edwin Bigelow Arch Lacey

John Mecomber. See Overholt

-John Mussen Corners 4 Heirs of Sidney Ford (Glen 01air)

Elihu Briggs Site of old (laubonnie Hotel
(Buel Briggs) Wm. Robare, Geo, Beckwith, 1965

Alfred Mace and Alfred Mace ~ Owned by heairs of Alired Mace,

Corners Bogworth Tavern, Chester- Mrs. Bishop. Now Major Knight, SAC
field P. 0. on this cormer 1813, Have kept the old style and did
some restoring

Hathaway Parm Part of Burnhem Perk bought by
: J, D. Burnham
Frank P. Mugsen Donald Mussen

Warm Pond, (Highland Forge lake~old  Burmham Park
name) now owned by Koert Burnham

Mr. J.B, Fiske

Mr, Henry Jacobs : Jacob lot part of Burnham Park,
bought by J. D. Burnham

Long Lake, now called Echo Iake Now a camp and Motel site

Patrick Cushing Farm near Currier house ag one

goes pagt Currier's, it can be .
seen from the Valley, Or Willsboro
Mt. has a blue roof. Owned by
Catherine Currier Lawrence and
continupgmsinnO”rrikwrfﬁadlyy

hiken Currier
Son, Gilmas Currier and wife Mary Cohern Catherine Lawrence Currler
says home is still in the family and has been for about 150 years.
The house was built by her people. It is on Willsboro MNt, and has
& blue roof,

Other bits of interesting history on the old w1119boroggh Road

The 0ld Willsboro Koad seems %0 have begun at fhe top of the hill
on vhat is now the 4uSable Chasm property and proceeded to the Maymard
Soper farm (Signor, Adgate) (The road did not go through that neighbor-
hood as we know it today) The road went back of Henry York(Michael
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The 014 Willsborough Road  MNotes

NCCusker) back of Elihu B, Hoag (present owner Robert Pasho) to lrs.
Sloan John LaRose farm) That house has been moved to the Eugh Bishop
farm, -Then over the hill (Note: All roads and houses for the most
part were built on high ground) to the Riley Paige farm (Moses Bombard,
present owner, Roy Bombard) In 1798, Paige, Bombard farms were owned
by 4sher hdgate in the Adgate Patent. The Whitney farm later VW.sley
Bigelow, owned by his children Maud and the late Roy Bigelow, Barzilla
Handy farm, present owner Delore LeClair from hig father Gilbert. The
T. P, Conway farm or the Joghua VWells farm was later a part of the
Carlos Rowe place. (See story by J. ¥, Harkness, "The ibandoned Farat')
In 1876 County Atlas of Esmex County indicates a road from the Sloan
farm (John LeRose) to Cyrus Andrew's (The Bardford Brinton farm) The
road, at present, meeting Dougles highway. The school house mentioned
stood on the site now occupied by the new home of Ronnie Ryan (near .
fork in the road to Douglas dock and the Highland Road,

1 think the Prank Mussen place is now owned by Jonald Hussen or
heirs. The road turning off that left on Willsborough Mt., part of
the Thomas (dohn Lynch-George Delorme farm,

Maaor Knizht (formerily of Plattsburgh Air Force Base) now owns
the Alfred Mace farm and in the early days the Bosworth Tavern, The
first Chesterfield Post Office in 1813 is across the way from the
ﬁouse. Mrs. Enight has an cld saddle bag found in the walls of the
ouse.

On Willsboro Mountain near the Harrington (Crowningshield) near
the road to Reber, which still stands, is the old Cemetery and if
followed through this would have come on to the 0ld road.

Belows the Harrington house (Crowningshield) the Cooley place,
later John Flora end geing down the hill stands the Currier house. If
one were to stop here looklng over the valley, would notice the Cush-
ing farm

The Alfred Mace Farm--Mary Bishop Inglebretson, daughter of Nelle
Mace Bishop sold the old farm back to her uncle, James Bert Mace. I
believe all of the Mace family were born there, Nellie, Catherine and
J. Bert Mace.

Before coming to Patrick Davey's (Mrs. Walter) there was a very
0ld house in the pasture where the Davey's first lived, then they
moved into the Beaumont house, The old house has fallen down and only
the cellar remains. Also on the same®side of the road near the cormer
turning to Luther Rowe's (now Mrs. Arline Taylor Thompson and son,
James) is the foundation of another building and directly across the
opposite ‘side are ruins of an old log cabin., This was on the proper-
ty of Beckwith (Pat Buckley) down the road to the brick yard of John
Mussen near the brook, small brick building, the office of the brick-
yard. Somewhere near the present Davey farm was the Town of Chester--
field burying ground. No markers remain. It is believed to be one
of the oldest in the Town.

The Harrington Place is a very old house, one with the large
square chimney in the center of the hip roof.
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The 014 Willsborough Road  Notes

 The Theodofus Sheldon (Geneadlogy of Sheldon familg in the
.¥illsborough Library given by Diantha Lapham Iauranatis) is one,gf the
older houses on the left hand side of the road, going past the Wills-
. borough Depot toward the Village.

In talking with Ruth Thew Finney (Mrs. Harry) she said the 01d
Willsborough Road is part of the old Drake Road back of the Benj.
Farm (1798% Deed dated 1800, and it was believed to come down from
- Cyrus Andrews (road turning left below Maud Bigelow Farm) acrose Big-
elow and Paige farm. The road was built to by-pass the brook.

Claubonnie owned by Hirme Jordon burned many years ago ad stood
where the George Beckwith's do today. Pat Buckley bought this and
made a house from some of the outer buildings of the Bigelow Farm,

. Seen in the field where the Keeseville Riding Club riding course
is today (1965-66) is a clump of brush that would indicate the found=
ation of a building. '

Buel Briggs end wife are buried in the Evergreen Cemetery in
Keeseville,

In talking with Donald Mussen, their home was the Frank Mussen
farm, and still in the family. H¢ said Hathaway and Jacobs lots belong
%o Koert Brunham part of the Brunham Park, The Hathaway house burned
years ago. Burgoyne Road (Revolutionary War) also went through part
of this land so the two roads could not have been too far apart. In
~ the area, there must have been a skirmish when the army camped there
a8 shot and cannon balls and blacksmith tools have been found.

Thank you Maurice, I know that many will be interested in the facts
you have written.  May, 1966
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Fotes on the 01d Willsborough Road submitted by Arling Taylor Thomggan

The cellar on the four corners beyond Ida Davey's is the old
Hammond place (we have the old deeds) later it was owned by Charles
Stranahan and now by James Thompsaon.

The ruins on the opposite corner going toward Geor. Beckwith's
was one of the old log cabins, This is part of the Davey farm, the
line being next to the Beckwith driveway.

On the other corner of four corners (left side as you go down to
the Benj. Thew farm) is the old cemetery now a meadow of the Davey
farm, At the time the Thew rosd was widened, there was unesrthed a
skeleton because it was dug too far into the bank., The State Troopers
ceme to see my mother, Emme Rowe Taylor to have her verify the fact
that there was once a cemetery there. Some of her family were buried
there and she remembered it when the markers were still there.

Buel and Busan Briggs are buried in the Evergreen Cemetery in
Keeseville, Buel's father and mother, Elihu and Elizabeth Briggs were
among the very earliest settlers. Their first home, a log cabin, is
contained in the frame building on the cross road, commonly called the
Robare farm. (I think Spomner owns it now) The original fireplace
end oven can still be seen in the building, The Indians were frequent
visifors as there was a settlement of them just beyond the Prescott
place on Augur Lake,

_ On the "V" in front of Glen Ford's or Arch lacye's was another
old cemetery, '
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THE MAIN ROAD OF QLD PERU
Post Road

The sssessment rolls of the Plattsburgh ' ‘ i

. gh and Peru of 1798 which
have recently been published in the REPUBLICAN were not made by the
regular assessors of these towns, but they were made by men who re-
presented the three towrs of Plattisburgh, Peru and Champlain,

Reuben Arthur was Supervisor ¢f Peru, William Be : i '
: f aumont, Supervisor
of Champlain and Celeb Nicholas a residan%, but not the Supérvigor

of Plattsburgh, for that office was held in 1798 by Nathaniel Platt.

‘The other Supervisors of Clinton Count ime '

; 0f y at that time were Thomas
Sgowe;s of Willsborough, Elijah Binghem of Crown Point, Issac Kellogg
S E%;zabethtown, and Ebenezer Newell of Jay. Doubtless those towns
cons ituted another essessment District in the Sixth Division of the
3tate of New York.

The town of Peru comprised all of the territory i
y in the present
togns of Peru, AuSable and Black Brook, the north half of Chesterfield
22 Ogapggﬁéogngfiiag.thﬁut the %apse of & century has made great changes
e othing are i
roens of e I g hose changes more marked than in the

The "Main Road" upon which 8o man i

. . y farms were located is not the

E&lﬂ Road of Pe;u now. In fact, a considerable portion of it has not
ee%‘a public hlghway‘for the lagt four score years and a still larger

gggaéon has not been in Peru or even {linton County since the century

"Rogers Road" is only' known by that name to a fe i !

: 15 on. v antiquarians

gnd some of them think 1@ was so~called because a worthy ngker couple,
bamgi and Peace Rogers lived upon it many years, (Rogers Road was built
y Platts Rogers in 1790-1793, from Warren County to the Cenadian line.)

Some of the public roads of 1798 are public roads stil

have been abandoned so long that trees twopfeet or moresin éiZEgtggmgre
growing in the wheel tracks of our forefathers. Some of the back roads
gn which those fgrms were located are front roads now, if that name can

e properly applied to any of our highways. Some that were called by-
?ogds have now becgme poulavards in importence, if not in excellence

3§f ggg; gi;cigaghﬁcgrénnghe quaint language of the old assessors were
o from eoy Main’Road i gegﬁo?np$$éé? roads that are far more travelled

The Main Road of Peru when that assessment was made entered the
town from Plattsburgh a little south of the Gilliland place, at the
mouth of the Salmon River and ran southward near the lake ghore where
it runs still to the little AuSable River. Crosging that stream by 2
bridee a little farther up than the present one {near the R. R. over-
pass% it ran through the Allen neighborhood to the "Dry Mills" as Asa
Douglass' grist mill and sew mill were callsed, and from there to the
High Bridge across AuSable Chasm a few rods down stream from Table Rock
(Some of the buttresses may still be seen-bridge built in 1795.)



The Main Road of 01d Peru

After crossing that bridge it ran uphill and very near, if not exactly,
to the Hotel AuSeble Chasm and thence by way of Sigrors Corners, Fin-
negans Corners, the Stranahan Corners and the Mace Corners to the south
line of Peru and the north line of Willsborough, crossing the line a-
bout half e mile east of the south end of Augur Pond,

That was the Post Road that led from Plattsburgh towerd Albany, and
its importence was certeinly great a hundred years ago, but when Essex
County was organized in 1799, Peru lost that part of it which lay south
of the Great AuSable, which was then in Willsborough till Chesterfield
was organized in 1802, '

The Post Road continued to be used till the High Bridge got old
end unsafe, buf about 1810 & new State Road was built, crossing the '
river a mile above Keeseville up the hill, passing cornmer of road lead-
ing to Signors Corners, mentioned above; since 1815 there has been no
public highway from the AuSable River where the highways crossed north-
vard for more than a mile,

Believing that it may be of interest to some of your readers, I
‘will attempt to tell which of the farms on that main road were north of
the Little AuSable, which of them between the two rivers and which lay
south and west of the high bridge in what is now Chesterfield, Doubt-
less, there will be some errors and omissions and if any such are
noticed, nothing will please me better than to have them corrected.

Beginning with Elizabeth Campbell who is believed to have .been the
widow of Alexander Cempbellwhose house stood near the south line of
Friswell's Patent which was and is the north line of Peru, the other
farms on the lake shore were those of Amos Day, David Weatherwaz,
Mertin Weatherwex, Benjamin Walden, Abijah Ketchum, Isaac Finch, John
Douglass, 2nd, and John Howe. Asa Douglass owned a large tract of land
begides the grist mill and saw mill upon Dry Mill Brock and Henry
Delord also owned & mill privilege in that neighborhood though it was
not mentioned on the assessment roll,

Crossing the High Bridge into what is now Chesterfield, the travel-
er soon came to the lands of Ase Adgate who also owned a sawmill at the
falls, and farther to the southwest upon the main road the farms of
John Dougless, Isaac Wright, Asher Adgate, John Mecomber, Edward Palmer,
Benj. Macumber and Ezekiel Palmer,

Asher Adgate lived on the eastern slbpe of Prospect Hill, end it
is believed that his land included the present farms of Patrick Davey
and Chas, Stranahen.

Isaac Wright's farm joined Adgate's on the north, while John and
Benjamin Macumber lived farther south on the farms now owned by Edwin
Bigelow and Edwin H. Merrill.

] Near the main road but not upon it, was the farm of Elibu Briggs.
Truman Skeels and Barzilla Handy, The Briggs ferm is now owned by
William Robare and Handy lived east of the main road on or nsar the
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Main Road'of 0ld Peru

farm now owned by Benjamin Thew, (Since 1797)

Joshua Wells and Daniel Parks lived upon the lake shore south
of the-place afterwards known as Port Douglass.

- Zodak Bates lived west of the Post Road so far that he was said
t0 be "of from the Road" but his house was on or near the line of the
present road from Keeseville towards Willsborough and Elizabethtown,

J. VW, Harkness

Probably written in 1898
Given by Miss Georgia Harkness
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Notes: The Main Roed of 0ld Peru.
Compiled by Mildred G, Keese and Grace E, Arnold, 1963

Reuben Arthur was one of the four Airthur brothers who settled in old

Peru in 1788 and their land formed the four corners kmown as Arthurs
Corners and later Dwyers Corners. Reuben and hig brother Augustine
were active in the administration of town affairs. They were Cowniss-
ioners of nghways. Their land mark is "Arthur Road."

Clinton County in the year 1798, included Essex, Franklin, and St.
Lawrence and was ag large as Massachusetts but contained only seven
the seven town named above, though it wo.ld have made seven States as
large as Rhode Island, J. W, Harkness

The soath line of the town was the north line of Augur Ieke or pond
38 it was once called,

The north end of the "Main Road or Post Road" is now called the Lake
Shore Road fron Plattsburgh to AuSable Chasm. '

The "Gllllland Place is now the Royal Savage. House, Gilliland home
and the restaurant is the barn where during the war 1812, the night
before the Battle of Plattsburgh, British housed their horsss here, .
The Royal Savege is owned by Newton Keith,

About 36 years ago, a new section of road was built that by-passed the
Allen neighborhood, (1936)

"Dry Mills" on the Dry Mills brook., 4 road must have ran from the
mills southwest to have crossed the High Bridge end go "up the hill
through the AuSeble Chasm property" to join the old "Willsborough Road.

The High Bridgs

The famous "old High Bridge" crossed the AuSable Chasm Gorge just
about at the boat landing, The following story was written by
Merjorie Lansing Porter.

"The High Bridge at the Chasm, the settlement itself being called
High Bridge for sometime, (41so Birmingham) was built in 1793 by Platt
Rogers and his associates, assisted by nearby settlers. MNr. Rogers
stated that it was the highest and cheapest bridge he ever built, Tall
trees were felled on the west side or AuSable side of the river so that
their tops rested on the Chesterfield side, at a point where the gorge
is about 45 feet wide, and 130 feet deep, The trees felled across the
river, six of them served as stringers and were about 20 inches in
dismeter. On these were laid planks to form a flooring and heavy timbe
timbers at each side that served as protection for vehiclea, 4 few
0ld residents lave said that there were railings, also. A stringer of
this bridge of this bridge remainded as late as 1827 and two legends
perslst about the bridge. One is a story of Captain Samuel Jackson who
is said to have walked from the AuSable side $o the Chestérfield side
on & &tringer, carrying an ox-yoke in each hand by their rings to °
balance himself, This hezardous exploit
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The Main Road of (ld Peru : ' ‘

wes made necessary because the oxen were on one side and the yoke on
the other. The other story concern a man who also came across the
bridge on the only remaining stringer when the bridge was no longer in
use riding his horse in the dark, unavere that nothing was left but
that single piece of timber. It is said that this report was verified
the following day when hoof prints of the horse could plainly be seen.
The author's grand-father Bdwin A, Prescott of Eeeseville, born 1837,
was one who believed the truth of this story. (See Mr. Harkmess
comment-- Bridges over The AuSable Rivers :

At the mouth of the Little AuSable River is now a State Campsite opened
in 1965 and is called "AuSabe Point." '

Lmwos Dey, forebeer of the present Days still on the Lake Shore Road

. only those that we lmow definitely where they lived will be mentioned.

Isasc Finch owned land thet bordered on the old Hobart Fuller farm.
Both Abijeh Ketchum and Ismac Finch are buried in the Blockhouse
Cemetery., The Elmore property was the Fuller Farm,

South of the Little AuSable were the farms of Isasc Finch, Junior, (A

Mejor in the war of 1812, buried in Jay, N, Y, John and Lott Elmore
Fuller Farm) Jabez Allen, still owned by Paul Allen e great grand-son
Jee sign over the driveway, "Since 1788") Allen Bay has been known

by that name since 1788. Other farms were Abraham Beaman, Moses Warren,

Ezekiel Montgomery, Moses Dickson (On gift lands) Isaec Allen and John

Douglas, owned land on Dry Mill Rrook.

gordthe notes on farms mentioned from now on see "The 0ld Willsborough
oad,

Notes compiled by Mildred G. Keese and Grace E. Arnold 1963-64
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Notes: The Main Road of 014 Peru The Post Road

The (illiland place is now the Royal Savage owned by Newton Keith,

The Allen neighborhood now is the old Lake Shore Road between the
two bridges, The Allen Homestead, (1788) is on this road.

The "Dry Mills" were on the south side of the river near the James
Baggs, now Robert Baggs, farm., 4 brook runs into the river near by that
they call the Dry Mills Brook. The road ran on the west side of the
river, south to south west to the High Bridge built in 1795 by
Platt Rogers.

"After crossing the bridge and ran up hill--n it joined what was
called "The Main Road to Willsborough"

Abjeh Retchum and Isaac Finch ere buried in the Blockhouse Cemetery
Amos Day is believed to be the forebear of the present Days on the
Lake Shore Road. Devid XK. Day must have been & brother and lived
on the Aufable River near Keeseville, The late Arthur Day families
gre his descendants. :

Henry Delord as we know had the first Peru Post office in the Union.

The notes on the Willsborough Road will explain further names and
places,

Notes compiled by Mildred G. Keese aﬁd Grace B, Arnold 1963-64
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ROBERT BATTEY
BURYING GROUND

There is a little cemetery between the. farms.of lbert Dupra and
Merritt 8. Keese on Arthur Road in the Town of AuSable, which is the
burying ground of Robert Battey, his wife and a son, There are three
graves: : '

Robert'Battey, died Mar, 26, 1836
Jemimah Ketchum} his wife, died June 18, 1811
Robert Battey, son, died Jan, 1821

Robert Battey was a store keeper in the Quaker Urion Village from
about 1800 to 1826, His house, stors and. tavern were on the Union :
Road, He also had a shed for horses in inclement weather, Mr, J. W,
Harkness has written three or four stories on Simeon Barber, a clerk
in Batte{'s store and the Blockhouse where Simeon Barber is buried.

In 1963, when Arthur Road was to be made into a Farm~to-Market
State Road, neighbors and friends sought to save the cemetery. Through
their efforts, the cemetery was restored in 1964, Vhen it was complete,
the Town of AuSable and the Clinton County Highways Department combined
%0 put a very fine fence around it, 4 suitable marker completes the
historic spot.

By EAS
1966
Arthur Twa, Supsrvisor, Town of AuSable
John J, Coffey, Superintandent, Clinton County Highway Department -
Mr, and Mis. Harold Stafford of Schuyler Falls gave the marker,
¥ Mrs. Ethel Ketchum Stafford (Mrs, Harold) is a descendant.
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SIMEON BARBER, JR. AND HIS PLACE OF BURIAL

One hundred and twenty years ago there lived on the east side of
the Union Read, opposite the dwelling of Richard Keese, a merchant named
Robert Battey, whose bones have lain for 100 years, "be the same more or
less," in the little yard across the road from Fred Arthur's tenant
house, (and in the cornmer of lots owned by Albert Dupra, since 1935 and
The Keeges since 1833,)

South of Battey (or Batty) house was a horse shed for the accommo-
dation of his customers, (That horse ghed is now and has been for many
years the horse-barn on the Keege farm) who came to trade and south of
that his store in which he sold dry goods, wet goods, and groceries.

In the eerly spring of 1811, Mr, Battey found that his stock of
ggme kinds was getting low; and he needed to go to Caneda to replenish
it,

There was g0 much small-pox in Canada that it was unsafe for one to
go there unless he had had that disease, Simeon Barber, Jr. had been a
clerk for Mr, Battey several years, was honest and capable, end he of-
ferred to go in Mr. Battey's stead,

It was finally decided that Barber should go but that he must have
the small-pox before he went, Vaccination was not much understood at
that time, but it was thought that inoculation was comparatively safe,
80 Barber was inoculated, had the small-pox and died, April 15, 1811,
as his grave stone shows., -

There was a girl in the Battey femily to whom Barber was engaged to
be married, and it was agreed that the ceremony would be performed as
soon as he returned from Canada. His death interfered with that plan,
and he left the intended brids without a husband, In due time she be-
ceme & mother; her little daughter was kindly received by the Battey
family and brought up as if she were their own.

She married Cornelius Celkins, who lived on what is now the Andrew
place and hed & son who was named Seth Cornelius, and a daughter, Louise.
Seth C. married a sister of the late Charles Signor and Louise married
a brother of Robert Signor, Both couples have lived in Burlington where
Seth C. died some years ago, and Louise's remains were recently brought
to Peru for burial,

The grave of Simeon Barber is in the little Cemetery (Blockhouse)
across the road from the farm of Iydia and Jennie Bverstt on the Bear
Swamp Road, about one-fourth mile from the lower bridge across the Lit-
tle AuSable; Miss Thoebe Underhill (Cora Macomber Stafford and Maud
Macomber O'Connor are descendants of Phoebe Underhill) who in later life
was the wife of Isaac Hallock of Hallock Hill, was present at Barber's
burial and stood near the old Blockhouse that was built as a refuge for
gettlers if attacked by the Indians.

By Act of the Legislature of New York, the building of five block
houses were authorized in 1794, one at Skeenesborough, now Whitehall, -
ons at Thurmantown, in Warren County, and three in Clinton County, at
Plattsburgh, Peru and Willsborough, now Essex County.

The -Peru block house was built in the Spring of 1794 and so had besn
standing there 17 years when Barber was buried. If it stood as much -
longer before it rotted down, it has been gone about 100 years, and if
"Aunt Phoebe Hallock" had not told where it stood, its location might not
be knowxn, : '

It is believed that its builder was Isaac Finch though another au-
thority gives his name as French., Isaac Finch lived near that place
(founder of Baptist Church of Keeseville in 1788) and was buried in 1813
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close to the blockhouse. There is no other grave between his and
Simeon Barber's and doubtless, the block house stood in that place,

.The price paid for the building was 150 pounds or $374. 4 pound
wag then worth twenty York shillings.

It is said that the blockhouse was used as & church meeting house
and later as a small-pox hospital. Quite likely, Simeon Barber died in
it, but that is uncertain, Things that happened more than 100 years
880 are bard to prove unless a record wes mede of them.

Written by J. W. Harkness, June 1927. The story was submitted by
Mildred Keege from the R. Percy Keese collection. It was given to Mr.
Keege by J. W, Harkness.

Issac Hallock lived on what is now the John T, McCormick Farm,
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Notes:  There are these stories on the Peru Blockhouse and Simson
Barber, namely,

Sipeon Barber and his Place of Burial

The 01d Peru Blockhouse »

An 014 Historic Spot, The Blockhouse Burying
The Battey Burying on Arthur Road marks the spot near the store house
and horse sheds of Robert Pattey.

The Blockhouse Cemetary is on the Bear Swamp Road in the Town of
Peru at the intergection of the old Iake Shore Road,

The old horsc shed is now the Keese horse barn, The land is now
owned by Merritt 8, Keese and has been in the Keese family since abou?b
1836, They call it the Battey Lot. It is on the north-west corner
of Arthur Road known ag Keese's Cormers.

The Cgliting family have always lived on Celking Road in the Town
of AuSable, direct degendants of Seth I and have lived on this faru
since early 1814....Five generations have lived there.

Charles Signor wag the father of William Signor.

Robert Sifnor-father of Mrs. Katherine Signor Thew. (Mrs. Fred)
Lydia and Jennie Bverett (Bverett girls), daughters of George Everett,
vho was the son of Edward Everett.

Miss Phoebe Underhill was the great grani-mother of Cora Macomber
Stafford and Maud Macomber O'Comnor. The cemetary is marked by a
gtute marker. Isaac Hallock lived on what ig now the John T, McCormick
farm,

Johnathan Battey married a daughter af William Keese I, Amos
Battey had a nursery on the farm owned at one time by Frank Clark,

The Gordon Davins farm was once owed by a Battey, Thebe men must have
been brothers of Robert Battey.
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THE OLD PERU BLOCK HOUSE

o And Cemetery

Ian requested to tell what I know about the old block hogse
near which Captain David Cochram is supposed to have been buried. It
is but little, and not doubt there are others who can tell'morg abgut
it thanI, but if so they may neglect to do it unless the inquiry 1s
made of them, so I shall introduce the subject and trust that they
will continue the discussion of 1860, when I was a boy of twelve years,
I went with my father to look for some stray cattle which we found on
the farm of John Stratton Boynton which is now owned by George Everett
and lies about one-fourth of a mile west of the lower bridge across
the little AuSable where one branch of the road turns toward Peru
village and the other toward the fordway of the Great AuSable River
near the residence of James Baggs.

Before startin for home my father took mé across the north side
of the Peru (bear Swamp Road) at a point ten or fiffeen rods north-
west of the corners and climbing ober the fence we found ourselves in
an ancient burial ground which was not at that time separated by any
fence from the woods which lay north or the fiéld west of it.

Looking around among the old headstones, very few of which were
marked with amy inscriptions, my father soon found one bearing the
named of Simeon Barber, end the date 1811, and calling me to his side
he t0ld me that Mrs, Phoebe Hallock, the wife of Isaac Hallock, had
told him that when she was a girl she came to the funeral of this Sim-
eon Barber and whilé the grave was being filled she stood near and
leaned ageinat the old Blockhouse that had been built by early set-
tlers for a place of refuge in cases of attack by the Indianms,

No trace of the old building remained to show its exact location
but the graves appeared to be arranged in groups, there being a large
number, including that of Barber, in the eastern group which lay along
the brow of a steep side hill, then there was an unoccupied space
large enough for a larger building than is 1likely t6 have every siood
there and west of that another group of graves none of which appeared
to be quite as ancient as the esstern ones. ' '

There is no good reason apparent why that vacant space between
the two groups was left unless it was the site of a building that
stood there at the time when the space east of it became filled with
graves and so people began to bury their dead on the west side of that
building and have continued to use that part of the ground ever since.
The stone at the head of Simeon Barber's grave is of marble while all
the rest are plain sandstone slabs without inscriptions. The oldest
marked grave in any other part is the grave of Isaxc Finch who.died
in 1813, two years later than Barber. It is very likely Barber was
the last person biried east of the blockhouse and that Finch was one
of the first to be buried west of it.

No one that I have asked seems to lmow anything zbo.t who the
others were that were buried in the eastern group of graves. Some
say that they were soldiers byt that seems very unlikely unless some
who were killid in the battle of Plattsburgh were brought home by
their friends and buried there. I think there is no record or -
tradition
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that this blockhouse was ever garrisoned by soldiers or that 1t was ever attacked
by any enemy. It was admirably located for defense against invasion for it-stood .
at the top of a steep bank of the little AuSable and if the woods were cut away as
they doubtless were at that time an enemy coming up that river in boats would have
been seen within musket range of its loopholes while passing around that part
which is called "ox-bow bend",. Between the river and the foot of the bank on which
fthe blockhouse stood is a marshy strip of ground which in a wet season would have
been difficult to cross. The Blockhouse also stood within a short musket range

of the road which was laid out in 1790 (called the Post Road) from "the mouth of
the Saranac gouthwardto the soutern most settlers in the township of Plattsburgh,"
which was the first laid out in the ferritory which afterward became the fown

of Peru, .

Some of the settlers along that road were Lott and John Elmore, Moses Dickson,
Brian and Wicholas Palmor, John Rowe, Jebez and Peter Allen and no doubt those
men helped to build the blockhouse and perhaps some of them are buried by the side
of it, (See notes) -

It is said that in later years that the blockhouse was used for a pest-
nouse or swmall-pox hospital and perhaps some of the occupantk of the ummarked
graves died of that disease in the building, Simeon Barber died of small-pox but
I do not kmow whether it was there or-at his home. He was a clerk in the sfore of
Robert Battey in the Union which was at that time the largest village of Peru. His
employer wishing to send me to Montreal on business, but 11 was considered danger-
ous for anyone to viait Canada, it was decided to inocculate him 80 he would
have the desease at home. Whether that inocculation was the cause of his death or
_ vhether he contracted thé small-pox in Montreal, I am unable %o say, but he

died and his tombstone above referred to bears the inscription:

Sacred
to the memory of
Simoen Barber Jsin
who departed this
life April 16th, 1811
in the 23rd year of
his age
He was spoken of as a
young man whose knowledge
“gurpassed his years.
Fairest flower in nature's garden
But trenscient hope affords
Blooming, fadingewe-=msamcuu=-

The lagt line has been swiken beneath the éurface 80 long but the words
"blooming and fading"---were followed by others and perhaps a fourth line to complete
the stanza,

Tt will be notices that his grave was made the week after the first number of
the Plattsburgh Republican was printed, that paper being issued April 12th, 1811
vhile this young man died | Friday the following week.
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0f course, that has little to do with the blockhouse, but I mention

it to show that when the Republican was first started the blockhouse
was standing as proved by Phoebe Underhill Hallock., Now let me ask
how long had it been there and how long did it remain? These are the
questions that I cannot answer positively but I know it had been there
at least fifteen years and probably stood as many more,

The first mention that is made of this blockhouse is in the re-
cords of the Town of Peru which gives the limits of Highway District
No. 9 as follows: "From the blockhouse westardly by John Cochren to
Haff on Rogereses Road." The "heff" was doubtless John Haff who lived
on the farm where his grandson, Schuyler, still resides. The same de-
scription was given in each road werrant for that District until 1800
when it wes changed to the following: Beginning at the blockhouse at
the Post Road thence westerly by Benjamin Wells Mill then through Bells
patent to the Road that comes from Arthurs to Esq. Cochren Mills."

In 1801, the bounds of District No. 2 were as follows: "Beginning
Center of the little Sawble bridge and from Beamans and Douglas sawmill
on Southerly to the Great River sawble Bridge and from seid road by

the blockhouse to William Crums house." Lastly from 1818 to 1824 &-
district-which is, at first, called the 9th and afterward changed to
the 8th is described as "Beginning at the old Post Road near the
blockhouse thence west through Bells Patent out to Silas Cochran.”

. But the fact that the blockhouse is mentioned in a road Warrant
in 1824 does not prove that it stood that date for doubtless the de- -
scription was. copied from one year's werrant to another and may nod
have been changed till years after the building diseppeared. It is
only a guess but I venture to say that I presume the blockhouse was
built about 1790 and stood till about 1820, If I am wrong, I hope
that some one will correct my errors. ‘ '

d, W. Harlness

Copied from the Grace E. Arnold Scrapbook -



86

MR, NARKNESS WRITES ON OID
HISTORIC SPOT

Tell of Blockhouse Burying.
- Ground In Peru

Dates Back To 1792

J. Viarren Harkness Says Cemetery Being Cleared of Trees Etc.
THE BLOCKHOUSE BURYING GROUKD

I am out of the habit of writing for newspapers and should not
now undertake, if my subject was not one in which I have long been
interested, I am lately informed that the old cemetery near the farm
and home of the Everett sisters in Peru is being cleared of trees end
bushes by the Supt. of Highways and that the Town is suthorized by the
State Historian to Expend $100 per year, if necessary to keep it clear
of brush, :

The history of the blockhouse for which that buryingfgrognd is
named dates back to 1792, so it is just as old as the town which was
taken off Platteburgh in December of that year.

In November 1791, an army of 2000 under command of General Arthur
St. Clair was surprised, defeated and almost annihiliated by Indians,
led by Little Turtle, a famous chief, That battle was fought in West-
ern Ohio on a branch of the Wabash River.

The news of that disaster caused great alarm throughout the coun-
try and the Legislature of New York voted for the erection of four
blockhouses of refuge for the people in the northern part of the State,
if they were attacked by Indians. One was located in the Town of Thur-
man in Washington, now Warren County: one in.Willgborough, now Essex
County, then in Clinton: in Peru and one :in Plattsburgh, ‘

The records kept in Albany say that the Peru blockhouse wag built
by Isaac French, but that name French is doubtless a mistake., There
wag an Isaac Finch with sons, John, Justin and Jemes who lived in the
neignborhood and thet Issec Finch with the help of these sons undoubted-
1; buil$ the blockhouse, o

Neithe: one of those fous blockhouses wag evexr needed for the.
purpoge: for which it was built, but those in Essex and Plattsburgh
served their counties as court houses before the present courthouses -
wers built. : - ,

The Peru blockhouse wag in later years & smell-pox hospital., In
the spring of 181}, within 'a few days of the first copy of the PLATTS ~
BURGH KEPUBLICAN was printed, a young man named Simeon Barber died of
Small-pox and was buried near that blockhouse. A young woman, named
Phebe Underhill was present at the burial and many years after when
she was Mrs, Issac Hallock she told my father thet while the grave was
being filled she stood by the old blockhouse. _

In the falls of 1860, when I was a 12 year old boy, my father took
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_ me into that old Cemetery, found the grave of Simeon Barber and -show=-
ed me the gpot where the blockhouse must have stood.

Mwenty~five or thirty.years after, when I wes wrltlng a gketeh of
the life of Captain David Cochran who led the Peru Militia at the
Battle of Plattsburgh, I mentioned the fact that he was buried in the
Blockhouse burying ground. Dr. 8eo. P. Bixby, editor of the REPUBLI-
CAN, wrote me, agking to tell what I knew about the location of the
blockhouse and I wrote an article stating the above facts. After the
death of Dr. Bixby, his file of the REPUBLICAN wers sent to Albany
where they are kept in the State Educational Building. -

A few years ago, Mr. Harmon Noble of Essex, went there and found
my article and sent me a photographic copy of it and also a copy of
the record which shows who built the four blockhouses and what each of
them cogt the Jtate, .

I deposited those documents in the Peru Free Library where they
can doubtless be seen by anyone interested in the subject.

The grave of Isaasc Finch, the man who built the blockhouse, is
marked by & marble headstone and thers are others thus marked but
many have no inseriptions to tell where whose they are. Capt. David
Cochren hag none that I have been able to find but his son-in-law,
Jemes seed has one and the grave of Captain Cochren may be nesr it.

J. Warren Harkneas

Written of the
Plattsburgh Republican, 1934,

From the Horace Ackley Serapbook
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Copied from some o0ld books found in the Fred Thew bern, Mrs. Bion
Arnold

Robert Battey came to Peru about the year 1805 and lived on the
east side of the Union Road opposite the home of Richard Keese I, He
kept a sfore farther south between his house and the Arthur Road Corn-
er. This daybbok wes kept by Battey between June 21 and April 1823.
Other such books having no doubt been filled with his accounts before.

Jan, 12th, 1824, Sidney Ketchum and Robert Battey began frading in
partnership which continued until 1826, They sold Dry goods, wet goods
and groceries and their accounts are found on the 118 pages before -
this, The names of their customers are given farther on. In 1826,
Didney Ketchum and two partners named Hart and French formed the Peru
Smelting Jo. and built blest furnaces in the hollow south of the house
where Elisha Allen, and where Robert Signor and Edward have since lived.
They kept a store in the building which is now the horse-barn of that
farm. %The late Fred Thew farm, now. owned and occupied by Mrs. Fred
Thew (Katherine Signor) and her son, Chester.) The blast furnace was
driven by an overshot water wheel, The water being brought in a ditch
or a flume from a dam further up the brook. The ore was probably ob-
tained from the Arnold ore bed, separated into iron in the Forges on
the Tittle Lulable but some of it may heve been mined et the Battey ore
bed, for Battey is said to have had two Forges and a separator on the
Little River.

Some other mines were being worked at that time, one called the
Rutgers mine being west of the present farm of Hugh O'Neil (Parm just
west of the 014 Arnold Hill R, R. Station, at times called Cooksockie,
and Ferrona). . : v

Another blast furnace known ag the Etna Furnsce was located near
the Dillon (Wm H) Dillen, Reservoir Rd. 1964) on the bank of the Brook
that now furnishes the water supply for the village of Peru.

If anyone now living knows ﬁow long either of the furnaces were
operated, or when they were abandoned, we should like fo be informed.

Infornetion given by
d. W, Harkness

See "An Attempt to Steel a River" written by D. D. Harkness for the
Plattsburgh Republican, Aug. 20, 1892 '

Story and list of customers given by Miss Grace Arnecld, a daughter of
Mrs. Bion Arneld
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Joghua Arthur
Williem Allen
John Allen, Jr.
Ralph P, Allen Dr.
Augustine Arthur
Elizeh Annis
Jogeph Allen
Lovi Annis

A& P Ayers
Henry Beadleston
David Beker '
David Buck
Samuel Brown
Amos Battey
Ashel Button
Reuben Baker
Arden Barker
Benjman Bragg
Bosnic Buck
Jacob Bowron
Michael Barey
Robert Battey
Allen Chase
Zeliah Campfield
Igaac Coolidge

B & F. Calkins
geth Calkins
Trumen Calkins

. Barl Hallock
Joseph Hodgson
Burling Hallock
Timothy Harrington
David Hoag

David Harkness
Polly Handy

" Hagkins & Baldwin
Ezekiel Judges
Peter Hallock
John Signor
Nathaniel P, Hoag
William Howard
David Jackson
Isaac Jackson
B.. T. Eetchum
Samuel Kendrick
- John Kent

John Eirby

Peter Keese
Stephen Keese
Sugan Ketchum
William Kirby
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AT THE BATMTEY-KETCHUM STCRES

1805-1836

Asron Cleland
Martin Chase
Gilbert Calkins
David Darrow
John Duel

William Day

Benj. Darling

” John Davis

Samuel Dewey

Gardner Davis

John D. Estes

John D. Estes

William H., Fournes

Patrick Finley (Forrence)
David Fish

Adolphus Fisher

Sugen Fletcher

¥illiam Frasier

David Ferris

James Gilmore
John Green
Parker Grundy
Richard Gove
Fdward Griffin

-Caleb Green

Hiram Garlick
Edward Hellock
John Marvin
Anthony McDonald
Robert Morrison
Bainard McCulley
Luther Marvin
Thomas Miller
Elnathan Nichols
John Osborne
Abraham Pensley
James Pilling
John Platt
Robert Pearce
J. P. Preston
Abednego Ricketson
James Ricketson
James @. Reed -

"~ James Rogers

Samuel Rising
Paul Southwick
Isaac Snaborn
Herman Spargue
Henry Signor

Benjman Smith
Johnathan Gove
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Cugtomers of the Battey and Ketchum Stores 1805--1836

Samuel Keese
Joseph Iephanm
Hiram Moore

dohn McGuire
Daving Lavarnway
Hoshua Manland
David Spencer
Chancney Stoddard
Chester Sheruman
Parley Towle
Isaac Turner
Elihah Townes
Stephen Taylor

Avery Sanders
Ira Smart
Thomas. Stearns

‘David Smart

Saw. el Smith
Francis Smart
Francis Shambo
Sam.el Sprague
Coylin Smith
Seth Thomas
John Teylor, Jr.
Ruel Tiffory

Notes: Battery Cenetery on Arthur Road; Robert Battey and family.

The Keeses have always called the lot bordering on this

Ceuetery, the Babttey Lot. Bought from the Battey's

The farm now owned by Gordon Davins was always called the
Battey lot and barn, That Battey was probably Johnathan
Battey who married two daughters of William Keese I,

The Lang place (1965) also on the State Road across from
The Davins property wes a farm owned by Amos Battey. That
family had a nursery «nd there will be found in these stgrles
an item which says that at one time Amos A. Battey sold "trees
and shrubs and issued a catalog." At one time the Frank A.
Clark family lived there., The house was surrounded by rare
trees, shrubs and flowers, Childhood home of Frank Clark and
Maud Clerk Potter. '
Stories written by J. W, Harkness about the Battey's:

A page of History

An Attempt to Steal A River

Simeon Barber and His Burial Place

The 01d Peru Blockhouse and Cemetery
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AN ATTEMPT 70 STEAL A RIVER
4 reminiscence of D. D. Harkness
Printed in the Plattsburgh Republican August 20, 1892

"Did you ever hear about the attempt thet was made to steal the
Little AuSable?" agked Daniel Harkness one evening as we sat talking
about old times. ' .

"No", I replied, "that is about the last thing that I should'have
thought anybody would try to steal, Please tell me about it, and when
it was, who was the thief, and what he wanted of the river."

"It was 70 or B0 years ago, and I presume there are few people now
living who know enything about it, I cennot give the exact date, but
it was not far from the time when the Ketchum furnace was built ia the
hollow south of the Elisha Allen house where Robert Signor now lives,
The blast for that furnace was driven by an immense overshot wheel,
seid to be 42 feet high and 16 inches wide, The water was brought from
&8 dam near Xirby Corners in a ditch that was dug along the side of the
reving to a point near the furnance, and was thence carriéd to the top
of the wheel in an eight-inch square pipe or trough."

"But it was found that the brook sometimes got so low that it did
not furnish sufficient power to turn the wheel, and the owners of the
furnace saw-that unless more water could be obtained the furnace would
have to stand idle so large & portion of the year that their profits
would be greatly diminished,"® ‘

"Explorers were sent up the brook to see if there was any other
~ stream that could be turned into it to augment volume, and they report~
ed that the Little AuSable rose about two miles west of the head of
the furnace brook, and that by digging a ditch between the {wo the -
water of the little river could be brought down to the furnace."

"But a serious difficulty stood in the way of this enterprise and
that was the fact that the Little River contained no more water than
was needed to drive the sawmills, separators and forges at Cooksockie
or what is now called Ferrona, If an attempt was make to divert any
of that water from its natural channel, and Cook found it out, he
could put a stop to it, and the only way it could be done was to do it
without Cook's knowledge., It was suggested that the ditch might be
dug in that uninhabited wilderness without much danger of discovery
till it was completed, then large hollow logs could be laid in it, the
earth and stones carefully replaced and covered with leaves and brush
so that if any of Cook's men went up to the head of the stream they
might walk over the aqueduct without lmowing it was there.
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"The plan was considered practical, and the ditch was actually
dug for a considerable portion of the distance, but so meny men were
employed upon it that it was hard to keep the secret from leaking out.
In.sgme way Cook heard what was being done and promptly threatened
criminal prosecution if it was not stopped at once, So this ingenious
plan had to be abondoned alsc. And it was not many years before the
furnace was also abondoned,"

"I think the matter was hushed up and but little said about it
at the time. I never heard it mentioned but once, and that was acci-
dental, Some time in the forties, Elias Hurlbut and one or two other
Keeseville gentlemen cane here and asked Unecle if he could get them
some yellow birch logs 36 inches through, to be sawed into planks 32
1n9hes wide, to make segments of the undershot wheel which wag being
built to run the Keeseville rolling mill, TUncle said that those of
that size were getting scarce, but he thought he kmew where to get
a few, and they told him to take what men and teams necessary to get
out the logs and deliver them at the saw mill, and his bill would be
promptly paid,® '

“I drove one of Uncle's teams, and we went up the road that runs
along the south line of Pern ti1l we reached the foot of the hill
below Mr. York's, Then we left the highway and continued west of
southwest into the woods, After driving some distance, I noticed
that we were in what seemed to be an old road that had been worn
down till it was two or three feetlower than the surface of the
ground on each side. I asked Uncle how there came to be so much
travel as that, and he said it was not a road at all, but a ditch
that was dug mapy years before for the purpose of stealing the waetor
of the little AuSable,

"I think we followed it more than a mile, but befurs we reached
the head of the little river we found the trees we had come for and -
stopped to cut them. I never saw the ditch before or sence that day,
and do not remember ever hearing it gpoken or ou any other occasionm,
but I have no doubt .that it can be ruumd there still and perhaps it
has been seen by hundreds who have thought as I did, that it was once
a well-travelled road." :

J. W, HARKNESS
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'THE LITTLE AUSABLE AND THE INDUSTRIES THAT HAVE FLOURISHED UPON IT
(Continued from Jan. 20, 1906 -- Written Feb, 3, 1906)

There is a great difference between the above described method of
separating ores from rock and the one now employed by the Arnold Mining
Co, The lumps that came from the mine are no longer burned or roasted
but thrown between the jaws of en immense stone crusher which works
upon the sameprinciple as the crushers that are used for breaking stone
%0 use upon highways, Then the finely crushed ore and rock pass through
a nearly horizontal cylinder, the interior of which is partly lined
with electro-magnets. A powerful current of electricity causes the
fine ore to adhere to those magnets, while the rock is sifted out, but
gt a cerfain point in the revolution of the cylinder the electric cir-
- cuit is broken and the ore drops from the magnets upon an endless belt
or carrier by which it is comveyed to a car placed to receive it. The
rock that is thus separated from theore instead of being washed into
the river, as it was by the old process, is now preserved, mixed with
cement and used in making bricks which are the very best of building
materials, as hard durable as rock and as convenient inbrm and size as
the old-~fashioned clay bricks that are baked in a kiln,

Perhaps the fact is known to & few of the present generation that

one of the separators that was built in the first half of last century
within less than a mile of the place where this modern process is now
in use, employed magnetism or at least tried it for separating ore from
rock, -But the electro-magnet, if then known to science, was not in its
present state of improvement; and the permanent magnets that were used
were not well adapted to the purpose. They could pick up some ore but
they would not let go of it as the electro-magnets do. Before me lies
a little bar of steel 2% inches long, 5/8 of an inch wide at one end
and + inch wide at the other and about 1/8 of an inch thick, This is
one of the permanent magnets that was used in that ore separator 60 or
70 years ago. This was plowed up a few weeks ago by Wm. H. Baxter who
-owned the land where the separator stood. Though covered with a thick
coat of rust which has been accumulating upon it at least three score
years, it will still pick up and hold suspended from its end irom or
steel pins, a dozen at a time, Fifty years ago when I was a boy, Fred
Gaines, who was one of my classmates, gave me a magnet precisely like
the one here described. When asked where he got it, Fred replied, "In
the separator at the Sockie." So it appears that those magnets are not
of much use to the owner of the separator, have furnished amusement to
children of three generations. V -

Resuming our walk down stream from the reservoir or storage dam,
we come to the point where the highway from Clintonville, after cros-
sing the railroad by the<water-tank comes the river, and there stood
the separator, which 60 ;Ears ago was owned and operated by Calvin Cook.
A few rods farther down about where the dam was recently erected by the
Arnold Hill Mining Co. to fill with water the pipe which rums to their
present engine house, waseamother of Cook's separators, Next below the
highway bridge near Ferrona, now called Arnold Station, 411 of the
works thus far mentioned were in existence, if not in operation, in 1845
or 60 years ago. At a later. date, probably in the first half of the
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fifties, a new separator was erected above the Cook forge and below the
.saw mill., I% wes sometimes called the Kingsland separator though P. 8.
‘Wnitcomb tells me that the property up to and after that time was still
owned by Arnold, Southmayd & Stickney, the original proprietors of the
Arnold Hill mines, Mr. Whitcomb, who was in charge of the business of
the Kingslands at Cooksockie explains the cause of their engaging in it
by seying that they had been making iron from Port Henry Ore which was
80 lean that it made poor iron and a large quantity sold by them to a
western purchaser was shipped back to them. So they found it necessary
to meke some iron from better ore and sent him. there for the‘purpose:
Part of the ore was obtained from the old Arnold blue vein, part of it
from Barton ore bed and some from the Mace bed on the east side of the
valley. It was raised by whimseys turned by horse-power and brought
down in wagons to the new separator last mentioned above. That separa-
tor was driven by an immense overshot wheel 60 feet high, the water
being conveyed to the top of it in a large wooden pipe, called pen-
stock, The wheel was so large that it took very little water to run
it., Mr. Whitcomb repaired the old forge; and when he got some ore
-geparated, made it into iron. For repairing those buildings, lumber

was needed, and’ the old Cook sewmill was used to saw it. Mr, Whitcomb
kept a small store near the former residence of Calvin Cook and supplied’

his employees with needed goods and groceries. o

For the benefit of those young people who have never seen a Cata-
lan forge like this one where Calvin Cook made iron 60 years ago and
Preston Singletary Whitcomb at a little later date, a brief description
will be given,

The forge of this country was called Catalan Forges because they
were like those Catalonia, an iron-producing province of Spain, The
name forge was applied to the building in which iron was forged, for
each forge contained several fires according to the eamount of business
to be done. The forge fire was a shallow pit or box something like an
old fireplace in a dwelling except that its bottom was below the level
- of the floor, Charcoal burnt in coal pits was drawn o the forge,
brought into it in large shallow coal baskets and poured into the fire,-
then fine separated ore wag thrown into the burning coal with shovels
by the bloomers, as the iron-makers were called, because the iron was
to be shaped into blooms or heavy bars four or five inches square. A
- bloomer kept throwing on coal and shoveling on ore till he had used
enough to make a Joop, as the molten mass was called. The heat was
greatly increased by blowing the fire with hot air, This wind, while
cold, came from immense bellows worked by water-power but passed through
many feet of pipe that-was heated by the fire till red hot, When enough
ore was melted together to make a loop of the required size, the bloomer
pried it up with a bar and worked it out of the fire till the hammermen
could grasp it with great tongs which were hung from a crane so that the
weight of his body would balance the masg of molten iron, The arm of
the crane was swung around till the hammerman could place the loop under
the trip-hemmer which was also driven by water-power. The loop was
hammered till it began to cool and was then returned to the fire and .
again heated, after which it was taken out and hammered again 1ill it
was reduced to the required shape; and all of the open pores or air
holes in it were closed up by the metal being hammered into a compact
mass.
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Little AuSable and Indusiries Upon it

Farther down the stream on land owned'by Vn. H, Baxter, was
“another forge which Mr. Baxter saye was afterward changed to a
geparator, and it was there that an attempt was made to separate the

ore from rock by magnetism, Years before a forge was built there was
at that place a sawmill owned by Rufus Green, who held offices of Com-
nissioner of Highways and town clerk of Peru between 1795 and 1815,
The proper was also owned by Ketchum and Battey who bought the land of
John Allen sometime early in the century,

4 mile farther down the river near the present Kenmefick farm
buildings was another forge which was afterward changed to a separator.
Berker & Lapham of Goshen operated it in 1844; but on a2 map made a few
years later, the name C, D, Berton is printed near the word "separator."

Mr. Nicholas Barker informs me that the forge had two fires and -
stood on the east side of the river, and that there was an old saw mill
on the west side. He also says that there were two separators, one old
and the other new, owned by Barker & Lapham, above their forge and be-
low the gtone forge of Calvin Cook.

Barker & Laphem had a store to supply their employees with goods, .
groceries, end provisions and the building in which that store wae kept
by Nicholas Barker still gtands on the south side of the door-yard of
Mrs., Kenefick's house, Nathan Lapham lived in that house in 1844, and
it was there that his oldest son, Arden Lapham, now of Chicago, was
born, The entire plant of Barker & Lapham was bought by Caleb D, Barton
between 1844 and 1850,

J. W, H,
(To be continued)
The other parts of these articles have not been found,

From Edith Arnold Scrapbook
Clinton County Historical Rooms
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Notes: The Little AuSable and the Industries that Flourished Upon it

Wm, Baxter and his son, Somuel, lived just west of Harkness in the two
 houses near together; and one is owned and occupied by Chas, H. Collins.

Sockie, better known as Cooksockie, was & hamlet at the Arnold Hill
nines and named for Calvin Cook,

Ferrona and Arnold Stations have both been names of the RR station on
Arnold Eill, The Station house stood about where the RR crossing is
now, ,

Kingsland, Jacob of Keeseville,

Arnold, Southmayd & Stickney., Elisha Arnold, John Southmeyd, and
Stickney. Elisha Arnold lived on the road from Peru o Schuyler Falls,
now Champlain Orchards., Mr. Southmayd lived in Jay in one of the gray
stone houses on the road from Jay to Upper Jay., Mr, Stickney lived on
the Clintonville Road over the bridge that has always been called the
Stickney Bridge. Tt is believed that Rockwell Kent owns the farm now.

Rufus Green lived in the Union on the present Ray Trombley farm.
Ketchum & Battey, See "Page of History."
John Allen was of the Allen family on Allen Hill,

Thomas Kenefick came from Ireland and lived on the first farm, right
gide of road from Harkness to Clintonville. The house is gone, but
Ernest Roberts is the resent occupant of the land.

Barker & Laphem, Nicholas Barker and Nathan Lapham, The Laphams lived
at what is now Forrence Orchards. Nicholas Barker lived on what was
long known as the David Sharpe place, now owned by Earl Weatherwax.

The great grand-mother of the Daveys of Taylor Hill was Ida Kenefick,

These notes must contain the story vy J. W. Harkness of an incident
connected with Nicholas Barker Store near the Kenefick Farm, See "Nich-
olas Golden Wedding." "4 little incident that occurred at the time has
long been forgotten but this may remind him of it, 4 Hallock Hill boy,.
vho is now an old man, was sent to carry a small pail of cherries to a
relative at Cooksockie., He stopped et the store and there met some
other boys who suggested that they take @ swim in the little river near-
by. So he set down by the fence, the pail of cherries, and went with
the others; but when he returned, he found the cherries all gone and his
pail filled with sugar. What became of the fruit, one can only guess;
but if there was as muck capacity under "Uncle Nick's" vest as there is
now, he was able to store away without any trouble.

J, W. Harkness

C. D. Barton for whom Bartonv1lle is named and sometimes called Laphams
Mills, ,

Notes: by Mildred G. Keese, Grece B. Arnold C 1963-64
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OTHER OLD ROADS IN OLD PERU A CENTURY AGO

, I shall speak briefly of the ordinary roads made by the people
‘of the town for their own .se or convenisnce, Each was improfant
“to those who lived upon it or had occasion to visit those who did,
but none of them were of such general interest to the inhabitants
of Northern New York as thoge great trunk lines of highway travel,
the main or Post Road (The Post Hoad is what is now called Iake
Shore Road and it joined the Willgbourough Road near Mace's Corners
near Augur Iake) and the Rogers Road. '

To begin with, the oldest, let me say the very first road es
tablished by the Commissioners of Platteburgh in the ferritory thet
afterward became the Town of Peru (now Town of AuSable) was the one
we call Arthur Street (see map of Clinton County for 1963 as it has

- been given back its original name) from the fact that several fami-
lies of Arthurs lived upon it more than a hundred years ago. (It o
wag voted to build this road the next year following the first towmn
meeting which was Dec. 28, 1792, The deed to the Arthur Farms as
recorded in the Clinton County Clerk's office is dated 1790 and the.
farms formed the four cormers called Arthur's Corners for nearly
100 .years, See Qld Keegeville Taleg,) W¥hen the road was laid out in
1790 it comprised 3 road to the lade, all that part of the main road
north of the Iittle AuSable River. But in 1798 this Arthur Street
began at Capt. Everett's west line on Rogers Road, now called Kees's
Corners, and ended at the Post Road (Iake Shore) about 100 yards
south of the Dry Mills near the mouth of the Big AuSable River. The
taxable inhabitants or the people who were assessed with farms were
Bdward Bverett, land both north and south of the cormer, now in the -
Keege farm, and George Everectt*his son; Abednigo Ricketson, now John
Shortell;Joshua B, Arfhur, one of the four brothers, now the late
Elenor Arthur Spaulding and Albert Dupra and Gordon Devins; Reuben
Arthur, another brother, now Iouise Bisen and the Rustic Restavrant;-
Thomas Arthur, another brother, land now owned by ilen and Cedric
Patnode; John Morehouse, now Ralph Arthur and William Morehouse, later
the Welsh farm, now Joseph Allen, Bach Morehouse was assessed with
half of & saw mill which is believed to have been on the brook between
the residences of Ralph Arthur and Joseph Allen.

The next road fo consider was established in 1792 and 1793 in two
parts or thres which taken together extended from the main or post
road near the 01d Blockhouge %Blockhouae Cemetery) on the bank of the
Little AuSable River to Rogers Road at the corner where Peter McGee
lives (now belongs to the Northern Orchard). The people upon it
-vhoss names are on the assessment roll were John Haff (later Schuyler

-and Ralph Haff, Nathaniel Haff, now John Neyenhouse ( on the home-
stead) Glen Lea and Richard Stafford) Rowland Stafford, John Cochran
.Jr, and Noble Averill,
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One of the longest road districts in the town extended from Bev-
erly Beardsley's on the Great AuSable where A. M. Bdwards now lives,
to the Sand Hill about a half mile north of the High Bridge where it
joined:to the Pogt toad, On it lived James Weston, James Bean, Andrew
Debar, Norman Bull, William Clyde, David Day, David George, Joseph
Beach, John iaymond and Samuel Hawley. Above Beverly Beardsley, on the
game road which extended to the south line of Peru were Emanuel Beards-
* ley.and his son, Jehial, Jr., John Beardsley, George Shave , Zephanish
Palmer, Zachariah Palmer and Sylvenis Palmer.

George Shaver whose name was sometimes spelled Shaffer was the
firat settler of Clintonville and the discoverer, in the year 1800 of
the first iron ore found in Clinton County at what has been known as
the Winter Ore Bed, as I suppose the land on which it is located was
owned by Elisha Vinter.

Zepheniah Palmer was also the discoverer of a valuable ore bod

on Palmer Hill and is said to have been the first settler of Aufable .
Forks and of the Town of Black Brook. But three different. authorities
say that he located in that fown in or about 1825. I will venture to
agsert that he was living in what is now the town of Black Brook and I
believe at -dulable Forks as early as 1798 and not he alone but at least
three other Palmers who were probably his father and brothers. To thet
I will add that as early as 1802, a man named Iuis or Lewls Ferris had
a say mill on Palmer's Brook in the present village of Aulable Forks
and enother man named Isiah Ferris who was poobably his son lived there
with him,

In 1793, a highway was esteblished beginning at the south west
corner of Lot No. 9 and mnning thence west to Henry Grecn's on dogers
Road. When it is remewbered that Henry Green sold in 180t, thres acres
of land to the Quakers for a meeting house lot end burying ground, the
location of this road will be understood, (Brown Road) The town line
between Peru and AuSable now runs along the center of it.

In 1795, this road was extended eastward to the Mills "belonging
to Matthew Adgate, Esq,, and Asa Douglass" afferwards known as dry .
rwills and in 1796 was extended westward to the west line of the Great
Location that being to the corners west of where Smithdale cheese fac-
tory now standa, In 1798, the jax payers who lived on that road east
of Henry Green's were Ebenezer Baker, John Mosley, Robert Anson, Robert
Moon and John Stanton. Hobert Moon's 100 acres joined Reuben Arthur
and ougt have been about where Frank (lark now lives, John Stanton's
50 acres joined Augustine Arthur and wes the place owned by George
Howard. This John Stanton wes the naughty old hero who gave his angry
wife the long ride from Peru to Poughkeepsie, 250 miles, on & hand
sled,. This étory has been in print almost 40 years so I need not stop
to repeat it. (This famous ride took place about 1850)

Vest of Henry Green's on that road lived Danisl Jackson, whoee
son, Daniel, Jun., wrote the famous novel, "Alonzo and Melises,” Peter
White and Somuel West. Peter White's 50 acres, formerly Seth 0. Cal~
kins, are now owned by Andrew Walker, and Samuel West's 100 acres are
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novw & part of James Black's farm. The Calkins school house lot occupies
the south east corner of Samuel West!s farm. John Osborne is gssessed
for 212 acres on the back road joining Semuel West, but neither in that
year, 1798, nor any other was he assessed & road tax on any such land

80 he must have owned it but a very short time. The back road mention-
od was probably Celkins Street or the road thet runs north from the
school house, both of which were mede public roads in December 1799,

A helf a mile north of Henry Green's, on Rogers Road was another
road running east on or near which lived Wm., Eeese I, where Timothy
Davern does now, (Davern Rond), Elisha Howard; Aaron Benedict, Asron
Benedict, Jr., Cyrus Benedict, John Phillips and Benjamin Earl. The
last was a teacher and taught in the log Queker meeting house that stood’
in the corner south of John Keese's house and directly esst of the pre-
sent Beadleston residence. Afterwards this road was extended past Peter
Hallock's and along the south line of what is now Silas Wegver's lot to
the corners east of the Smithdele factory. All of it is west of the
Hallock Road near the little AuSable has since been &bandoned,

That Hallock Road just mentioned ran from "Cockren's Mills" west-
erly (River Road)by Olmstead's and southerly by Peter Hallock's to
Daniel Jackson. On it near it lived Pardon Irish, Jesse Irish, Elihu
Allen, Benj. Bragg, Caleb Simmons, Eleazer Nichols and Peter Hallock.
The farms of the last two mentioned are now owned by Samuel &nd William
Tanners but where the others were I cannot say positively but have rea-
gon $0 believe that Benjamin Bragg lived on the Sheymen farm. Caleb
Simnons on E. 8, Arnold farm, Elihu Allen on land owned by Nelson Ds
Lorme near the corners south of Henry Arnold's and the Irishes were his-
neer neighbors. The road from Elihu Allen's west to Dyer Arnold corners
wag laid out in 1799, The road did not go through Goshen but ren nearly
due west from Cochran's Mills to & point & half mile south of the
presant residence of Eenry Arnold. There it turned due south and follow
ed the cast line of Lot No. 26 toward Daniel Jackson's. From that same
corner a road rem due north to the corner whers Arnold no lives, then
turned wast a few rods to the corner of Lot No. 27 from which it ran
north to the north line of Lot No.5 in the four thousand =cre location.
On or near that road lived Josiah Terry and Waeterman Eells, John
Evers and Hosiah Howe.

From that corner where Henry Arnold lives, & road ren west where
it dces still fa the west line of the Great Iocatidn on which Palmer
Stefford, Jonas Stafford, Jonathan Stafford, John Green, William
lewis, Samuel Irish and Samuel Francis worked their tax but most of
them were said to live"of from any road." ‘

From the corner of Elishe Arnold's, now John L. Clark on Rogers
Road (row called Crommie's Corners) & road ren due east to the leke
where it runs still and on it Asa Elmor and Oliver Sanders. I believe
that John Cochran lived on that road at the Stephen Brand Corners and
Robert Cochran whose land joined John's, was overseer of the road dis-
trict that ran south from Plattsburgh line to Cochran's Mills, the road
on which the Gate family now live, A4s Silas Cochran also lived on this
lagt mentioned road in 1798 probably either on the place s$ill
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known &8 Silas Cochran farm now occupied by Commadore Derby or that
other Silas Cochran farm which lay east of the present village of Peru.
On the road which ran from Cochran's Mills southerly to Thomas Arthur's
éived Nathan Averill, Nathan Averill, Jr, Isreal Buck and Reuben Bene-
ict, ‘

In January 1795, a road was laid out and established by the Com= ..
missioners of Highways that was described as follows: (Hallock Hill [ -,
Road) "beginning at Robert Whitcomb's north east of said Whitcomb's lot
thence south eight chains, thence west thirty-six chains so to be con~
tinued." Robert Whitcomb owned the farm on which David Hallock now
lives so this road that ended so much like a story in the Ledger began
8 litter west of Harrison Arnold's present residence and ran west where
it is now to the corner of the original Hallock farm which was about 20
or 25 rods farther eagt that it is now, then it ran south 32 rods and
turning west ran parallel with the present road past the Robert's place
then ovned by David Cochran to the Osborne ten-care lot then owned by
Garret Thew. It was probably as far as Gilbert Thew's log house which
was weet of the brook about half way between W. H. Carpenter;s residence
and the present road which wag laid out on the 2nd day of March, 1899
and therefore exzetly 100 years old,

In the above description, I have named all the tazpayers who lived
on the old road in 1798, and one who lived off of it, David Cochran's
house, afterward David Hoag was just east of the present Roberts resi-
dence and therefore about 25 rods north of the old road. Another farm-
er who was said to live"of from any road" was Stephen Starks who owned
pert of the pregsent Harvkness farm and lived near its north east cornmer
in what is now the orchard. That place continued to be off the road
ti11 1827 when it was connected with main road (Hallock Hill Road) end
in 1828 connected with the road south toward Clintonville was esta-
blished here it is today. Before that as early as 1799, & road had
egtablished along the line between the two Thews and bearing south
westward which led to Beverly Beardsley's on the river road.

I'have mentioned about all the roads that were in Peru in 1798 ex~
cept a few that were abandoned so long ago that no one remembers them
now. A chapter might be written upon the abandoned raods of old Peru
which would surprise some people who do not dream that roads bave ever
been where they were.

I could mention & few more farms that were off from any road in
1798 like those of Nicholas Barker where his grand-son and nameseke now
lives, David Fish lived on or near the Harvey Everett homestead. The
widow Martha Stafford whose 334 acres included the J. P. Hewitt estate
and Elisha Green whose home was near the Severence farm in Smithdale.
But this article is far too long already, :

! J+ W. Harkness
AUSABLE .
¥ritten Mareh 2, 1899.
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Notes: Other Roads in (1d Peru g Century Age,
This Arthur Road mentioned in this article was first agttled by the

four Arthur bfothers, Joshua E, Augustine, Thomes, and Reubeg. They
arranged their land to four the four cormers, At one time and not
until after the War of 1812 wes the road from Peru {("from Peru to
Thomas Arthurs") completed beyond the Big Rock which is on the Peru-
Keeseville Road, to the young village of Kéeseville.‘ The Arthurs took
up 425 acres in 1768 and the deed is recorded in 1790, At that time -
Arthur Street extended to the lake at Peru Landing, which is in front
of the Straight farm now owned by the Orchard Camps, It began at
Keese's Corners. In later years it Became only the mild from Keese's
to Dwyers Cornmers, In 1965, the State made that mile into a Farm-to-.
Market Road.
‘ The next settlers on-that Road was Abednego Ricketson who came
in 1795, just west of the Arthurs, They came from Washington Hallow,
N.Y. The sons married into the Everett and Hallock families. The
present president of the Queker Union Society is a descendant of this
family,

The .rthur Homestead is now owned by Mrs. Kathryn Curran, the
house being built in 1804, In 1833, the Ricketson's sold 60 acres to
Alexander Arthur and he built the brick house, now owned and occuipied

by Albert Dupra,
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Noteg: Other 01d Peru Roads & Century AR0. y .o« written in 1963-64

Back in 1923 Mr, Harkness copied from the records in the Clinton
County Clerk's office the description of all the roeds in the Town of
Peru from 1792 to 1836, and the assessment rolls.

The date of the first town meeting was Dec. 28, 1792, when the old
town of Peru was taken off Plattsburgh. "The meeting was held at the
home of Semuel Jackson. The dwelling of Jacksons was of logs and stood
near the north end of Allen Street, about a half mile west of the brigdge
across the Little AuSable." (Quotation from Mr, Harimess) 4llen Street
is the o0ld Lake Shore Road where Paul Allen lives on the farm called
"A1len Homestead since 1788." Another old family on that road was the
Baker family, »

Berly in the expansion of the Keese Farm, the Everett and Battey
lots were purchased from the Everetts and Batteys. It is claimed that
the horse barn on the Keese farm was the horse shed et Battey's store,
which was near the south-east corner of the Battey lot, near the Duprs
farm,

George Bverctt moved to the lake shore near the Blockhouse Cemetery
and had two unmerried daughters, Jemnie and Lydis.

A1l of the Abednego Ricketson farm, on the north side of Arthur - :.
‘Road, remained in that name until about 1833, when Alexender Arthur
bought of the heirs 80 acres of land and built the brick house still ..
there., Albert Dupra bought the farm in 1936

The rest of the Ricketson farm was owned by Thomas Lynch and heirs
for 46 years, from 1875 to 1921, end then owned by Charles Jarvis family
for 31 years, from 1921 to 1952, It is now owned by John Shortell.

The Joshua B. Arthur farm on the south side of the Aruthur Road is
the homestead, and he wes the progenitor of all the Arthurs in this
gection. The house was built in 1804, and the following generations
after Joshua B. were Joshua Van Ronsselare and his son, Joshua I.

The latter sold the farm to Arthur Martin of Hallock Hill, brother of
Poter. After it changed hands twice and is now owned by the widow of
the late Frank Curran, Mrs. Kathryn Curren, and son Francis.

The next Arthur place, Augustines's on the north side of the roed,
is now divided into three parts, one owned by Eleanor Arhur Spaulding,
the last Arthur to cwn any part of the original 425 acres surrounding
the four corners called Arthurs Cormers for 137 years. The other two
parte of the Augustine Arthur land ere owned by Albert Dupra, and
Gordon Deving.

Thie accounts for two of the original four brothers. Thomas Arthur
lived on the south-east of the corners, whose land was scld to Gorton T.
Thomss I, then to James Hinds, a maternal great grand-father of Philip
E, Baber of Keeseville, later Dennis Dwyer and his heirs owned "the place
for 75 yeers. "Deo" Dywyer died in 1940 and was well kmown over most of
Clinton County as a dealer in farm machinery end junk dealer. The
property is now owned by Cedric Patnode and Mrs., Louise Eisen and the
Rustic Resteurent. The brick house that is still there and occupied by
Mrs. Bisen wes built for Gorton T. Thomas I in 1835 by Isaac Ferris,
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The fourth brother, Reuben, owned the 110 acres on the north-west
side of the corners, This land was also later owned by the Dwysrs and
thus became Dwyers Corners, and is now owned by Cedric Patnode and Alan
Patnode,

It is interesting to note that the lines of those old farms have
not changed mich as they were originally sei up in 1790.

The Robert Battey Cemetery is on the 4rthur Road aud daves back .
to the times of the Unlon Village, 1805-18%6, It has recently been re-
gtored and fenced by interested people, The Battey Store already refer-
red to stood on the Union Road and near the Cemetery, his house was on .
that lot and sbout opposite the Keese house,

, The irshur Road wag first black~topped in 1930 or 1931, &and in
1964 and 1965 1% was rebuilt and widened for & farm-to warket road or
County Roed, .

The George Howard farm referred to on the Brown Road was'later
owned by Lester Bombard and now Robert Rulfs.

Aaron Benedict lived on -the north-eat corner of Davern Road and
Route 22, between Feru and Keeseville, 14 was long owned by Sanford X.
Porrence and heirs and now by Oppman,

Cyrus Benedict probably lived where the lale Harley Fallon lived
on xeliuraph 5i, and presently owned by Mrs, Herry Pray. (Lsther
Sigmor )

The Nicholas Barker-farm is north-eest of the residence of m,
Forrence, on & dirt road, It was more recently owned by David Sharpe,
nov by farl Witherwax.

The Yeter Eallock Homesicad on the River Road was later owned by
Wm, Taner, by Fatrici Butler and now by Hobert Shermen, +hat we call
"River Road" was called by Mr. Harkuess "Hallock Road." '

Weternan Fells lived on the Palton Road, out of Schuyler Falls.
The brick house still gtands,

The land where Judge Winter lived on the Clintonville Road is now
owned by Perley Stoughton, tditor of the ¥ssex County Republican.

hotes compiled by ¥ildred G, Keese, Grace Arnold, fleanor A, upauldinU
in 1963, Hlldred G, Kecse died July 3, 1965,
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THE STORY OF FOUR MORE OLD TIME ROADS

The four AuSable river bridges mentioned in a recent article
vwere the terminal péints of “four roads of old Peru,

0f course the roads did not stop at those bridges but went on
into the adjoining town, but they were not Peru roads beyond those
bridges for the river formed the southeastern boundary of that town
during the forty years from 1799 to 1830,

The road now to be described is not remembered by anyone now
living and it is not likely that any such one ever heard of it, But
the town records are indisputable and help to prove that there was &
settlement at AuSeble Chasm earlier then at Keeseville. On Sept. 5th,
1800 a road was laid out by Elisha Arnold, Benjamin (Green) and Robert
Cochren, commissioners of highways, that wes described as follows:

Beginning about five rods south of Stephen Taylor's house &t the
road from widow Hallocks's to the fordway, thence easterly to Adgate's
Mills. Stephen Taylor's house was where John Devgr mow lives, The
widow Hallock was the mother of Edwaerd, Issac, Richard and David and
the road from her place was the same as now traveled from Harrison or
Eloazer Arnold farm over the hill toward Keeseville, Adgate's Mills
were above the high falls &t AuSable Chasm. The road running easterly
from Stephen Taylor's to Adgate's Mills must have crossed the state
road, or rather the place where the state road now is, & little south
of the sand hill and continuing east was very near the place where the
late Elkenah W. Arthur recently lived.

If any part of that road ig still used it must be only between
the Chasm school house and the bridge, but that whole road was used
and worked as one of the Peru highways, for at least six years. During
that time the men who lived upon it were Williem Banks (or Banker),
John Rawley, a Mr, Presby, John Ganang, John Dobs and Lanadar Prindle,
Only one, William Banker, seems to have been a permanent settler and
his name is not found after 1806, There is good reason to believe that
he lived on what was afterward the Joshua Hallock farm, where the late
Fitz-Green Hallock was born about 80 years ago, and where Lewis Rock
lived many uears since that time, Two otber men, Harris Beach and
“Elijah Weston worked on that road in 1807 but we have no proof that
they lived upon it,

The oldest roed ia the Village of Keeseville seems to be; Jable
$treet for on March 241th, 1810, one was laid out described as beginn-
ing at Jonathen Bigelow's running northeasterly near said Bigelow's
sav glll near the great River Ausable until it strikes the road near
Martin Adgate's, As we believe, Jonathan Bigelow lived on the present .
Geo. B. Thompson farm and Martin Adgate at or near Ausable Chasm. Big-
elow's sav mill must havc beenon the Peru side of the river and this
road must have followed the river about where Sable Street does still,
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THE STORY OF FOUR MORE OLD TIME ROADS Continued

Under date of March 21, 1811, another road is described as
follows: . .

"Beginning at the Big River Ausable at the Bridge that was
built by David Fuller by Jonathan Bigelow's thence North 32
degrees West forty chains, thence North 235 chains to Urish Water-
man's Blacksmith shop."

To understand that description we need only to know that the
bridge that was built by David Puller was the one at the foot of ?he
hill west of the Jed Bliss house, the forty chains, or one half mile,
that the road ran northwest took it to some point on the Thompson
farm west or northwest of the present stone house and from there the
road ran directly north to what we now know as the D. J. Dwyerﬂfarm
corners. The part south of the sand hill a mile or more out of Keese-
ville on the road to Peru was abandoned more than 100 years ago, but
one old landmark still remains upon it, the Joshua Hallock, ncw better
imown as the Lewis Rock house, That house now siands away f;om any
road but the reader will see that it was not always so, If it was
built before 1807 it stood at or near four corners where the road
that ren east from Stephen Taylor's crossed the road from Jonathan
Bigelow's.

One. more road remains to be mentioned before this series is
closed, C

. "Road beginning where the gtate road strikes the pine plains a
little south of Joseph B. Covell's thence S. E. till it strikes the
north end of the bridge that crosses the river by Boyle's Mills, The
seme is laid out as a public highway the 6th of April 1812," It is
needless to say that the part of this road south of the village limits
is now celled Main street, Keeseville. The state road here metioned
wag celled the Great Northern Turnpike when it was built to the High
Bridge in 1805, but about 1811 its course was changed to the bridge
near Jonathan Bigelow's since which time it has been called the state
road. In 1812 Joseph B, Covell must have lived at "the Sand Hili',

T J. W, HARENESS
published in the Essex County Republican Feb. 26, 1925

Copied from the Edith Arnold Scrapbook
Clinton County Historical Rooms

Notes compiled by Mildred G. Keese aﬁd Grace B. Arnold - 1963-64
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This road, while not remembered as a road, is still known to be
there by William P, Davey, across whose land it passes, by Roger
(Benny) Bemio who as a boy fished in the brook over which the road
probubly lay and by Clarence Arthur, grandson of Elkanah Arthur, who
used to tell about going to the Chasm over am old road. The Fitz-
Green Hallock mentioned here was one of the famous Adirondack guides,
The autobiography of Dr. Trudeau of the Saranac Iake Ssnitarium tells
the story of how Fitz-Green met him in Plattsburgh and carried him
from the train, a very sick man, about to die of tuberculosis. The
story goes on to tell how "Fitsz", as he called him, would take him
on the fox runs to go for hunting, After a while Dr, Trudeau was
able to go fox hunting, and on one occasion said that this would be
8 fine spot for a sanitarium, Fitz-Green and two or three other
guides got together and presented to Dr. Trudeau the deed to fifty
acres of land on which the saniterium now stands.

This Fitz~Green Hallock retired after many years with the Webbs
of that region (the Webb private pullman car may be seen at the Adi-
rondack Museum at Blue Mt,) and came to Keeseville to live and die,
He married his childhood sweetheart, Agnes Sanborn Morgan, and bought
the Alfred Baber home on Pleasant Street where Iawrence Holdridge now
lives. He died about 50 years ago and was buried at Jaranac lake.
Some of those who knew the story of Fitz-Green Hallock are Harlow
Nichols, James McAlcon and Julius Tellier. The book by Dr., Trudeau
was loaned by Miss Emily McMasters.

Fita-Green Hallock is mentioriéd.in the story by J. Warren Hark-
ness, "The Hollooks of Hallock Hill", dJohn, son of William (and grend-
son of Peter of 1640) joined the Quakers, very much to his father's’
displeasurs, and from him descended a numerous posterity, many of his
descendants being like him, followers of George Fox, He was the
ancestor of Fitz-Green, the post, and his namesake the Adirondack
guide, aleo of lon. George E. the father of George P. Hallock of Peru
and the Hallocks of Hallock Hill, (The home and story of the Hon.
George Hallock appears in the History of Clinton and Franklin Counties
published in 1880, and the home still stends and is in use.)

The childhood sweetheart whom Firz~Green married, Mrs. Morgan,
wag an accomplished musician and gave organ and piano lessons. She had
two daughters, Maud and Ruth. Miss Maud Morgan was a public school
music supervisor in Ticonderoga. Ruth became the wife of the late
Dr. Holcombe,

Every school boy knows the following lines from & poem written
by Fritz-Green Hallock, the poet for whom this Fritz-Green was named:
Jtrike - for your altars and your sires;
Strike - for the green graves of your sires;
- God; and yout native 14adl. Bozsaris
by Fitz-Green Hallock
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Notes on THE STORY OF FOUR MORE OLD TIME ROADS

Ag near as it can be ascertained, the Johnathan Bigelow mill was near
the Upper Bridge in Keesevills.

Mertin Adgate lived where the late Whitney Adgate did. The Geo. B,
Thompson farm is now owned by his son, William.

At one time, there was a bridge across the river at the.Fordway about
where.the new twin bridges are on the Northway. The Jeditha Bliss
house was of brick which was demolished when.the overpass to the
Dugway was built in 1964. It was on the Essex side of the river.

From studying the descriptions of the old roads, it is learned, that
for some time there was no road across the pine plains, it stopped at
what was called the Big Rock, Iater it was extended to the Sand Hill
and during the war of 1812 was extended from there into Keeseville as
it does now. The Road from Taylor Hill came into Keeseville on the
Taylor Hill Road. dJust over the Big Rock, after a time Oliver Keese
too up land. The road to the Main Road of old Peru ran past the Gor-
ton T, Thomas farm (Stanley Thompson). Joseph Lavarnway owned land
on that corner and nearby lived Phinias Olcott, The Lavarnway land
was owned by Stephen Ricketson afterward the William Teylor II farm,
now John Connell, When the Keeses took up the lend on that corner on
the "Road to Birminghaim" they owned the Thomas place as well, The
Connells have lived on their present farm a hundred years. Samuel
Vinette owned the ferm formerly owned by Stephen Ricketson, whose dau-
ghter, Marriette, married Charles Weston, The farm was known for many
years as the "Weston Place."

Uriah waterman had a blacksmith shop in the Union Village where Joseph
Sorrell does now. That house ie the oldest frame house in the area.
Waterman also hed a blacksmith shop on the farm of Wm. Morehouse, now
Joseph Allen. C

AuBable Chasm was once called Adgate's Mills, then Burmingham Falls,
The Stone Bridge in the Chasm was built in 1936, The Arch bridge in
Keeseville "was built in 1805,'was of Wood" The stone Arch Bridge, to
repleet the existihg wooden bridge,..was built. jointly in 1842 by the
Town of Chesterfield. and AuSehle. Mr. Townsend being the contractor.
" Native stone wes used." By Dr, John H, Evans, Sept. 1942.

The Keese place owned for many years by Julius Rock is now owned by
Claude Ouiletts.
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FIRST.BRIDGﬁS OVER THE "GREAT SAWBLE RIVER"

Doubtless the readers of the Republican are tired of following
0ld roads, some of which have been abandoned for more than & hundred
years, and will be glad to rest while they examine some of the wonders
of nature to be seen from them. ,

We will stop first at the High Bridge across the chasm for it was
not only the first one built but it had the most remerkable location.

" Below Table Rock there is a straight and narrow pessage through
which the river flows where the side walle rise vertically about one
hundred feet and at the top cannot be much more then thirty feet. apart.
It was there that in the year 1793 Capt. Platt Rogers, assisted by farm-
ers of 0ld Peru, built what was then quaintly called the "Great Bridge
a Croast the Great River Sawble'. v

At lemst three different men, none of whom were born until after.
that bridge was built, have told us how it was constructed and no two
of them mgree in all particulars, but the account of it given by the
late Theodorus Sheldon, of Willsboro, seems to be the most reasonable
and will be quoted as he wrote it.

Lleferring to that narrow part of the chasm he says that'lt wag
"erossed on & log or large tree which it is supposed the Indians had
Dburned down and caused to fall across the chasm.. Capt: Rogers ha@
some help from the good old Quakers of Peru when he built that Bridge.

He said it wes the highest and cheapest and best bridge he ever built,

4 few large pines were felled on the BEssex County side, they were
trimmed out full length., The large ends were squared the proper
length to span the chasm, vhey were got as near to the walled bank
ag possible, the squared end pointing across., Chains were passed
over and ox teams on the Clinton County side drew the tree until the
squaréd end pointing across, Chains were passed over and ox teams
on the Clinton County side drew the tree until the squared part of it

rested on the opposite wall, the top was then-removed and the others
put in place, ‘

. A smaller class of trees, a quarfef split through the center,
dressed down to five inches in thickness, and used as plenk fagtened
on with wooden pins. " This mede a substantial and safe bridge."

1t will be noticed thet Mr. Sheldon said nothing about Capt. Sam-
uel Jackson crossing the chasm on that single log with an ox yoke on
his shoulders. That is one of the traditions which mey be true but no
one explains why & pair of oxen was in the woods at least two miles
fror & house, without & yoke, or why the yoke was there on one side of
the chasm while the oxen were on the other side. If Capt. Jackson was
credited with carrying the heavy log chain or the rope by which that

heavy chain was drawn across the chasm, the reason for it would be:
obvious. '
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One who clalmed to remember the building of that bridge sald that 1t was in
1806 qr 1807, that plank to cover 1t were drawn from Jay or Keene, and that he had
drawn lumber with Capt, Wright's team over the High Bridge from Robt, Hoyle's
mill in Keeseville to Flattsturg, Thers was at least one saw mill in Platisburg,
20 years before 1806, Hoyle's lumber was all needed in Chesterfield and Peru and
little if any of it was drawn acrose that bridge. There were no sewmills or
gettlers in Jay or Keene when it was built, But the most improbable of that man's
stories was his stetement that he himself traced the calk marks of a horse clear
aoross the chasm en the single stringer that was left after the others had fallen
in, the horse and rider having crossed in the night supposing that the whole hridge
vas 8till there, :

Anyone who wants to belleve that story may, but the writer of this srticle will
ask o be exoused, '

That bridge was the only one that conneoted those fwo parts of Peru, while Peru
included what is now a part of Chesterfield, but there were three or four places
between the Beardsley faxms and the lake where the river was so shallow that it
oould be forded,

About the year 1800 or perheps a few months earlier a seoond bridge was built
about a mile from the firet, It was at the place then called Adgate's Falls but
. afterward Bireingham end now Ausable Chasm, It was of wood and was succeeded by
several other wooden bridges for the mist from the falls kept the timber damp and
oaused it to rapidly decay, But at last an iron bridge took the place of the woodean
ones, and if it is kept well painted it should remain while the river continuwes
to flow, Fno words of mine are adequate to describe the views from that Bridge,

In 1601y or thereabouts, a third dridge was built about three miles
further up the river, It has been called the Fordway Bridge and no doubt the river
wag sometimes forded at that place tut 1t was about a mile below the fordway on -
Rogers old road, In 1802, 1803 and 1804 it was called "the bridge at the foot of °.
the hill west of Bean's, in 1805, 1806 and 1807 it was called "the bridge west of
Covel's" and in 1810 "The Bridge that was built by David Fuller by Jonathan Bigelowd,

Those different designations may be explained by seying that o man named Jemes Bean
lived on what is now kmowa as the Jed Bliss farm where the briok house was afterward
tuilt on the Chesterfisld road to Clintonville, He moved away and Joseph B, Covel
lived there three years or more before he moved farther sowth and lived west of Augur
Lake, Then in 1810 the Commissioners of Highways told who bullt the bridge and near -
whose house,

1. The brick house was demolished to meke way for the overpass over the Northway to
the Dugway Road, , o ‘

2, Joserh Covel also lived at Sand Bill, There was at one time guite a settlenent
there, The road 4d not go all the way into Keeseville then, but went over toward
the Rogers Road "ihence to the Fordway". (See story by J, W. Hy, "Four more old
roads", )
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FIRST BRIDGES continued

on the Peru side of the river it was built. Just how long that bridge
remained in use we are unable to say but it was probably gone before
the great freshet of 1856 which destroyed so many bridges.

Now it seems time to consider bridge number four which was doubt-
lesa the first in what is now Keeseville and was according to French's
Gazeteer of New York, built in 1802 by Robert Hoyle. As the bridge
hag already been mentioned in the article on the begining and growth
of EKseseville, it need only be said that it was the Main Street bridge,
tte other two Keeseville .bridges being of more recent though of some=-
what uncertain dates. '

Winslow C. Watson, Jr., said on page 55 of 01d Keeseville Tales
that on Sept. 13th, 1842 "a new suspension bridge, nearly done and
standing where the present one does, was the principle means of commun-
ication between the two sides of the river",the stone arch bridge
being at that time unfinished. That would indicate that the upper .
bridge was not in use at that time but it must have been built long
before that date. The foot bridge was broken down because too many
militia men were on it at one time but they could have crossed tk
river if the foot bridge had not been there.

J.W. HARENESS

(Edit. Note-My grandfather George Throop of Willsboro bought
and moved into the house on the Chesterfield side of the river, now
occupied.by Joseph Rondeau, in March 1841, and there was then a bridge
where the "upper bridge" or "iron bridge" is now located. S.E. Keeler)

Story-given by Georgia Harkness and copied from her father's
gerapbook. :
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" One more rcad that crosses the ftown of Chesterfield remains to be
described before we, in immagination, leave Essex County and pass over
into Clinton. It is not as old as those already mentioned in this ser-
les of articles; having been established by act of the legislature in
April 1805, sixteen years after the old Rogers road was made, and six
years after the cross roads were laid out and recorded by authority of t
the Peru Commissioners, It was known as the Great Northern Turnpike

and the part of it that crossed Essex County was surveyed and measured
by Samuel Young who may, or may not have surveyed the whole route,

It began at the little village of Kingsbury in Washington County,
about two miles west of the present D & B R.R, station of Smith's Basin
between Fort Ann and Fort Edward, It ran northwesterly till it passed
the south end of Schroon Lake and then turned north crossing the south
line of Essex County about forty miles from Kingsbury, where it began.

From that point it continued northward across Essex County a dis-
tance 0f sixty miles passing through Pleasant Valley, now better .known
as Elizabethtown, through Pok-0'-Moonshine Pass, and past Buttermut and
Augur lakes to what i& known as the Alfred Nace Cormers, From there it
ran northeasterly past "Esqr, Mcimburs,® now the John Mussen farm, a-
cross the eastern slope of Prospect Hill, along Davis Street, west of
the site of the present Hotel AuSable Chasm and continuing in about the
game course to the High Bridge across the Great: AuSchble. From there it
continued northward near the eastern border of Clinton to Canada; but
its exact location north of the AuSable need not be further described.

The oldest road west of Kieeseville was the one surveyed by Platt
Rogers in 1787 from the Great Chazy River a little south of Canada line
to the fordway above Keeseville, where it met the old Rogers road that
came from the south, This Clinton County road passed half a mile west
of the present location of the bridgs in Peru Village, south through the
Quaker Village of the Union or rather where that village wae afterwards
built, went directly south of Hallock Hill nine or ten years before any
Hallocks had come there, crossed the pasture lcts now owned by Bezio and
Collins and so on direct to the Fordway. In the field notes of Platt
Rogers' survey of that road had mentioned three settlers who already
lived near the place now known as Beadleston's Corners: Captain Edward
Bverett, who lived on what Percy Keese now calls his Irish lot: and Rob-
ert Whitcomb who owned what has eince been the David Hallock farm, now
owned by John McCormick. All three lived in log houses there then being
no savw mill nearer than Puatisburgh. '

The next to be laid out in what was then the Tom of Plattsburgh
but afterward Peru, end now AuSable, was the one now called Arthur
Street, beginning at the Rogers Road on Captmin Everett's west line and
running thence east toward the present Dwyer Corners. From the east .
line of what is now called Lynch Farm, the road bore northeastward at
first but was soon changed to its present location. In 1793 a road was
built out from the lake shors through the Elmore neighborhood where Ho-
bart Fuller ond the Baggs brothers now live past the Dry Mill so called
because the brook on which it was built did not furnish enough water to
keep it running and thence through the woods to the High Bridge. From
that time onward o the opening of the Great Northern Turmpike in 1806
this road to and across the High Bridge wes the main or post road be-
tween Plattsburgh and Albany. '
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In 1793 a road was built out from the lake shore through the Elmore
neighborhood where Hebart Fuller and the Baggs brothers now live past
the Dry Mill so called because the brook on which it was built did not
furnish enough water to keep it running snd thence through the woods to
the High Bridge, From that time onward to the opening of the Great .
Northern Turnpike in 1806 this road to and across the High Bridge was . -
the main or post road between Plattsburgh and Albany, o

Barly in the seventeen nineties four brothers named Beardsley, ~ .
John, Jehiel, Emanuel and Beverly settled upon Platt River location east
of the present village Clintonville. No doubt a road o that neighbori
hood had been cut out before they came but it was not till March 1796 i:
that it was adopted as e highway and recorded as follows:

Begining. et .the Willsboro road on the top of,the'highagand_hill a= .
bout half a mile north of the great Bridge over the great river Sawble
then running southwesterly acrost pine plain then beach and maple land
on a second pine plain continuing nearly the same course until it :
strikes the great River Sawble about half a mile east of the fordway on
Rogers old Road, then on said Rogers Road wesferly as it is now improved
to Lot No. 20 thence up the bank above the intervale by John Danfies
house then on the bank above the intervale until.it strikes fhe Dugway
to the road that is now improved from Emanuel Beardsley thence a south
westerly course down the Dugwey to the north side of James Weston's
house thence nearly the same course to Emanuel Beardsleys house, said
road to be four rods wide. 4

Just how near that road came to the present village is now impos-~
sible to say. It may have passed east of the present Evergreen Cemetary
in which case it crossed the village limits but as no part of it morth :
eagt of the point where it struck the river is now used a8 a road its
location is not important. .

Another road of which only the first one fourth of a mile is still
in use was recorded April 4, 1797 and described as "Beginning at the
center of Lot No. 12 thence running on the line between Joshua B, Arth-
ur and Thomas Arthor, thence rumning a southwesterly course of near it
strikes the line between Lot No. 2 and 3 a 1ittle north of the north
east corner of said lot thence southerly to the Fordway."

‘That road began at what we now call the Dwyer Corners and ren south
a8 it does now between Arthur Martin's and D. J. Dwyer's and the la
- Pountain sisters present farms to'the point where the rock has recently
been blasted to straighten the Macadam road. (1908) There it furned
to the southwest $ill it came to the west line of what is now the Wil- .
liam O'Neil's farm and then ran south passing near where Miss Hanretta .
Smith now lives and across the lands of Geo. W. Smith to the present
residence of Charles Beardsley, and from there southwest to. the old 7
fordway. -

211 of the roads thus mentioned were made before there was a Keese~
ville but if more are described they will be nearer, if not exactly in
the village.

: J. W Harkness
Written about 1908 '
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THE OLDEST ROADS NEAR KEESEVILLE

The two Rogers roads degcribed in & former article were wn-
questionably the earliest highways around Keeseville but it was
not proper to call them the oldest roads for large sections 0T both
of these sections were in fact nearest to Keeseville, were aban-
doned so long ago, even before there was such a village as Keeseville,
that it may be truly said of them that they died young, before they
had been made more than fifteen or twenty years.

The roads nov to be metioned were not only early but are truly
old, large sections of them if not the whole length of them having
been in constant use more than a century,

These through roads were recorded in the Peru Town book in
March 1790, after that part of Peru had been taken off and annex-
ed to Willsboro,. but before.the news of that chenge: of boundarics
had come rrom Albeny. It must bs remembered thet news traveiled
slowly before the days of telephones, telegraph, railroads, steam-
boats and newspapers. ,

The following descriptions are copied verbatim from the old
'town book: .

1. ""One Cross Road from John Macombers on the post road the
north side of his house then to Elihu Bridges and continue West to
Mr. Rogers old road being about three quarters of & mile."

2, "One other road laid out in the following manner beginning
on The post road at & new school house on Asher Adgate's land run-
ning west or therabouts crossing a brook in Zadock Barte and on
neer a west course to Rogers old road being from the beginning in
the whole distance 2 miles end 1-Z then north on Rogers old road
to the fordway."

| 5. "One other road beginning at the post road near Asher Adgate's
running from thence nearly east to Barzilah Handy's then southerly
$o the lake shore or landing place then to turn under the hill or
bank of the lake then across a brook south on or near the lake shore
then turn west about 29 rods then runs south on the old road one
mile and 1-4 about 30 rods west of Joshua Wells house to spring
brook,"

Returning to description No. 1, we must agree that John Mecomber's
log house on the post roed in 1799 stood about where the school house
in the John Mussen district now is, Elihu Briggs lived on what is now
the Robare farm and the 3-4 miles was just about to the corners north
of the Pitkin place now owned by Davern. That "cross road" is
doubtless the oldest unchanged road in Chesterfield. ‘

The new school house mentioned in description No. 2 was south or |
gouth west of the Moses Bombard house and near the corner where the
road comes down from the fox farm or Drake place, Zadock Bates must
have lived on or mer the present Thew farm and this road No, 2 ran
vesterly past Luther Rowe's present home and along the south line of
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The 0ldest Roads Near Keeseville

the McGuire Farm now occupied by Mr, Wright. It crossed the mac-
adam road and continued west to the foot of Hordway Mountain when
it ceme to the Rogers old road. In the prosperous days of old Peru
Iron Company this road was planked and thousands of tons of iron
were drawn. over it to Port Douglass.

The road described as No. 3 began at the corners near the Moses
Bombard house and ran thence down the valley o the landing place
now known as Port Douglass. There it turned south and ran along-
or near the lake shore to about the north end of Kessel's camp,

The 20 rods thet it went west tpok in the present location of
Dougless Station where it came to an old rosd that it followed 1-4
miles to a brook, passing about 30 rods west of Joshua Well's house,

Here letme pause to agk, how came that "old road" in that part of
the town that had been settled only a very few years? The main
or post road was laid out in 1796 when the High Bridge was built, it
vas only six years old in 1799, Vere these other roads in that part of
Villsborough bofore Peru was taken from it? I do not think that the
Towm records of Willsboro show that they were,

But history tells us that only a part of John Burgoyn's army of
12,000 including British, Hessians, Canadians and cap followers went
gouth by weter, the rest following the western shore of Lake Chamglain,
There was a largc number of horses to draw the baggage, provisions
end artillery and roads had to be open for their passage. 'One author-
ity states that traces of those roads in Champlain and Chazy remained
for fifty years. From 1777 to 1790 was only 22 years and it seems
reasoneble to suggest that the old road south of Port Douglass was
made be the land forces of Burgoyne's army,

J. W, Harkness

"The History of a FPew More 0ld Vicinity Roads"

"The Oldest Roads Near Keeseville® _

"Article on Dr, Ralph P. Allen" written by A, H, Allen
"Barliest Highways Avound Keeseville"

_ Copied from a scrapbook, the clipping in which were collected by
the Misses Moy, Grace and Florence Ricketson, The scrapbook is now
owned by their nephew, Rolland §, Maders,
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BARIIEST HIGHWAYS AROUND KEESEVILLE

In this article only those roads that are now in Chesterfield,
but were in the town of Peru during the six years and two months before
March 1, 1799, will be mentionsd and their location et least partly
descrlbed. «

Before 1793 those roads were in Willsboro, end aiter Essex county
was taken from (linton in 1799, they were agein in Willsboro till
Chesterfield was taken from that town, Feb., 20, 1802,

The oldest of those roads of which there is any record wes known
as the 0ld Rogers road because it was surveyed and its course marked '
by Platt Rogers, about the year 1789. It came through Pok-o-moonshine
pass and crossed what was soon after the south line of Peru, at or ;
near, the southwest corner of the land now owned by Paul Klimpke. From
there it continued northwerd past what is now F, B, Corey's summer home
and keeping east of Augur Pond (it was not then called & lake) but west
of the location ¢f the present macadem road, and north of the pond, or
leke, bearing still more to the west till 1t reached the Fordway at the
foot of Fordway Mountain ebout two miles above the present location of
Keeseville,

It is not known that there was any house on that road while it was
8till in Peru, but about the year 1302, a man named Jekax or Jecox,
whose nemed was afterwards spelled Jaquish, settled upon it near the
south line of what is now Mr, Davern's pasture, His daughter Hannah,
married John Thew of Hellock Hill and became the mother of @Gilbert,
Nelson and Joseph Thew all of whom long since 301ned "the great
majority."

A sister of that Mrs, Hannah Thew married Geo, Fowler of Chester-
field and afterward lived and died in what has since been known as the
interschools around and the Keeseville Academy about sixty years ago.
There were two or mpre sons also,

The next rcad to be located in that part'of 0ld Peru was the one
that crossed AuSable Chasm on the high bridge and ran southward to
Willsborough Fells in the present village of Willsborough.,

It was called "Rogers new road" having been surveyed and cut out
by the same Rogers. We only know that the High bridge was built in
1793 and suppose that the road was made sbout that time, but it was
not till March 26, 1796, recorded in the Town Book by order of the.
Commissioners of Highways of Peru, At that time, there were twentyfour
men who were assessed for road work on that highway, but fifteen of
them hed only & poll tax to work out, S0 there were probably only nine
femilies settled upon or near it. There is also good reason to beleive
that some of those nine lived at congiderable distance from that road
~ but were assessed for work upon it, there being no other roads for them
to work upon,

The description of that "Flatt Rogers new road" as given in the
0ld Town Book reads as follows: Croast the River at the bridge and
southwesterly and southerly as it now is cut and improved up the enst
gide of the river by the great falls and by Isaac Wright's and Asher
Adgate's and Asa Leonard, through the south part of & patent of four-
teen hundred acres of land granted Wm. Thorn and from thence about,
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one hundred and twenty rods to the south line of Peru.,"

Without describing the location of that road across all of the
present farms I will say that Capt. Ismac Wright's Tavern was at
the Sloan place now owned and occupied by John LeRose, Asher Adgate's
wag the Riley Page farm, now owned by Moses Bombard or his son, and
it is beleived that Aaron Leonard lived on one of the farms that two
years later were owned by John and Benjamin Macomber, They are now
owned by Peter Iacy and Edwin Merrill. Their houses are connected by
& lane that was part of that Rogers road, and if that road was never
discontinued by official action of the Commissioners and a jury, that
lane is still a public highway and has been for nearly one hundred
and twenty-eight yeers, But it has been closed to the public a large
part of that time, and is likely to so remain in all future years.

Several other roads that are now in Chesterfield were laid out by
the Commissioners of the Town of Peru but a description of their
location would make this sketch too long.

J, ¥Warren Harkness‘



